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THE PRC CITY GAS DISTRIBUTION FLAGSHIP OF CHINA RESOURCES GROUP

China Resources Gas Group Limited (‘CR Gas”), substantially owned by China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited, one of the largest state-owned conglomerates in China, is a leading gas utilities group in China, which is
principally engaged in downstream city gas distribution business including piped natural gas distribution, natural gas
filling stations operation and sales of gas appliances. Its operations are strategically located in areas of China, which
are economically more developed and densely populated and areas with rich reserves of natural gas.

Leveraging on the excellent industry fundamentals and the Group’s execution competency, CR Gas continues to expand
rapidly in 2020 via organic and acquisition growths. At the end of 2020, CR Gas'’s portfolio consisted of 257 city gas
projects in 22 provinces of China including 14 provincial capitals and 3 direct administrative municipalities with an annual
gross gas sales volume of some 29.0 billion cubic meters and 41.84 million customers.

The optimization of energy structure and environmental pollution control will promote the sustainable growth of natural gas
consumption in China. The PRC government has, in recent years, taken various measures to promote the development and
utilization of less polluting energy sources. The natural gas industry is in sync with the core development idea of innovation,
harmony, green, open and sharing as compared with conventional energy resources such as coal and crude oil. In “The
14th Five-Year Plan” and the draft of “Long-Range Objectives through the Year 2035”, the state once again emphasized
that the promotion of green and low-carbon development, the enhancement of the construction of ecological civilization
and the promotion and application of natural gas played an important role in protecting the ecological environment and
promoting the transition to green development.

The natural gas market in China is still in the important development period, as China remains the most important region
in the global rise of natural gas development. CR Gas is well placed to take advantage of such a favorable operating
environment and to become the most respectable leader in the PRC’s gas industry by continuously expanding through
organic and external growths; diligently enhancing its operational efficiency in pursue of excellence; delivering a safe
and reliable supply of clean energy as well as the caring, competent and efficient service to our customers; offering
growing and sustainable performance to shareholders; creating extensive professional and personal development
opportunities to employees; and contributing to the protection and improvement of the Chinese and global environment.
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ANNUAL RESULTS

In 2020, the spread of COVID-19 pandemic worldwide had a significant
impact over the world’s economic development. Benefiting from the
effective prevention and control measures implemented by the Chinese
government, China’s economy picked up its pace of development in
the second quarter, accelerating the process of resumption of work and
production in various industries. With stimulus policies of the central
and local governments as well as enterprises to activate the markets
through multiple ways and stimulate consumption, the annual GDP
recorded a growth of 2.3%, making China the only country among the
world’s major economies to achieve positive growth. The year 2020
marked the conclusion of China’s “13th Five-Year Plan” and it was
also the final year for the government to win the “Three Critical Battles
against Major Risks, Poverty and Pollution”. The Chinese government
remained unswervingly in its attitude in dealing with environmental
governance, and governments at all levels have introduced a number
of policies to promote the increase of proportion of clean energy in
the energy consumption structure. The development trend of China’s
energy consumption has brought long-term growth momentum to the
Group’s clean energy sales business and integrated service business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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The Group will expand steadily via sustainable organic growth and quality
external acquisitions while at the same time proactively exploring new
opportunities arising from its gas value chain and customer base.
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During the year, the Group stringently implemented the pandemic
prevention and control policies of governments at all levels, actively
participated in the fight against the pandemic, put forward the anti-
pandemic work policy of “guarantee customer service, ensure
operation, ensure development and prioritize pandemic prevention
work”, and participated in the construction of major anti-pandemic
projects such as Wuhan Leishenshan Hospital and mobile cabin
hospitals. During the pandemic, the Group did not experience any
suspension of gas supply or a safety accident. It has been recognized
by governments at all levels as well as media and has established a
good social image. Upholding the belief of “pursuing for excellence”,
the Group took the initiative to tackle with the negative impact brought
about by the pandemic. The annual natural gas sales volume reached
29.024 billion cubic meters, representing a year-on-year increase of
3.62%. The Group is committed to improving operating efficiency,
optimizing the structure of gas sources, and promoting the mergers and
acquisitions of large-scale city gas projects. The profit attributable to
the owners of the Group was HK$5.151 billion, representing a year-on-
year increase of 2.14%. The proposed final dividend was 78 HK cents
per share, bringing a total dividend of 93 HK cents per share for the
year, representing an increase of 6.90% from 87 HK cents in 2019, with
a dividend payout ratio of 40.26%.

EEMRERBERAT —E-TFFR
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SALE OF NATURAL GAS

In 2020, the government continued to intensify its efforts in
environmental governance in a bid to promote natural gas as a
clean energy source to replace coal in key areas for civil, heating,
and industrial usage. With the reform of China’s natural gas market
being further facilitated, the Group seized opportunities arising from
the reform of China’s natural gas market, and accurately grasped
international and domestic LNG price trends. In November, the
Group won the window period for receiving terminals for the first
time, and carried out the first independent procurement of 64,000
tons international LNG, which effectively alleviated the operating
pressure brought along by the rising LNG market price during the
heating season. By rationally allocating domestic and overseas LNG
resources, the Group optimized the gas source procurement structure.

During the year, the Group sold 29.024 billion cubic meters of natural
gas, of which industrial gas sales recorded 14.866 billion cubic
meters, an increase of 6.41%, accounting for 51.22% of the Group’s
gas sales; commercial gas sales recorded 5.800 billion cubic meters,
a decrease of 5.38%, accounting for 19.98% of the Group’s gas sales,
and residential gas sales increased by 10.66% to 6.988 billion cubic
meters, accounting for 24.08% of the Group’s gas sales.

DEVELOPMENT OF NEW USERS

China is at a critical stage of building a well-off society in an all-
round way. By 2020, the urbanization rate of the national permanent
population will exceed 60%. The government aims to increase the
urbanization rate to 65% during the “14th Five-Year Plan” period.
While urbanization is accelerating, the government is also paying more
attention to the construction of major strategic regions, central cities
and urban agglomerations. Central cities will experience continuous
geographic expansion and more inflows of population. Benefiting
from the relatively high proportion of the Group’s large-scale city gas
projects, most of which are located in the Beijing-Tianjin-Hebei region,
the Yangtze River Delta region, the Chengdu-Chongging Two Cities
Economic Zone, the Guangdong-Hong Kong-Macao Greater Bay Area
and other national major strategic regions, the Group believes that in
the future it will have a large room for market development in terms of
new users.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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The Group continued to focus on the development of new users
for city gas projects, also vigorously assisted local governments in
pollution prevention and control, continued to develop industrial and
commercial “coal-to-gas conversion” users, prudently developed rural
“coal-to-gas conversion” users surrounding the project, and optimized
the energy structure through the replacement of bulk coal. The
Group had 41,900 new industrial and commercial users and 3.0526
million new residential users connected during the year, including the
connection to 2,347,900 new houses users, 540,700 old houses users
and 164,000 rural “coal-to-gas conversion” users.

Thanks to the constant acquisition and merger by the Group and
expansion of more operation areas by the project companies of the
Group, during the year, the growth rate in the number of connectable
users outpaced the number of newly connected users. As of the
end of 2020, the average gas penetration rate of city gas projects
operated by the Group in China decreased from 53.00% at the end of
2019 to 52.40%.

EXPANSION OF NEW PROJECTS

The Group continued to focus on its core business of city gas
operation leveraging on its strong market development capabilities,
reputable corporate brand image and outstanding operation
capabilities. In 2020, a total of 28 project registrations were
completed. Meanwhile, the Group and its subsidiaries had 32 new
contracted projects. The new contracted projects are expected to
bring in 883 million cubic meters of gas sales per year. The number
of new users was 663,100, and the newly expanded business area
was 18,200 square kilometers. The newly registered and contracted
projects cover business areas such as city gas, integrated energy,
charging posts and hydrogen refueling stations.

During the year, the Group successfully registered the Ningbo project.
Ningbo is a sub-provincial city in Zhejiang Province, which is planned
as a separate provincial city, an economic center, and a chemical
industry base in the southern wing of the Yangtze River Delta. In 2019,
Ningbo achieved a regional GDP of RMB1,198.51 billion, ranking 12th
in China. In 2020, the Ningbo Project has 770,000 pipeline natural gas
users and 510,000 bottled natural gas users, with gas sales volume of
890 million cubic meters per annum, a turnover of RMB2.25 billion and
a net profit of RMB170 million.

As of 31st December 2020, the number of registered city gas projects
at the Group level reached 257, spanning across 22 provinces, 3
direct administrative municipalities and 75 prefecture-level cities. The
ever expanding operational regions and prime geographic locations
where the projects are located have laid a solid foundation for the
sustained and rapid growth of the Group’s core business.

ERRREREBRAT —F-ZFFR
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DEVELOPMENT OF NEW BUSINESS

In 2020, the Group seized the opportunities brought by national
development and industry reforms. Riding on the government
supported policies and the advantage of its own huge market and
existing customer base, the Group continued to develop new clean
energy supply business to meet the diversified energy demand of
customers.

During the year, the Group steadily promoted the development
of distributed energy business, newly signed 14 projects, with an
estimated total investment of approximately HK$295 million, the
cumulative number of projects reaching 46.

With the rapid development of the new energy automobile industry,
the Group continued to attach great importance to the field of
charging stations. During the year, 38 charging stations were newly
put into operation, resulting in the total number of charging stations
into operation amounting to 107. The net generation throughout the
year increased by 30.80% to 168 million kWh as compared with the
last year.

The Group reinforced the development and exploration of the
hydrogen energy terminal sales market. During the year, 2 new
hydrogen refueling stations were put into operation, bringing the
total number of hydrogen refueling stations that had been approved
for construction and operation to 9, spreading across Weifang,
Xiangyang, Wuxi, Baicheng, Wuhan and Taizhou.

In recent years, the demand for central heating in southern cities has
become increasingly strong. The traditional heating in the south and
north with Qinling and Huaihe River as the boundary can no longer
meet the actual heating demand. By the end of 2020, the Group has
accumulatively put into operation 18 residential heating pilot projects
on a small scale, equivalent to 22.00 million cubic meters per annum.

COMPREHENSIVE SERVICE BUSINESS

Relying on the scale advantages of city gas business, the Group
accelerates the development of comprehensive service business,
penetrates into the user gas-related life scenarios, strengthens
customer loyalty, and gains customer trust. There are currently
41.5029 million residential users, 25,000 industrial users, and
315,300 commercial users, which constitutes the foundation for the
development of comprehensive service business, and the overall
market prospect is promising. Therefore, the Group will fully exploit
user needs, focus on improving product quality, and diligently
build quality services to further enhance the competitiveness of its
comprehensive service business.

ERRREREBRAT —F-ZFFR
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In 2020, through perfecting comprehensive service business
management model, the Group met the increasing needs of users
for personalization and customization. At the same time, the Group
innovated its comprehensive service business sales channels and
implemented “online + offline” dual-channel sales. During the year,
the total revenue of comprehensive services reached HK$2.463
billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 22.44%. Various
comprehensive service businesses, such as gas appliances, gas
insurance, and personalized installation achieved robust growth. The
penetration rate of the Group’s comprehensive service business is
currently still at a low level. The Group believed that through vigorous
promotion, the comprehensive service business will step into a stage
of rapid development in the future and become an important part of
the Group’s business.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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SUSTAINABLE DEVELOPMENT

In the course of its rapid development, the Group proactively
facilitated the development of the corporate governance of the
Board. It built and constantly enhanced the role of the Board and
the management, whereby each had defined terms of reference and
responsibilities, executed effective check and balance and conducted
rational decision-making, thus forming a corporate governance
structure with high efficiency. The Group has always attached great
importance to honesty & integrity management, and complied with
laws and regulations, international practice and business ethics. It has
also insisted that the relationship among staff, suppliers, customers,
relevant authorities, partners, competitors and other interested parties
shall be dealt with on an arm’s length basis and in good faith, so
as to gain the market share and win respect with integrity and to
improve the Company’s inherent qualities and value with compliance
management.

The Group also attaches great importance to environmental, social,
and governance (ESG) management, and has established an ESG
working group under the leadership of the Board with the participation
of all departments of the Group to promote the full implementation
of the ESG sustainable development management system. With the
efforts of all employees and effective management, in 2020, the
Group’s total greenhouse gas emission reduced by 20.2% year-
on year, and comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000
revenue (comparables) reduced by 1% in terms of tons of standard
coal, and the comprehensive energy consumption per RMB10,000
value added (comparables) reduced by 0.5% in terms of tons of
standard coal. During the year, the Group and 47 regional companies
of the Group successfully obtained OHSAS18001 or 1SO45001
international certifications, reflecting that the Group’s occupational
health and safety and environmental management systems meet the
international standards. We will continue to promote more member
companies of the Group to obtain the above-mentioned international
certifications. The Group attached great importance to the life, health
and safety of employees and users, and provided a total of 699,000
hours of safety training throughout the year. We also continued to
engage consulting firms to provide professional advice on the Group’s
ESG management system, policies, data disclosure, performance and
practice, and strive to further improve the Group’s ESG performance.
The Group believes that these measures in place will promote the
Group's sustainable development and contribute to the construction of
a better ecological environment.

ERRREREBRAT —F-ZFFR
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In 2020, the Group organized members of the Board and management
to conduct anti-corruption and environmental protection training by
carrying out an in-depth study to strengthen the culture of integrity
and awareness of environmental protection. During the year, the
Group was awarded the “Hong Kong Green Award” and the “2020
Environmental, Health and Safety Award”. During the year, MSCI rated
the Group an ESG rating of BB. The Group will obtain recognition and
affirmation from all walks of life through pragmatic and accountable
ESG quality management measures, integrating the national dual
goals of “peak carbon dioxide emissions target by 2030 and reach
carbon neutrality by 2060” into daily operational management to
achieve substantive business development.
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FERSE
Chairman’s Statement

KEY FINANCIAL INFORMATION

In 2020, the Group fully supported the governmental policy regarding
resuming work and production. However, the upstream natural gas
price dropped during the year and the Group passed the price
differences to end users in a timely manner, leading to the Group’s
turnover falling slightly by 1.95% to HK$55.864 billion. Benefiting
from the optimization of gas source procurement structure, the overall
gross profit margin increased by 2 percentage points to 26.90%,
and the overall gross profit increased by 5.73% to HK$15.027 billion.
Meanwhile, the Group launched a share placement during the year
and issued 90 million new shares, increasing the total number of
shares to 2.314 billion shares and diluting the basic earnings per
share. The basic earnings per share for the year was HK$2.31, down
by 0.43%.

The Group has been adopting prudent financial resources
management policies to keep borrowings and capital expenditure
at a sound level. In 2020, the Group’s operating cash flow achieved
HK$8.616 billion, representing a year-on-year increase of 0.17%. The
Group has sufficient funds and available banking facilities to meet
capital expenditures and operating requirements in the future.

HONESTY & INTEGRITY CULTURE

The Group always regards honesty & integrity as its foundation of
development, and has issued and implemented a series of measures
in recent years, including Regulation on Honesty & Integrity (#l{E&
MEIEHPOL)) and Rules for Staff Responsible for Honesty & Integrity
Culture ((FBIEAREE TEHIE)) and requires every staff to sign the
Honesty & Integrity Declaration ((F{E&REE)).

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Group is committed to enhancing its standard of corporate
governance by benchmarking with good corporate governance
practices and has adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook
based on the Corporate Governance Code (the “Code”) issued by
The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).
The Corporate Governance Report is set out on pages 46 to 64 of this
annual report.
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CAPITAL MARKET PERFORMANCE

From 2008 to 2020, the share price of the Group has increased by
11.1 times from HK$3.4 to HK$41.3 and its market capitalisation has
increased by 30.0 times from HK$3.08 billion to HK$95.45 billion.

From 2008 to 2020, the profit of the Group increased by 20.5 times
from HK$240 million to HK$5.15 billion, turnover increased by 17.7
times from HK$2.99 billion to HK$55.86 billion and total assets
increased by 24.3 times from HK$3.71 billion to HK$93.87 billion.

Based on Bloomberg’s report, as at 31st December, 2020, the Group
was covered by 73 analyst reports.

Given the Group's sustained and steady development and continuous
improvement in performance, Moody's, Standard & Poor's and Fitch
Ratings, being three international rating agencies issued reports in
2020, respectively, maintaining the credit rating of the Group to A3,
A- and A-. The upgrade in rating reflects the Group’s development
strategy of focusing on its core business and its excellent financial
performance have been widely recognised by the market, which will
further reduce the finance costs to be incurred by the Group in its
potential financing activities, and provide sufficient financial resources
for the long-term healthy development of CR Gas.

DEVELOPMENT PROSPECT

In 2020, the Chinese government reiterated to take domestic demand
as the starting point and foothold of its economic development,
gradually forming a new pattern of development, according to which
domestic circulation would play a leading role while domestic and
international dual circulations would complement one another. Based
on the stable fundamentals of the Chinese economy and the strong
resilience of the economic system, the formation of this new pattern of
development will become the main driving force for China’s economic
growth in the future. During the year, the Chinese government put
forward the carbon neutrality goal at the 75th session of the General
Assembly of the United Nations, and formulated a series of policies
to promote China’s carbon neutrality standard. Its unwavering focus
on environmental governance policies and pollution reduction and
carbon reduction goals had a strong impetus on the development
of the natural gas industry in the short to medium term. Meanwhile,
with the deepening of the market-oriented reforms of the oil and gas
industry, China’s natural gas industry will also usher in new strategic
opportunities.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Chairman’s Statement

In 2021, a number of challenges remained in international community
to contain the COVID-19 pandemic. China’s invincible position as the
world’s factory will continue to become the world’s major industrial
production area, driving the growth of energy consumption in the
region. Meanwhile, 2021 is the commencement year of the “14th
Five-Year Plan” and the promulgation of “Central Government's No.
1 Document” indicated that the Chinese government will continue to
promote green development, endorse the harmonious coexistence
of man and nature, and establish a sound environmental governance
system, whereby the prospect of market development of natural gas
remains clear and promising.

Looking forward to 2021, the Group will seize opportunities arising
from the development of industry as part of its efforts to align with the
green development policies of governments at all levels, achieving
a sustainable and robust growth in the core business of city gas
projects. Meanwhile, it will reach towards customer value surrounding
the industry chain by stepping up its efforts in new business
expansion including distributed energy, charging posts and hydrogen
refueling stations with a view to promoting integrated business, so
as to meet customers’ more diversified energy and service needs,
continuously improve shareholder returns, thereby promoting the long-
term sustainable development of the Group.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, | would like to take this opportunity to express
our most sincere appreciation to our business partners, customers
and shareholders for their unfailing support as well as all the Group’s
employees for their hard work and dedication in carrying out their
duties and in achieving the Group’s business goal.

WANG CHUANDONG
Chairman

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2021
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OPERATING RESULTS

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group earnestly
supported the government’s policy to resume operation and
production, and passed the downward adjusted price differences
in upstream natural gas over to the Group’s end users in a timely
manner. As a result, the Group’s turnover fell slightly by 2.0% to
HK$55.86 billion and recorded profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders of HK$5.15 billion, representing an increase of 2.1%
over the previous corresponding period. The operating profit of
the Company increased by 3.7% to HK$8.52 billion and the cash
generated from operations increased from HK$8.60 billion in 2019 to
HK$8.62 billion in 2020.

The revenue of the Group was derived from sales and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection, sales of gas
appliances, design and construction services and gas stations, which
respectively accounted for 74.9%, 17.9%, 0.7%, 1.2% and 5.3% of
the revenue for 2020 (2019: 72.7%, 18.8%, 0.7%, 1.2% and 6.6%,
respectively).

Gross gas sales volume increased by 3.6% from 28.01 billion m® to
29.02 billion m®,

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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The management team continuously improves
the operational efficiency of the Group to achieve
sustainable organic growth. .

AEBEBERENTMA/EENTHEH While continuing to focus on the development of new users for city
% NMANEREEEROAE A& gas projects, the Group also put in more efforts in terms of the
BREEFFERTRERETIEGEST T development of connections to old residential users, which was
fiﬁf&gﬁﬁﬁ CTNEFEREER S MRER hindered due to the impact of the pandemic resulting in the severe
ITRIH - T _TFHERETERFPL condition of the construction of the connection in the first half of the
HH - NFHN32768BFHL6.8%= year. The total number of newly connected residential users in 2020
305.38F decreased by 6.8% from 3.276 million in 2019 to 3.053 million.
RZBZEF  AEBEEETHHES In 2020, the Group continued to make new acquisitions and invested
BN A28 R TR IB R IR A X 1443.0 or paid HK$4.30 billion in 28 city gas projects. Most of these projects
BB - R AMBHIEE EE$%@£§Y are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group. In addition,
BEHES - N BEZT_TF+ = as at 31st December, 2020, the Company has announced or the Board
A=+—H ARQRAEEMRESTSEH has approved another 3 proposed city gas distribution and related
ESINEARZIEE MW TR D 3 X AE R projects with proposed investments of HK$0.63 billion. The above new
HE @ EERIRERAGIEST - Ll investments amounted to HK$4.93 billion.
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The investments will enable the Group to further extend its coverage
and footprint in the PRC. The Group has existing city gas operations in
these provinces and has 84 regional offices set up in various strategic
locations in the PRC. The projects of the investments will be efficiently
integrated and managed by the relevant regional office depending
on their geographical locations. As such, the Group considers that
the investments will create synergies with the Group’s existing gas
operation, thereby broadening the Group’s revenue base as well as
enhancing and sustaining its profitability.

The Group also conducts ongoing evaluation of past investments,

which are essential for making decisions on future investments.

PRECISE BENCHMARKING

“Benchmarking” is the process of comparing one's business
processes and performance metrics to the best practices of the
industry. The Group has implemented benchmarking initiatives from
best practitioners in all business sectors. “Benchmarking” has started
off internally with intra-group benchmarking and have extended to
benchmarking against external best practices of the industry.

Implementing “Benchmarking” measure is an indispensable choice for
CR Gas to accomplish the fundamental transformation of its growth
model from resources-driven growth to efficiency improvement, and
is also one crucial approach taken by CR Gas to achieve its strategic
goal to become the leading world-class gas enterprise in China.

This combination of internal and external benchmarking helps each
member company to identify the most important gaps between its
current state and where it wants to be. It creates a road map for
change and generates the rigorous cost and performance baseline
necessary to effectively track progress on that road map over time in
terms of cost reductions and performance improvements. All member
companies were required to sign “Benchmarking Responsibility
Contracts” with head office, and the 38 benchmarks previously
identified were further streamlined into 28 quantitative benchmarks,
highlighting the key objectives and becoming more focused and
precise. This ongoing campaign has led to many satisfying results in
2020.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

CONTINUOUS EFFICIENCY IMPROVEMENT
OF REGIONAL CENTRES AND DESIGN &
CONSTRUCTION CENTRES

The Group has 84 regional centres to decentralise the management
of the day to day operation of the Group’s city gas projects across
China. Each regional centre is responsible for the day to day operation
of a cluster of cities within their respective regions. This enhances the
operation efficiencies and provides better services that respond faster
to changing local demand and conditions.

Members of the Group’s management team concurrently serve as
regional general managers. The arrangement minimises the increase
in headcounts or resources, thereby achieving the goal of attaining
maximum results with minimum resources.

The centralisation of the Group’s design and construction activities will
further enhance standardisation of pipeline construction and central

procurements thereby resulting in further cost reductions.
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BUSINESS PROCESS STREAMLINING AND
OPERATION ENHANCEMENT

The Group continued its systematic review of the business and
management processes of its various city gas projects. This ongoing
process is expected to continuously enhance the overall operational
efficiency of city gas projects.

The Group’s supply chain management was further streamlined with
rigorous tender system covering construction projects, and the new
or revised guidelines covering various categories of projects and
quality control measures were issued and implemented. With the help
of centralised procurement IT system, the procurement of most of our
materials has been centralised, representing 92.0% of total material
procurement expenditure up to the end of 2020. While safeguarding
product quality, the Group reduced procurement costs through
centralised procurement.

Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises utility
professionals with significant expertise and experiences across
financial, law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to
provide and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment
for employees and commit to their training and professional
development.

In view of the significant increase in operation size of the Group in
recent years, we continued to promote the application of information
technology systems covering project management, top-up cards for
gas stations, office administration, centralised cash management,
financial reporting, human resources, centralised procurement and
customer service at various levels of the Group’s operation, so as to
improve our operational efficiency.

On the continuous enhancement of customer service, through
enhancing the success rate of household safety inspection, shortening
user complaint processing time, promoting internet payment,
quickening the response of user hotlines and other measures, the
Company has optimised user experience to continuously increase
user satisfaction.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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On the financial and tax management areas, the Group has
successfully promoted value-oriented management system to each
member company and thus effectively reduced costs and expenses.
In particular, we further enhanced the centralization of cash
management with the inclusion of more member companies in the
system with significant increase of cash pool size. By doing so, the
Group has greatly reduced the overall cost of borrowing. Furthermore,
various taxation rationalization and reduction measures were taken to
reduce tax exposure and speed up tax setoffs and refunds.

SAFETY MANAGEMENT ENHANCEMENT

The Group has formulated a number of safety management policies
and procedures, and has hired qualified engineers and technical
staff as well, to manage and prevent any potential accidents in the
Group’s natural gas related facilities which may cause damage to the
environment.

In addition to our internally commissioned control, hazard prevention
and emergency recovery procedures, the Group have fully complied
with the relevant local and national environmental protection

regulations and licensing requirement.
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To improve our safety standard, the Group carried out a range
of company-wide safety and environment conscious campaigns.
Meanwhile, the Group applied new technologies such as big data and
intelligence to explore intelligent monitoring and dispatch management
of gas, so as to strengthen key aspect and potential defect treatment.
The Group continued to carry out safety audit, completed auditing
work for 69 regional companies throughout the year, discovered total
3,740 hidden safety hazards, and vigorously promoted the rectification
of units at all levels.

To cope with the pandemic, the Group strictly implemented various
pandemic prevention and control requirements, and conscientiously
implemented the “three guarantees and one priority” (guarantee
customer service, ensure operation, ensure development and
prioritize pandemic prevention work) proposed by Wang Chuandong,
the Chairman of the Group. Leveraging on the joint efforts of all
employees, the Group did not experience any suspension of gas
supply or a safety accident liability or any negative public opinions.

The Group places emphasis on educating staff and users in respect
of safety procedures. Accordingly, the Group regularly organized
trainings and seminars for relevant staff, and the training for certified
safety engineers, with an aggregate of 200,000 persons/times of
training received which effectively regulated employees’ safety
behavior. For end users, explanations of safety procedures are given
and regular seminars as well as distribution of brochures and booklets
on safety are arranged.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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TRAINING AND REWARD FOR EMPLOYEES

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group have approximately 48,205
employees. The Group values human resources and recognises the
importance of attracting, training and retaining quality staff for its
continual success. In addition to the “Gas Faculty” in China Resources
University, which designs courses and provides training programs to
the Group’s workforce, the Group also operates 5 regional training
centres covering Eastern, Northern, Central, Southern and South-
Western China. These centres are located in our regional centres
of Wuxi, Jining, Zhengzhou, Fuzhou and Chengdu. Various types of
management and technical trainings are conducted through the Group
for different levels of staff to enhance their knowledge and skills.
Improvements were also carried out on the employee recruitment,
assessment, remuneration and staff retention policies to enhance
the human resources management process with the objective of
recruiting, promoting and retaining the best talents, from both internal
and external sources. CR Gas’s management team comprises
utility professionals with significant expertise across financial,
law, commercial and engineering disciplines. We strive to provide
and maintain a satisfying and rewarding working environment for
employees and commit to their training and professional development.
The Group remunerates its employees based on their performance,
work experience and the prevailing market wage level. Further,
bonuses are granted to employees and incentive awards are made
to employees based on merit and performance. The Group believes
this will assist to attract and retain quality staff and at the same time
encourage the employees to give their best performances.
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RISK MANAGEMENT

The Group is constantly alert to the threats or uncertainties with
negative consequences facing the industry and has been taking
various measures to safeguard the Group’s interest.

The system of annual and regular safety audit has been established
continuously on all operating member companies of the Group to
ensure compliance with national and local safety regulations.

The Company has set up 5 regional audit centers across the country
and continued to promote regional companies to improve audit
and risk control functions. A total of 129 audits were carried out
at the Group and member company levels, covering areas such
as operation, finance, and project procurement. The Group has
revised and issued various audit and risk control management
guidelines, organized major risk management and internal control self-
investigation, and no systemic risks occurred throughout the year.

In 2020, on the basis of completing the streamlining of legal risk
management in an all-around way, the Group wholeheartedly
promoted the gradual shift of its focus on legal risk management
and control relating to natural gas to the implementation of risk
management and control by integrating with legal risk challenges
brought by factors such as the prevention and control of the COVID
19 pandemic and the focus on the implementation of the “Volunteer
service institutionalization, projectization, specialization, branding
and volunteer service into communities, into rural areas, into the
public places, into the nature and into the Internet”, earning it the
title of A-level unit of the China Resources Group ‘s annual legal risk
management for three consecutive years.

dall, |
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Report from the Chief Executive Officer

ENVIRONMENT AND SOCIAL CONTRIBUTIONS

The Group is supporting the ongoing green environmental policies of
the PRC government by actively expanding our cleaner natural gas
business. Based on the annualised gross amount of about 29.0 billion
m?® of natural gas distributed by the Group, it is estimated that annually
the Group helps to replace approximately 350,928,984 tons of coal
usage and reduce approximately 87,487,522 tons of carbon dioxide
emissions and 3,947,993 tons of pollutants.

The Group also carried out charitable activities as token of measure
to contribute to society. The Group’s member companies conducted
activities such as poverty alleviation, donation for education, caring
for particular groups as well as volunteer services in a number
of regions, making donation (including money and materials) for
various public welfare undertakings during the year, thus building a
reputable corporate image of the Group. In 2020, CR Gas vigorously
implemented sustainable charity and public welfare undertakings,
taking positive actions to help build a harmonious society, in
particular, during the period of pandemic, encouraging and supporting
subsidiaries to carry out external charitable donations in combination
with their own business conditions in respect of the prevention of
pandemic. Throughout the year, CR Gas'’s total charitable donations
amounted to HK$7.748 million, with cumulative volunteer services
of 107,000. During the pandemic, in response to the government’s
initiative, it purchased 143 unsalable agricultural products from
impoverished counties for a total of HK$1.468 million.

APPRECIATION

I would like to express my deepest gratitude to our management
team and staff members for their unfailing hard work and dedication.
We would continue to work hand in hand to improve service to
our customers, increase efficiency to enhance the values of the
shareholders and employees.

SHI BAOFENG
Executive Director & Chief Executive Officer

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2021
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Financial & Operational Highlights

MEREE FINANCIAL HIGHLIGHTS
1
i St 223 —T-NF CRlA)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+=-A=1t—RHLEE 31st December, 2020 2019 (Decrease)
FHERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(% 5E51)
(restated)
S Turnover 55,864,169 56,976,290 (2.0%)
EH Gross profit 15,027,477 14,213,581 5.7%
KESHEF (NEEMIER AR Profit from operations
EREERBENTIEE) (before finance costs and
share of results of joint ventures
and associates) 8,524,369 8,216,395 3.7%
F A4 K Profit for the year 6,711,888 6,499,743 3.3%
RRBRAFEE ARG F Profit attributable to the Company’s
equity holders 5,151,292 5,043,477 2.1%
ARSI S F5HE Net cash from operating activities
(ZRBH2E) (after tax payments) 8,616,030 8,601,761 0.2%
FRERBFIOGET) Basic EPS™ (HK$) 2.31 2.32 (0.4%)
BRKRHR S - Gk OBI) Final dividend proposed per share
(HK cents) 78 72 8.3%
2FIRE - G BIW) Total dividend per share for the year
(HK cents) 93 87 6.9%
M3 (1) SREREFIRD BTG NETE Note: (1)  Basic earnings per share is calculated based on weighted average

BEEE - T EE B RIFA R

1/\ °

scheme.
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Financial & Operational Highlights

—EomE —E-AFE B 0RD)
For the year ended Increase/
BE+=-A=1t—BHLEE 31st December, 2020 2019 (Decrease)
FExT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(=75)
(restated)
WEE Total assets 93,870,809 81,824,020 14.7%
RITHEHR LIRS Bank balances and cash 13,442,206 13,502,481 (0.4%)
BT BEMHEMEEMAZEO  Total bank, notes and other
borrowings” 10,893,434 12,889,152 (15.5%)
BEFE Net borrowings (2,548,772) (613,329) -
RRTRAFFE AELE#ER Equity attributable to the
Company’s equity holders 36,274,287 26,795,437 35.4%
JEFERR = Non-controlling interests 10,594,072 9,026,778 17.4%
Wt mE Total equity 46,868,359 35,822,215 30.8%
23 —E-NF
BB ER Financial Indicators 2020 2019
VRS Gross profit margin 26.9% 24.9% 2.0ppt
FRE(FA) Net profit margin (for the year) 12.0% 11.4% 0.6ppt
FHE (BRERFEG) Net profit margin (attributable to
shareholders) 9.2% 8.9% 0.3ppt
BARAGBLERO Debt to capitalization ratio® 18.9% 26.5% (7.6ppt)
BEEBELEO Debt to assets ratio® 11.6% 15.8% (4.2ppt)
[ERNEEE Return on equity 14.2% 18.8% (4.6ppt)
B3 Notes:
(1) ERPREZRAFIAE2,510,837,000/8 7T (1) The amounts due to an intermediate holding company of

Ko YT R R X R FRIH OB TTat ABRTT

ERNEMEEEE -

(@) BREELEERG EEREMEES @)
FRRT ZERAMEEEHEREES
BRI

(3) BEEMLEEET EEREMERS 3)

HEEEQENLA -

HK$2,510,837,000 and amounts due from an intermediate holding

company of HK$0 are included in total bank, notes and other borrowing.

total assets.

ERRRERERAF

Debt to capitalization ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other
borrowings to total bank, notes and other borrowings and total equity.

Debt to asset ratio is the ratio of total bank, notes and other borrowings to

—E-TEEH
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Financial & Operational Highlights

EERR OPERATIONAL PERFORMANCE
—ECEEEEYE Operational data for 2020
RIB-ZF RZT-NF
+=A=t+-H +-A=+-H
As at As at
31st December, 31st December, &
EERE Operational Performance 2020 2019 Change
BEE¥A Number of projects 257 251 6
ERVEEFY(EEF) Connectable householders
(million) 7,961 7,138 11.50%
ERAFBEXR Penetration rate of residential
household 52.40% 53.00% (0.6ppt)
BHEFE(BELRFXK) Gross sales volume (million m3) 29,024 28,010 3.6%
BERARP Residential 6,988 6,315 10.7%
T¥RF Industrial 14,866 13,966 6.4%
BERP Commercial 5,800 6,133 (5.4%)
CNGIIE CNG station 839 1,123 (25.3%)
LNG 1@ LNG station 532 473 12.4%
FHHERE KL EF Average gas tariff/Cost/Gross margin
(ARBSIHX) (RMB per m?) 2.65/2.06/0.59 2.74/2.16/0.58  (0.09)/(0.10)/0.01
ERRE (RE) Total length of pipeline (km) 205,638 179,216 26,422
BRAF Connected customers 41,843,270 37,948,710 3,894,560
ERBF Residential 41,502,915 37,654,849 3,848,066
T¥/RFP Industrial 25,010 21,135 3,875
BERP Commercial 315,345 272,727 42,618
FHEREBRUA (ARY) Average residential connection fee
(RMB) 2,690 2,710 (20)
FREERERS (BN Gross new households with paid
connection fee
B Total 3,052,565 3,275,795 (223,230)
AfOE Consolidated 2,044,380 2,349,982 (305,602)
MEIE(CNG/LNG/L-CNG)  Gas station (CNG/LNG/L-CNG) 353 (224/81/48) 354 (225/82/47) (1) ()(1)A)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

FINANCIAL RESULTS

The Group’s annual turnover in 2020 amounted to HK$55.86 billion
(2019: HK$56.98 billion).

The city gas distribution business contributed an after tax but before
non-controlling interest profit of HK$6.71 billion (2019: HK$6.50 billion)
and profit attributable to shareholders of the Company of HK$5.15
billion (2019: HK$5.04 billion).

Turnover

In 2020, the Group recorded a gross gas volume of 29.02 billion cubic
meters, representing an increase of 3.6%. The turnover of CR Gas
registered a decrease of 2.0% from HK$56.98 billion to HK$55.86
billion for the year ended 31st December, 2020, mainly due to the
fact that the Group fully supported the government’s policy to resume
operation and production during the year. However, the upstream
natural gas price declined during the year and the Group timely
passed it on to the end users.

The Group recorded profit attributable to the Company’s equity
holders of HK$5.15 billion, representing an increase of 2.1% as
compared to HK$5.04 billion for the previous corresponding period.

Gross Margin

The Group’s overall gross profit margin was 26.9%, representing an
increase of 2 percentage points as compared with that of last year.
The increase was mainly due to the continuous optimization of the
purchase of gas sources during the year and the improvement of the
cost structure. The proportion of LNG purchases increased from 11%
in the same period last year to 13% for the year.

ERRREREBRAT —F-ZFFR
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Management Discussion and Analysis
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Other income, costs and expenses

The decrease of HK$150 million in other income was mainly due to
the fact that KEMEREBERMHER AT (‘KEHMA"), an associate,
was listed on the Shanghai Stock Exchange in 2019, and the Group’s
interest in &R was diluted from 36.0% to 32.4%, bringing in an
one-off diluted income of HK$220 million.

As a percentage of revenue, selling and distribution expenses as
well as the administration expenses were 8.3% and 5.7% respectively
(2019: 8.0% and 5.1%, respectively).

Finance expense decrease by HK$80 million was mainly due to the
decrease in loan interest in the Hong Kong lending market.

The increase in share of results of joint ventures by HK$150 million
and in share of results of associates by HK$20 million were mainly due
to the launch of Ningbo project and improvement of Tianjin project
operation.

Taxation amounted to HK$2.28 billion, representing 25.3% of profit
before taxation (2019: 22.8%).

Strong operating and free cash flow generation

The city gas distribution operation continued to bring in healthy cash
flow with a net operating cash flow after tax of HK$8.62 billion. The
Group recorded bank balances and cash of HK$13.44 billion at the
end of 2020. The Group continued to leverage on its strong balance
sheet to raise low cost finance during 2020 and had a total bank loans
and senior notes and other borrowings of HK$10.89 billion outstanding
as at 31st December, 2020. The Group maintains a very healthy
balance sheet with a low gross debt to total asset ratio of 50.1% (2019:
56.2%).

Reasonable rates of return

In view of the fact that the Group is still in expansion phase, the city
gas distribution operation maintained reasonable return on equity of
14.2% in 2020. The Group invested a total of 28 new projects in 2020.
The rates of returns were expected to improve once all these newly
acquired projects started to attain higher operating efficiency and
generated more returns in 2020 and thereafter.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Major contributors

Previously, the earlier projects of Chengdu, Wuxi and Suzhou acquired
in 2008 used to account for more than 80% of the gas sales volume,
connection fee and net profit contribution. As the Group acquired
more new projects from 2009 to 2020, their contribution percentages
decreased and were taken up by others such as Chongqging, Tianjin,
Ningbo, Zhengzhou, Zhenjiang, Fuzhou, Nanjing, Qingdao, Anyang
and Wuhan. The percentage contribution from all projects were
expected to gradually become more evenly distributed in the future.
The broadening of the Group’s earning base will ensure that the Group
will not rely heavily on any single city gas project.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

The net cash inflow after tax from operations during the year amounted
to HK$8.62 billion (2019: HK$8.60 billion).

To fund its acquisition expansion, the Group spent HK$4.3 billion in
capital expenditure during the year. The Group spent HK$4.8 billion
in upgrading and expanding of its existing city gas pipelines and
related facilities (2019: HK$3.9 billion). The above required funding
was financed by the operating cash flow, bank borrowings and cash
on hand of the Group. As at year end, the Group’s bank balances and
cash and other deposits was HK$13.4 billion (2019: HK$13.5 billion).
Among the balances, 4% was denominated in Hong Kong dollar and
95% in Renminbi and 1% in US dollar.

It is the Group’s policy to use the cash flow generated from operations
and appropriate level of borrowings as the principal source of
fund to finance major expansion and acquisition. As at the end of
the year, the Group had total bank, notes and other borrowings of
HK$10.9 billion (2019: HK$12.9 billion). 46% (2019: 55%) of the bank,
notes and other borrowings is considered as current liabilities and
repayable within one year, the remaining are repayable in more than
one year. Renminbi, Hong Kong dollar, US dollar and Japanese Yen,
denominated borrowings accounted for 1%, 46%, 50% and 3% of the
1%, 54%, 43% and 2%). 47%
(2019: 55%) of bank, notes and other borrowings are interest bearing

total borrowings respectively (2019:

on floating rate terms and 53% (2019: 45%) are interest bearing bank
loans and senior notes with fixed interest rate.
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The bank balances and cash of the Group was HK$13.4 billion as at
the year end. The gearing ratio of the Group at the end of the year,
calculated as total bank, note and other borrowings over total assets,
was 11.6% (2019: 15.8%). The financial position and liquidity of the
Group is very healthy and stable.

The Group has been granted a total of HK$7.0 billion, RMB4.4 billion
and JPY3.88 billion (2019: HK$7.8 billion, RMB4.4 billion and JPY3.88
billion) banking facilities with maturities from 2020 to 2021. The
facilities are unsecured and with floating interest rates. As at the end
of the year, 14% of the HK$ facilities (2019: 26%), 4% of the RMB
facilities (2019: 0%) and 88% of the JPY facilities (2019: 90%) has
been drawn down.

Other than the above, the Group has no other committed borrowing
facilities. For day-to-day liquidity management and maintaining
flexibility in funding, the Group has managed to obtain sufficient
uncommitted short-term facilities from banks.

Charge of Assets

As at 31st December, 2020, bank deposits of HK$10.0 million were
pledged as securities for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas.

Property, Plant and Equipment

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group’s city gas
distribution business spent HK$660 million on plant, machinery and
equipment and HK$4.53 billion on construction in progress.

Contingent Liabilities

As at 31st December, 2020, the Group did not have any material
contingent liabilities.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Management Discussion and Analysis

Financial Management and Treasury Policy

The financial risk management of the Group is the responsibility of
the Group’s treasury function at the head office in Hong Kong. One of
the major objectives of the Group’s treasury policies is to manage its
exposure to fluctuation in interest rates and foreign currency exchange
rates. It is the Group’s policy not to engage in speculative activities.

Most of the Group’s assets and liabilities are denominated in Hong
Kong dollar, US dollar and Renminbi with some denominated in JPY.
The Group does not expect significant exposure to foreign exchange
fluctuations in this regard.

ISSUE OF EQUITY SECURITIES

In order to strengthen the capital base of the Company, on 12 May
2020, the Company and CRH (Gas) Limited, the immediate holding
company of the Company, and the placing agent, Goldman Sachs
(Asia) L.L.C., entered into a placing, underwriting and subscription
agreement (the “Top-up Placing Agreement”), pursuant to which, the
placing agent placed a total of 90,000,000 placing shares at a price
of HK$40.81 per ordinary share of the Company (“Share”) owned
by CRH (Gas) Limited to not less than six independent placees who
are independent of the Company and its connected persons (the
“Placing”). Pursuant to the same agreement, on 25 May 2020, CRH
(Gas) Limited subscribed for and the Company allotted and issued
90,000,000 Shares (“Subscription Shares”) at HK$40.81 per Share
(“Subscription”). The gross funds raised was HK$3.673 billion and the
net proceeds from the subscription, after deducting all professional
fees and other out-of-picket expenses, was approximately HK$3.669
billion, representing a net issue price of approximately HK$40.77 per
Share. The aggregate nominal value of the Subscription Shares was
HK$9,000,000. The closing price of the Shares on 11 May 2020, being
the last trading day prior to the date of the agreement, was HK$43.95.
Details of the share placing and the top-up subscription were set out
in the Company’s announcements dated 12 May 2020 and 25 May
2020.
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EZRAR LARNBETEEBARF
EERERE - FISFENABFBENT

The Board considered that the abovementioned issue of Shares has
strengthened the capital base of the Company. Details of the use of
net proceeds are as follows:

BEDAEE FACBRAEE

BEBTT BEET
Amount Amount

intended utilized during

Intended use of to be utilized the year

FSFENRERE net proceeds HK$'million HK$'million

EREWE TR TR D HER Acquisition of downstream city gas 3,000 3,000
distribution businesses in the PRC

—REEES General working capital of the Group 669 669

#Et Total 3,669 3,669

Wi FERAR RZE_EE+=-_A=+
—B REZENMESREFECELH
B -

ARRRBHA-Z-_TFRA+_AHK
AEFMBEENMSRERTARMESK
B o

B EXXPRRER SN - AN B S A B A

A ERNFAETEMNABBRAREFET
MESBREY -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

As illustrated in the table above, as at 31 December 2020, the net
proceeds from the Subscription were fully utilised.

There has been no material change in the proposed use of proceeds
as disclosed in the announcement of the Company on 12 May 2020.

Save as disclosed above, neither the Company nor any of its
subsidiaries carried out any fund raising activities in respect of issue
of equity securities during the year.

Annual Report 2020
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

EZEE BOARD OF DIRECTORS
#$1TE= Executive Directors

FEIELE
Mr. Shi Baofeng

EWxs
Mr. Ge Bin
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Mr. Shi Baofeng, aged 49, was appointed as an Executive Director and
Chief Executive Officer of the Company on 28th November, 2018, and is
also chairman of Corporate Governance Committee. Mr. Shi joined China
Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in 2006 and China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2007. He consecutively served as the
assistant general manager and vice president of China Resources Gas
(Holdings) Limited and responsible for the operation of South China
Region. Mr. Shi holds a Master of Business Administration Degree from
the Southwest Jiaotong University and a Master Degree from the China
Europe International Business School; he also holds a Senior Engineer
qualification.
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Mr. Ge Bin, aged 57, was appointed as an Executive Director and Vice
Chairman of the Company on 20th February, 2014. He is responsible
for customer service and gas business in the Greater Area of Shanghai,
Jiangsu, Fujian, Hunan and Hubei. Mr. Ge joined China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in September 1996 and has been with China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2007 and held former
positions as Assistant General Manager, Deputy General Manager, Senior
Vice President. Mr. Ge holds a Master's Degree in Engineering from
Nanjing Tech University, and holds a senior economist qualification.
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Mr. Wang Chuandong, aged 58, was appointed as an Executive Director
and General Manager of the Company on 3rd November, 2008. He was
appointed as the Chairman of the Board of the Company with effect from
1st June, 2012. He is also the Chairman of the Company’s Nomination
Committee and the Investment Committee. He was re-designated as a
non-executive Director and the Chairman of the Board of the Company

on 31st January, 2019. He was appointed as a Director and the General Manager of China Resources Gas (Holdings)

Limited in February 2007. He is currently a Deputy General Manager of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

Mr. WANG joined China Resources Petrochems (Group) Company Limited in 1985 and was previously its Director and

Deputy General Manager. He has over 36 years of corporate management experience in the area of petroleum and

related products trading and distribution and holds a Bachelor's Degree in Science majoring in Petroleum Refining

from the China University of Petroleum and a Master of Business Administration Degree from the University of Texas,

USA. On 27th March, 2020, he served as non-executive director and chairman of the board of directors of China

Resources Power Holdings Company Limited.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



EENRSREEAEBEE
Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

RELE Wt ROZ-—FRARZERARFIERTESE  WIHRA
NREREZEGKRE - FR -E——FHARZERFRKRERBR AR
HITESR R —FRARREREHENERARARLERHEMLERA
AZEITES  ZERARNERMARIMBRARIRLET - RELE T —
SHELAREZERER (KB ARAREFEREL T ——F T ARLEZS
EREEERNEE - REEAER-NN=ZFNAZ_ZTZ-_F= ARARAF
AR AREREE (2R ARAREEHEE T2 - HE KR RIRBagE
MBTES - o BAGR BT _F=ZAZ_T——F+AREREW (I
RN ERABEAEEUEERRN T =F = A ST F_AREH
BMERAFREES - FAGR T —FHEAZ-Z-AF+-AREHE
BEEROGARATNEEEFULRR -ZE——FRAE-Z-RF T -AREHE
NBEENARARETIES - FAER T —FAAZE-FT - EFOAR
FREE () ERAF (AIBEFAXERAR]) BEFRTES - ZAARN
ERMERXSAERAREIRET - WAER_-_T—=F=A2"F—tF~<A
REMEERNDERAREEIFNTESE  ZRRAREEHEIZMERIAE
WMERNBEFRZ S LT « REER - NN=FETEFEREREER DL BN ST L FRREFZABTHERE
T - REER—NAN=ZFNAER (LB BRAF -

BRI e
Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Chen Ying, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of the Company in June 2012, and is also
a member of the Investment Committee of the Company. He was appointed as a non-executive director of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited in May 2012, and China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited and China
Resources Land Limited in June 2012. These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited. He is Chief Strategy Officer of China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since July 2013
and the Director of Strategy Management Department since October 2011. He has worked as Project Engineer,
Project Manager and Manager of Procurement Department and Executive Director of China Resources Construction
(Holdings) Company Limited, a fellow subsidiary of the Company, from September 1993 to March 2002. He was also
the Managing Director of China Resources Land (Beijing) Limited from March 2002 to October 2011 and a Director
of China Resources Land Limited from March 2003 to February 2006. He was also a Director of China Resources
Double-Crane Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from May 2012 to December 2015 and a director of China Resources Sanjiu
Medical & Pharmaceutical Co., Ltd. from June 2012 to December 2015. He was also a non-executive director of China
Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources Enterprise, Limited) from May 2012
to April 2016, which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. He was also appointed
as a non-executive director of China Vanke Co., Ltd. from March 2013 to June 2017, which is listed on the Main Board
of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited and the Shenzhen Stock Exchange. Mr. Chen obtained a Bachelor’s
degree of Architectural Management from the Tsinghua University, China in 1993 and a Master's degree of Business
Administration from University of Oxford, the United Kingdom, in 2007. Mr. Chen joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in 1993.
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Mr. Wang Yan, aged 49, was appointed as a Non-executive Director of

the Company in August 2014, and is also a member of the Audit and Risk

IBERE
Mr. Wang Yan

Management Committee of the Company. He joined China Resources

National Corporation (currently known as China Resources Company
Limited) in August 1994. He was appointed as the general manager of Internal Audit Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited in February 2016. He was appointed as the non-executive director of China Resources
Power Holdings Co. Ltd., China Resources Land Limited and China Resources Cement Holdings Ltd. in August 2014.
He was also appointed as the non-executive director of China Resources Medical Holdings Company Limited (formerly
known as China Resources Phoenix Healthcare Holdings Company Limited) in November 2016. Mr. Wang was a
non-executive director of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (formerly known as China Resources
Enterprise, Limited) from August 2014 to April 2016. These companies are listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited. Mr. Wang holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Economics from the Finance and Accounting
Department, Capital University of Economics and Business, a Master of Business Administration Degree from the
University of South Australia and is a qualified PRC Certified Accountant.
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Madam Wan Suet Fei, aged 44, was appointed as a Non-executive
Director of the Company in August 2018, and is also a member of the
Audit and Risk Management Committee of the Company. She joined
China Resources Group in August 2008 and is currently the senior
Deputy General Manager of the Finance Department of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. Madam Wan obtained a bachelor's degree
of business administration from The Chinese University of Hong Kong in

1999 and a master’s degree of science in finance from the Durham University, the United Kingdom, in 2003. She is a

member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants, a fellow member of the Association of Chartered

Certified Accountants and a Chartered Financial Analyst. She previously served investment bank, multi-national

corporations and audit firm in equity research, strategic development analysis of various industries, finance and audit

respectively. She is currently a non-executive director of China Resources Cement Holdings Limited, a company listed

on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1313).
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Mr. Jing Shiqing, aged 40, was appointed as a Non-executive Director
of the Company in August 2018, and is also a member of Remuneration

Committee and Nomination Committee of the Company. He joined
China Resources Group in July 2003. He worked in China Resources

RUEFRE
Mr. Jing Shiqing

Power Holdings Company Limited from July 2003 to February 2012, with
experiences in various aspects including production technology, human
resources management and administration management. Mr. Jing has worked in the Human Resources Department of
China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited since February 2012, and has been appointed as the Deputy General
Manager of the Human Resources Department since May 2018 with extensive experience in selection of corporate
senior management, leadership development and talent team building. Mr. Jing obtained a bachelor's degree in
engineering from the Changsha University of Science and Technology, China, in 2003 and a master's degree of
business administration from the Nanjing University, China, in 2011. He is currently a non-executive director of China
Resources Cement Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 1313).
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BERBELE Mr. Wong Tak Shing, aged 70, was appointed as an Independent
Mr. Wong Tak Shing Non-executive Director of the Company in 1998. He is the Chairman of

the Company’s Remuneration Committee and members of the Audit and
Risk Management Committee, Nomination Committee, Investment Committee and Corporate Governance Committee.
Mr. Wong involves in various professional appointments and public duties, including Member of Probate Committee
of the Law Society of Hong Kong and Member of Working Party on Charities and Trust of the Law Society of Hong
Kong (2011-2018). He was admitted as a solicitor of the Supreme Court of Hong Kong in 1984, a solicitor of England
& Wales and Australia respectively in 1989, a solicitor of Singapore in 1995 and was appointed as a China-Appointed
Attesting Officer with effect from 18th January, 2003 and full member (TEP) of the Society of Trust and Estate
Practitioners (STEP) with effect from 12th February, 2010. Mr. Wong has been in private practice in Hong Kong for
over 30 years. From 1984 to 1987, he worked as an assistant solicitor with two local law firms in Hong Kong before
setting up his own practice in 1987. Mr. Wong holds a Master's Degree in Laws from the Peking University of China
and a Master’'s Degree in Laws from the University of London of England.
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Mr. Yu Hon To, David, aged 72, was appointed as an Independent
Non-executive Director, Chairman of the Audit and Risk Management
EELE Committee and a member of the Remuneration Committee and the
Mr. Yu Hon To, David Nomination Committee of the Company on 28th December, 2012. Mr. Yu
is a fellow member of the Institute of Chartered Accountants in England
and Wales and an associate member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. He has extensive
experience in the fields of auditing, corporate finance, financial investigation and corporate management. He was
formerly a partner of an international accounting firm. He is currently an Independent Non-executive Director of China
Renewable Energy Investment Limited, Keck Seng Investments (Hong Kong) Limited, Media Chinese International
Limited, New Century Asset Management Limited (which is the manager of New Century Real Estate Investment Trust, a
Hong Kong Collective Investment Scheme listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited), One
Media Group Limited and Playmates Holdings Limited which are Main Board listed companies in Hong Kong. He served
as an independent non-executive director of Haier Electronics Group Co., Ltd. (stock code: 1169), which was delisted
in December 2020 and Synergis Holdings Limited (stock code: 2340), which is listed on the Main Board of The Stock
Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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Mr. Yang Yuchuan, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Audit and Risk Management
Committee, Nomination Committee and Corporate Governance Committee
of the Company in August 2018. Mr. YANG is the Guest Professor of Hong
Kong Financial Services Institute, the chief executive and chief macro
BEINEXE economist of Prime China Securities Limited, responsible for the day-
Mr. Yang Yuchuan to-day management and operation of the company. He has extensive
experience in financial industry. Mr. YANG was an executive director of
Century Sunshine Group Holdings Limited, a company listed on the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 0509);
a non-executive director of TTG Fintech Limited, a company listed on the Australian Securities Exchange (stock
code: TUP); an executive director of Partners Capital Securities Limited and the chief executive of Sunshine Asset
Management (HK) Limited. Mr. YANG holds a bachelor’'s degree from Shanghai Jiao Tong University in the PRC and a
master’s degree of business administration from University of San Francisco in the United States of America.
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Mr. Hu Xiaoyong, aged 56, was appointed as an Independent Non-
executive Director and a member of the Remuneration Committee of
the Company in January 2019. He was appointed as the Chairman
and an executive director of Beijing Enterprises Clean Energy Group
Limited (Stock code: 1250) in May 2015. Mr. Hu graduated from the

Tsinghua University with an executive master degree of business administration. He has approximately over 24 years’
experience in business management. From 2001 to 2013, Mr. Hu worked with FRRIEIRIREB AR AT (Zhong Ke
Cheng Environment Protection Group Company Limited*) as chairman. During the period from 1st August 2008 to 30th
March 2016, he was an executive director and the chief executive officer of Beijing Enterprises Water Group Limited
(Stock code: 371) (“BEWG”). He has been appointed as the honorary chairman of BEWG since 30th March 2016.
During the period from September 2014 to October 2018, he was executive director of Beijing Enterprises Medical
and Health Industry Group Limited (Stock code: 2389), shares of which are listed on the main board of The Stock

Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Zhu Likun, aged 54, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014,
responsible for operation and safety work. Mr. Zhu holds a Bachelor’s
Degree majoring in Petro-chemical Industry Automation from the
Nanjing University of Chemical Technology (currently known as
Nanjing University of Technology), a Master's Degree majoring in
International Economics from the Soochow University, and a Senior
Engineer qualification. He joined China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited in August 2003.

Ms. Cheng Jie, aged 46, was appointed as a Senior Vice President
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in February 2014,
responsible for information, finance and internal audit work. Ms. Cheng
holds a Bachelor’'s Degree in Business Administration from Zhongnan
University of Finance and Economics. She has worked in China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since June 2005, where she once
served as the Financial Controller. Prior to joining China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited, Ms. Cheng served as a senior manager in
investment banking division of Head & Shoulders Securities.

Mr. Huang Weizhong, aged 55, was appointed as a Vice President
of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in September 2007,
responsible for investment and legal affairs. Mr. Huang holds a
Master's Degree majoring in International Finance from the Fudan
University and licenses to practice as a lawyer and an engineer. He
joined China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited in March 2000
and has been working for China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
since March 2007.
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Mr. Yin Xiaojun, aged 47, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Northern Region. He served as various
posts in Suzhou Xin Qu Gas Corporation (ERMFTELFAR]) from
1996 to 2003, including Scheduling, Engineering Design, Pipelines
Deputy Director, Business Deputy Director, Deputy Director of the Chief
Engineer Office, Workshop Director and Production Chief Director, he
also served as Assistant General Manager in Suzhou China Resources
Gas Co., Ltd. from 2003 to 2005, Executive Deputy General Manager of
Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2005 to 2009 and General Manager
of Kunming China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2009 to 2011. Mr. Yin
graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor’s Degree in Gas
Profession.

Mr. Zhu Ping, aged 55, was appointed as a Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of North China Region. He has been with
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited since September 2004,
where he once served as the Head of Administration. Mr. Zhu had
served as a Deputy General Manager in Huainan Gas Corporation (Y
TS A F]), an Executive Deputy General Manager in Yuyao Urban
Gas Co., Ltd. (¥R IKR AR A7) from 2000 to 2001, and Senior
Project Manager and General Manager in Wenzhou Xinao Gas Co.,
Ltd. CRMFTRERABRR A F]) from 2001 to 2004,

Mr. Chen Guoyong, aged 59, was appointed as Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible
for operation and management of Central and Western Region. He is
also responsible for operation and management of the Greater Henan
and Shanxi Area, and concurrently serves as Chairman and General
Manager of Zhengzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. (ZPMZEEBA
FABRAT]) since April 2015. He is currently a Committee Member
of the Gas Transmission and Distribution Professional of the China
Civil Engineering Society. He joined the Design Institute of Jining Gas
Company in 1984 and served as an Assistant Engineer from 1985
to 1986. Mr. Chen served as Director of the Dispatch Office and an
Engineer of Jining Gas Company from 1986 to 2000, Deputy Secretary of
the CPC Committee and Deputy General Manager of Jining Gas Company
from 2000 to 2005, and Secretary of CPC Committee and General
Manager of Jining Gas Company from 2005 to 2007.
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Mr. Lu Hong, aged 50, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in March 2012, responsible for
operation and management of Southeast Region. Mr. Lu holds a
Bachelor's Degree in Commercial Enterprise Management from
Tianjin University of Commerce. He served at various posts (from staff
member to Executive Deputy General Manager) in Beijing Jinye Real
Estate Development Co., Ltd. (IbR&ZEFHE) from 1993 to 2000,
Chairman of Fuzhou Jingyou New Building Materials Co., Ltd. (&M
FRFEEM AR AT from 2000 to 2004, and various posts (from
staff member to Deputy General Manager) in Fujian Anran Gas Co.,
Ltd. (GREZAMBBR A F]) from 2004 to 2007. He served as General
Manager of Yueyang China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Qianjiang
China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2008, General Manager
of Kunming China Resources Gas Co. Ltd. from 2008 to 2009, General
Manager of Fuzhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since 2009,
General Manager of Greater Fujian Area since 2011, and Acting
General Manager of Xiamen China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. since May
2015.

Mr. Yang Ping, aged 47, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited in December 2016, responsible
for the operation of Central China Region. Mr. Yang was the Chief
Representative of the Shanghai Representative Office of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2005 to 2011, the General
Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2011 to 2012, the Vice
General Manager of the Greater Hubei Area and the General Manager
of Wugang China Resources Gas (Wuhan) Co., Ltd from 2012 to 2014.
Mr. Yang graduated from Tongji University and holds a Bachelor's
Degree in Gas Profession.

Mr. Li Joshua, aged 42, was appointed as Vice President and Chief
Financial Officer of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited on 28th
December, 2020, and responsible for financial management. He
served as Vice Manager of Investment Department of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2007 to 2009, Vice General Manager
of Investment Department of China Resources Gas (Holdings)
Limited from 2009 to 2012, General Manager of Audit & Supervision
Department of China Resources Gas Group Limited from 2012 to
2015, General Manager of Financial Department of China Resources
Gas Group Limited from 2015 to 2016, and Assistant President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2016 to 2020.
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Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management

Mr. Che Dechen, aged 46, was appointed as Vice President of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited on 28th December, 2020, and he
also serves as the General Manager of EEMAEBERMHERAA.
He served as General Manager of =F5EERRABR AT from 2006
to 2011, General Manager of #H (FR) MK ILEARZAAlfrom 2011
to 2013, General Manager of Chengdu City Gas Co., Ltd. from 2013
to 2014, Executive General Manager of Sichuan Region of China
Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2014 to 2020, and also served
as Assistant President of China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited
from 2016 to 2020.

Mr. Xiao Zhonghua, aged 49, was appointed as the Vice President of
China Resources Gas (Holdings) Limited on 28th December, 2020. He
is responsible for discipline management. He successively served as
the Assistant General Manager of the Human Resources Department
of China Resources Gas Holdings Co., Ltd. from 2007 to 2011, the
Assistant General Manager of the Office & Administration Department
of China Resources Gas Holdings Co., Ltd. from 2011 to 2012, the
Deputy General Manager of the Office & Administration Department
of China Resources Gas Holdings Co., Ltd. from 2012 to 2013, the
General Manager of the Office & Administration Department of China
Resources Gas Holdings Co., Ltd. from 2013 to 2015, a member of
the Disciplinary Committee and the General Manager of the Office &
Administration Department of China Resources Gas Holdings Co., Ltd.
from 2015 to 2018 and the Assistant President of China Resources
Gas (Holdings) Limited from 2018 to 2020.
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The Group is dedicated to maintaining a good credible framework
of corporate governance with a view to being transparent, open and
accountable to its shareholders.

COMPLIANCE WITH CORPORATE GOVERNANCE
CODE

The Company has adopted the mandatory provisions of the Corporate
Governance Code (the “Code”) set out in Appendix 14 to the Listing
Rules. In line with the mandatory provisions of the Code, the Company
adopted a Corporate Governance Handbook (the “Handbook”) on
23rd December, 2005 and subsequently updated it in 2008, 2009,
2010, 2012, 2013, 2014, 2015, 2016 and 2018 respectively. The
contents of the Handbook include, among others, directors’ duties,
model code for directors’ transactions in securities, model code for
securities transactions by relevant employees, the functions and
terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration,
Nomination, Investment and Corporate Governance Committees,
disclosure of information, communication with shareholders,
procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director and Board diversity policy. All the mandatory provisions
under the Code have been adopted and reflected in the Handbook.
The Company has throughout the year complied with the mandatory
provisions of the Code except for the deviation from the code
provision D.1.4 which is explained as follows:

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Under the code provision D.1.4, the Company should have formal
letters of appointment for directors setting out the key terms and
conditions of their appointment. The Company did not have formal
letters of appointment for Directors. However, the Directors are
subject to retirement by rotation at least once every three years in
accordance with the Bye-Laws. In addition, the Directors are required
to refer to the guidelines set out in “A Guide on Directors’ Duties”
issued by the Companies Registry and “Guidelines for Directors”
and “Guide for Independent Non-executive Directors” (if applicable)
published by the Hong Kong Institute of Directors in performing their
duties and responsibilities as directors of the Company. Besides,
the Directors are required to comply with the requirements under
statute and common law, the Listing Rules, legal and other regulatory
requirements and the Company’s business and governance policies.

Save as mentioned above and in the opinion of the Directors, the
Company has met the code provisions set out in the Code throughout
the year.

THE BOARD

As at the date of this annual report, the Board consists of two
Executive Directors, five Non-executive Directors and four
Independent Non-executive Directors, one of whom namely Mr. Yu
Hon To, David has the appropriate professional accounting experience
and expertise as required under the Listing Rules. The names and
biographical details of each Director are disclosed on pages 33 to 41
of this annual report.

Each Independent Non-executive Director has, pursuant to the
guidelines set out in rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules, confirmed that
he is independent of the Company and the Company also considers
that they are independent. The term of office of each Non-executive
Director, including Independent Non-executive Director, is for a
period of three years subject to the requirement that one-third of all
the Directors shall retire from office by rotation at each annual general
meeting pursuant to the Bye-laws of the Company. The relationship
(including financial, business, family or other material/relevant
relationship), if any, among members of the Board are disclosed in
this annual report. There is no such relationship between the Chairman
and the Chief Executive Officer.
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FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible both for how the Company is managed and
the Company’s direction. Approval of the Board is required for the
strategy of the Group, yearly budget, major acquisition and disposal,
major capital investment, dividend policy, appointment and removal
of Directors and senior management, remuneration policy and other
major operational, financial, risk management and internal control
matters. Day-to-day operations of the Group are the responsibility of
the Company’s management.

In 2020, the Board passed 2 written resolutions by all members of
the Board dated 17th May, 2020 and 10th July, 2020, respectively to
review and approve 2 management proposals.

The Board held regular meetings during 2020. Details of individual
attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

g g 33 g g 343 k- St 33 g g 343 g 313 g g 33
B =A=+tA M@WmA=+NH EAt-H NA+=A NA=+&B t-A=+tH
27th March, 28th April, 11th May,  13th August,  25th August, 27th November,
Date 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020 2020
YTES Executive Directors
Birs Mr. Ge Bin vV v V 0 0 v
FEERE Mr. Shi Baofeng v v v v V V
FHTES Non-executive Directors
TEREE Mr. Wang Chuandong v 0 v 0 v y
BRESE Mr. Chen Ying 0 0 0 v v 0
TERE Mr. Wang Yan 0 0 N 0 0 0
BERLL Madam Wan Suet Fei N N 0 N V N
RHELE Mr. Jing Shiging N 0 N Vv 0 N
BYHTES Independent Non-executive
Directors
EGBRAE Mr. Wong Tak Shing v v 0 v v v
BEETE Mr. Yu Hon To, David v v v v v V
BENEE Mr. Yang Yuchuan N y 0 N V N
MEEAE Mr. Hu Xiaoyong y | y y y y
T (INERAR TXER) ¢ Remarks (also applicable to the tables set out below):
v o= BB | = attended
0 = WE O = didn't attend
N/A = T#EM N/A = not applicable
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The Company held one general meeting during 2020. Details of
individual attendance of Directors are set out in the table below:

—g-%fF
B EA=+Z=H
Date 22nd May, 2020

HiTES
BiEL
SLEELE

KUTES
TEmEs
A
IEs
BERLL
B ERE

BUFHITES
EiSBEE
AEESEE
BEEE
MAEEEL

Executive Directors
Mr. Ge Bin v
Mr. Shi Baofeng

<

Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan

Madam Wan Suet Fei
Mr. Jing Shiging

O O O O =

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Wong Tak Shing

Mr. Yu Hon To, David

Mr. Yang Yuchuan

O O =< =

Mr. Hu Xiaoyong

RZZB-TF  TFERARBBILIFRT
EERTTEE  UEBHMERHE -

EEENEZTEE
ARAR-F-ZFNA-+=BARAE
FERASTABE (HR])) - wBHEZ
BB E F AT UL BRI 4 E 2 T3t & B
18 RIS N TR -

BERBE

ARAREESGEENZ TLRERRT
BENEELEZ - —HEFZTIENES
GRBEREABTRERE  HERTEL
AR HAREMEENEFTERK
B WANMUAA  ZEEZEERETE
EENRBEAEMBTIAEE  WHA L
BRATREBEEYE -EFSMBEEY
REESRBENEEMTEMRERKE
BRKFEN o

In 2020, the chairman has held a meeting with the independent non-
executive directors of the Company without the presence of other
directors.

BOARD DIVERSITY POLICY

The Company adopted a board diversity policy (the “Policy”) on 23rd
August, 2013. A summary of this Policy, together with the measurable
objectives set for implementing this Policy, and the progress made
towards achieving those objectives are disclosed as below.

Summary of the Policy

The Company sees diversity at Board level as an essential element in
maintaining a competitive advantage. A truly diverse Board will include
and make good use of differences in the skills, regional and industry
experience, background, gender and other qualities of the members
of the Board. These differences will be considered in determining
the optimum composition of the Board and when possible should be
balanced appropriately. All Board appointments are made on merit, in
the content of the skills and experience the Board as a whole requires
to be effective.
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Measurable Objectives

The Nomination Committee will discuss and agree annually all
measurable objectives for achieving diversity on the Board and
recommend them to the Board for adoption. At any given time, the
Board may seek to improve one or more aspects of its diversity
and measure progress accordingly. For the year under review, no
measurable objective was set by the Nomination Committee.

Implementation

As at the date of this report, the Board's composition under major
diversified perspectives was summarised as follows:

MRl
Gender

[Ei 3
Ethnicity

FiRAE R
Age Group

AR5 4F 2R

Year of Service

E=AH

40-49 (5) 50-59 (4)

0-5 (5)

Number of | 5
Directors

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



BRI

ARARBEMAEF2EETERRIALR
= REHACHMBNLE - GUHEED
BEEHWE B ETARERHETE AR
AfE#ES - B TR REMEREER
EBMERNBEEFTERETESE - U
BRERERRESHEH RIFOEE RN
E e

BEERFRAZENKSESEERBEANAT

EEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

All Directors are encouraged to participate in continuous professional
development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills. Each
newly appointed Director would receive the guides covering the
statutory and regulatory obligations of a director of a listed company.
The relevant updates on the latest developments regarding the
Listing Rules and other applicable regulatory requirements are also
provided to the Directors in order to ensure compliance and raise their
concerns on good corporate governance.

Participation of Directors in continuous professional development
during the year is as follows:

BRI - HER

HEg gBR® MERFEEER
WES RS - REAARAFH
BE K RAREHHA HEBNER
Reading
Receiving training; regulatory
attending and/or updates or
giving talks at information
seminars, relevant to
conference the Company or
and/or forums its business
HITES Executive Directors
BEWkE Mr. Ge Bin J J
SEIESE Mr. Shi Baofeng J \
FHTES Non-executive Directors
FlEBREE Mr. Wang Chuandong V v
RoR B SE A Mr. Chen Ying J Ni
TEXRE Mr. Wang Yan N Ni
BERZ L Madam Wan Suet Fei N J
StELEE Mr. Jing Shiging V v
BAFHTES Independent Non-executive Directors
=GB EE Mr. Wong Tak Shing N N
EELEA Mr. Yu Hon To, David N N
BENEE Mr. Yang Yuchuan V v
HABEE & Mr. Hu Xiaoyong N V
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CHAIRMAN AND THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

As at the date of this annual report, the Chairman of the Board is
Mr. Wang Chuandong while Mr. Shi Baofeng is the Chief Executive
Officer. The Chairman provides leadership to the Board and formulate,
together with the Board, the business strategies and long-term
objectives of the Company whilst the Chief Executive Officer
carries out the decisions made by the Board and is in charge of the
Company’s day-to-day management.

BOARD COMMITTEES

To strengthen the functions of the Board and to enhance its expertise,
as at the date of this annual report, there are five committees
namely, the Audit and Risk Management, Remuneration, Nomination,
Investment and Corporate Governance Committees under the Board,
with each performing different functions.

Audit and Risk Management Committee

As at the date of this annual report, the Audit and Risk Management
Committee comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Yu Hon To, David (Chairman), Mr. Wong Tak Shing and
Mr. Yang Yuchuan and two Non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Wang
Yan and Madam Wan Suet Fei. The Committee’s role is to provide an
independent and objective review of the effectiveness of the financial
reporting process, internal control, risk management as well as
internal audit function of the Group. Its functions broadly fall into the
following three main areas:

° make recommendations to the Board on the appointment,
reappointment and removal of external auditor, and to approve
the remuneration and terms of engagement of external auditor
and any matters related to the resignation or dismissal of external
auditor;

° review the financial statements of the Company’s annual and
half-year reports and accounts;

° oversee the Company’s financial reporting system, internal
controls and risk management systems.

The terms of reference of the Audit and Risk Management Committee
have been uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the
Company.
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During 2020 and up to the date of this annual report, the Audit and
Risk Management Committee has reviewed the financial statements
and yearly results announcement for 2019, and those for the
half-yearly results and yearly results for 2020. These include the
review of the Group’s financial and accounting policies and practices;
the review of the continuing connected transactions of the Company
conducted in 2019 and 2020; and the review of the internal audit
reports prepared by the Company’s Audit Division.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee has held three meetings
during 2020. Details of individual attendance of its members are set
out in the table below:

EE 23=1

Chairman Members
MEELE ER/BLE FBELE BERLL BEIxE
Mr. Yu Hon Mr. Wong Mr. Wang Madam Wan Mr. Yang
HE Date To, David Tak Shing Yan Suet Fei Yuchuan
ZZEZTF=A=+=H  23rd March, 2020 v Vv v V J
—TZTFNAT=H 13th August, 2020 V vV 0 V V
—T-TF+=-A+H 10th December, 2020 Vv v 0 N v

FMEESE Remuneration Committee

FHMZEENTRBE/EERRTESER
BARER A EHF IR ENEE - BFED
IRNTEALET S - BT SI R A MR R
3 URBREELSREEABMEANE

YN EoREREESE LHEB M AR

YNSIEEDE

RAFHREH  FMEZEESh=2BIEHR
ﬁ?%?ﬁﬁﬂ#?ﬁi ) EEERE
HBRBEER - RIFRTESRUTLEM
B o

The role and main function of the Remuneration Committee is to
determine and review the compensation and benefit policy of Directors
and senior management, including but not limited to bonus plan,
Incentive Award Scheme and other long term incentive plan, as well
as bonus allocation and salary adjustment of each Director and senior
management.

The terms of reference of the Remuneration Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Remuneration Committee
comprises of three Independent Non-executive Directors namely
Mr. Wong Tak Shing (Chairman), Mr. Yu Hon To, David and Mr. Hu
Xiaoyong and one Non-executive Director namely Mr. Jing Shiging.
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In 2020, the Remuneration Committee passed a written resolution
dated 14th May, 2020 by way of the participation of all members to
review and approve 1 management proposal.

During 2020, the Remuneration Committee held one meeting to review
and determine related bonus and compensation of the Executive
Directors and senior management. Details of individual attendance of
its members are set out in the table below:

I 241
Chairman Members
ESBLE MEELE StFEE HBEEE
BE Date Mr. Wong Tak Shing Mr. Yu Hon To, David  Mr. Jing Shiqing Mr. Hu Xiaoyong
ZE-FF+-A=1++tA 27th November, 2020 N V V VJ

REBE_T-_TF+_A=+—RHLLFE
BRERABIRBES D ZHWE DT

FEE (B)

For the year ended 31st December, 2020, the remuneration of the
members of the senior management by band is set out below:

AE

Remuneration band (HKD) Number of persons

078722 1,000,000 7T

1,000,001/ 7T E 1,500,000 7T
1,500,00178 7T E 2,000,000 7T
2,000,001 7T % 2,500,000/ 7T
2,500,001 23,000,000 7T
3,000,001 77T% 3,500,000 7T

HKDO to HKD 1,000,000

HKD1,000,001 to HKD 1,500,000
HKD1,500,001 to HKD2,000,000
HKD2,000,001 to HKD2,500,000
HKD2,500,001 to HKD3,000,000
HKD3,000,001 to HKD3,500,000

N oo+ OO

FHESEHE R ARRSHALTZESF
B BERETRAUMBI6ZHEE T AR
B WHEHNMEE IR -

REZESE
REZEGNIERREARNETTRE
RARR - YR HEEERNRAALTHEIES
MEESRHEBER -

Further particulars regarding the directors’ emoluments and the
five highest paid individuals as required to be disclosed pursuant
to Appendix 16 to the Listing Rules are set out in note 11 to the
consolidated financial statements.

Nomination Committee

The role and main function of the Nomination Committee is to
review the structure and composition of the Board, and to make
recommendation to the Board on the selection of individual nominated
for directorships.
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The terms of reference of the Nomination Committee have been
uploaded to the websites of the Stock Exchange and the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Nomination Committee
comprises of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wang
Chuan dong (Chairman), Mr. Jing Shiging and three Independent
Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing, Mr. Yu Hon To,
David and Mr. Yang Yuchuan.

The selection criteria for Directors is that the candidate(s) must have
substantial experience in business relevant to the Company or in
corporate management, or in relevant profession and must be able to
contribute effectively to the objectives of the Company. In identifying
suitable candidates for appointment to the Board, the Nomination
Committee will consider candidates on merit against objective criteria
and with due regard for the benefits of diversity on the Board. Any
committee member may propose suitable candidates for directorship
for discussion and approval by the Nomination Committee, after which
the Board will consider and, if proper, approve such nomination.
Directors thus selected is subject to re-election by shareholders of the
Company in the next general meeting or next annual general meeting,
as appropriate, according to the Bye-laws of the Company.

During 2020, the Nomination Committee passed 1 written resolution

by all members of the Nomination Committee dated 27 March 2020 to
review the structure, size and composition of the Board.
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Nomination Policy

Nomination policy aims to ensure that the board of directors of the

Company (the “Board”) has a balance of skills, experience, knowledge

and diversity of perspectives appropriate to the requirements of the

Company’s business.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate, select and recommend

candidate(s) for directorships to the Board by giving due consideration

to criteria including but not limited to (collectively, the “Criteria”):

(b)

()

Diversity in aspects including but not limited to gender, age,
cultural and educational background, professional experience,
skills, knowledge and length of service;

Commitment for responsibilities of the Board in respect of
available time and relevant interest;

Accomplishment and experience in the relevant industries in
which the Company’s business is involved and other professional
qualifications;

Reputation for integrity;

Potential contributions that the individual(s) can bring to the
Board; and

Plan(s) in place for the orderly succession of the Board.

The above Criteria are for reference only, and not meant to be

exhaustive and decisive. The Nomination Committee has the discretion

to nominate any person, as it considers appropriate.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend retiring
Director(s) to the Board for re-appointment by giving due
consideration to the criteria including but not limited to:

(a) The overall contribution and service of the retiring Director(s)
to the Company, including but not limited to the attendance
of the meetings of the Board and/or its committees and
general meetings where applicable, in addition to the level
of participation and performance on the Board and/or its
committees; and

(b) Whether the retiring Director(s) continue(s) to satisfy the Criteria.

The Nomination Committee will evaluate and recommend candidate(s)
for the position(s) of the independent non-executive directors of the
Company by giving due consideration to the factors including but
not limited to those set out in Rules 3.10(2) and 3.13 of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on The Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited, subject to any amendments as may be made from time
to time, in addition to the Criteria.

Procedures and Process for Nomination of Directors

The Nomination Committee will recommend to the Board for the
appointment of a Director in accordance with the following procedures
and process:

(a) The Nomination Committee may consult any source it deems
appropriate in identifying or selecting suitable candidates,
such as referrals from existing Directors, advertising,
recommendations from third-party agency firm and proposals
from shareholders of the Company with due consideration given
to the Criteria;

(b) The Nomination Committee may adopt any process it deems
appropriate in evaluating the suitability of the candidates, such
as interviews, background checks, presentations and third party
reference checks;

(c) The proposed candidates will be asked to submit the necessary
personal information and biography for the Nomination
Committee’s consideration. The Nomination Committee may
request the candidate(s) to provide additional information and
documents, if considered necessary;
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(d) Upon considering a candidate suitable for the directorship, the
Nomination Committee will hold a meeting and/or by way of
written resolutions to, if thought fit, approve the recommendation
to the Board for appointment;

(e) The Nomination Committee will provide the relevant information
of the selected candidate to the remuneration committee of the
Company (the “Remuneration Committee”) for consideration of
remuneration package of such selected candidate;

() The Nomination Committee will thereafter make the
recommendation to the Board in relation to the proposed
appointment, and where a non-executive Director is considered,
the Remuneration Committee will make the recommendation to
the Board on the proposed remuneration package;

(g) The Board may arrange for the selected candidate to be
interviewed by the members of the Board who are not members
of the Nomination Committee and the Board will thereafter
deliberate and decide the appointment as the case may be; and

(h) All appointment of Directors will be confirmed by the filing of the
prescribed form with the Companies Registry of Hong Kong and
updating (and, if necessary, filing) of the Register of Directors of
the Company.

Investment Committee

The role and main function of the Investment Committee is to assist
the Board in making investment decisions (including acquisition or
divestment opportunity) within the investment threshold of US$8 million
to US$20 million or other thresholds as authorised by the Board from
time to time.

The terms of reference of the Investment Committee have been
uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Investment Committee
comprises of two Non-executive Directors namely Mr. Wang
Chuandong (Chairman) and Mr. Chen Ying, and one Independent
Non-executive Director namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



R-IZE-TF REZBGUREZEEM
BERELERFNBBANAZS_ZFNA
—+WE - ZE22FHASTNAR =
—EF+-AZ+—BM3EE@MRER
AR R EATEIREEE -

EXEREES
TCEERRBEENIZRE/MHESSH

ERBEERRARENEREABELE
B WRAEBEREEE -

RAFHRAH  CEELLZEEHMEETL
FRTEEERBEERGEI/IKER—F
MITEELEIREE (XF) A -

TCEERZEEENR T _TFRERTE
B

EEERRE

Corporate Governance Report

During 2020, the Investment Committee passed 3 written resolutions
by all members of the Investment Committee dated 24th September,
2020, 28th October, 2020 and 21st December, 2020, respectively to
review and approve 4 investment proposals.

Corporate Governance Committee

The role and main function of the Corporate Governance Committee
is to assist the Board in developing and reviewing the policies and
practices on corporate governance which are applicable to the Group
and making recommendations to the Board.

The terms of reference of the Corporate Governance Committee have
been uploaded to the website of the Company.

As at the date of this annual report, the Corporate Governance
Committee comprises of two Independent Non-executive Directors
namely Mr. Wong Tak Shing and Mr. Yang Yuchuan, and one
Executive Director namely Mr. Shi Baofeng (Chairman).

The Corporate Governance Committee did not hold any meeting
during 2020.
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RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL CONTROL

The Board has the overall responsibility of maintaining an effective risk
management and internal control system to provide reasonable, though
not absolute, assurance against material misstatement or loss and to
manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business
objectives.

The Board, through the Audit and Risk Management Committee,
conducts annual review of the effectiveness of the Company’s systems
of risk management and internal control covering all material controls,
including financial controls, internal control and risk management
systems.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee considers the major
investigation findings on risk management and internal control matter
as delegated by the Board or on its own initiative and management’s
response to these findings.

The Audit and Risk Management Committee also considers the
adequacy of resources, qualifications and experience of the
Company’s accounting, financial reporting and internal audit
functions, and their training programmes and budget. With respect
to procedures and internal controls for handling and dissemination
of inside information, the Company has set out written policies and
procedures in relation to the handling of inside information, including
but not limited to measures to ensure compliance of disclosure
requirement.

The Internal Audit Division assists the Audit and Risk Management
Committee to review the effectiveness of such risk management and
internal control system in operation. The Division regularly carries out
internal audit and other related audit reviews and reports its findings
and suggestions for improvement on better internal controls to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for their consideration. During
the year, the Internal Audit Division also conducted reviews of key risk
management system of the Company. Its findings were reported to the
Audit and Risk Management Committee for consideration and would
form the basis for further improvement in the future. Inspections and
risk assessments were carried out in key risk areas such as operation
environment (concession rights availability and their protection,
pipeline infrastructure bottlenecks, strategy execution hurdles, etc);
financial management (cash custody and management, payment
approval process, receivables management, accounting policy
adherence, etc); safety management (pipeline infrastructure inspection
and maintenance process, safety system and related safety incident
reporting structure, etc); engineering and construction management
(tender process reviews, project management procedures and
practice); key materials procurement (vendor and materials
qualification process, tendering and quality control processes, etc).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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In addition, internal audit division also closely follows up on corrective
actions by all business units on their self-inspections of key risk areas.

Based on the results of the annual review, the Board is satisfied with
the effectiveness of risk management and internal control system
currently put in place for the Company.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS
BY DIRECTORS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions
by Directors of Listed Issuers (“Model Code”) set out in Appendix 10
to the Listing Rules as its own code of conduct in relation to Directors’
securities transactions. Having made specific enquiry of all Directors,
the Company confirmed that all Directors have complied with the
required standard set out in the Model Code during the year.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR PREPARING
THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors acknowledge that it is their responsibilities in preparing
the consolidated financial statements. The statement by the Auditor
about their reporting responsibilities on the consolidated financial
statements is set out in the Independent Auditor’s Report on pages 87
to 265.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed Ernst & Young as independent auditor during
the year. The remuneration for services provided during the year to
the Company’s Auditor includes:

—E-THF

2020

FET

Fri2 PR 7% Services rendered HK$’ 000
FiT AR Audit services 11,593
SEEATRTS « RHREEER Non-audit services for: Interim results review 1,350
&t Total 12,943
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COMPANY SECRETARY

The Company Secretary, Mr. Lo Chi Lik Peter, is a practicing solicitor
in Hong Kong. Mr. Lo, aged 71, was appointed as the Company
Secretary with effect from 1st September, 2017. He qualified as a
solicitor in Hong Kong in 1976 and has been in continuous practice
since qualification. He is currently a partner of Messrs. Woo, Kwan,
Lee & Lo. Although Mr. Lo is not a full time employee of the Company,
he reports to the Board and in his capacity as Company Secretary
advises the Board on governance matters. The primary contact
person of the Company with Mr. Lo is Mr. Joshua Li, the Chief
Financial Officer. Mr. Lo confirmed that he had fulfilled the 15 hours of
Continuing Professional Development training required of a solicitor in
respect of 2020.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS

Procedures for shareholders to convene special general meeting

In accordance with the Section 74 of the Companies Act 1981 of
Bermuda (“Companies Act”), the shareholders of the Company holding
at the date of the deposit of the requisition not less than one-tenth of
such of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting
at general meetings of the Company, shall have the right to convene
a special general meeting of the Company. If the directors do not
within twenty-one days from the date of the deposit of the requisition
proceed duly to convene a meeting, the requisitionists representing
more than one half of the total voting rights may themselves convene
a meeting.

The written requisition for the special general meeting can be lodged
at the Company’s principal office in Hong Kong at Room 1901-02,
China Resources Building, 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

Procedures for shareholders to put forward proposals at a general
meeting

Pursuant to the Sections 79 and 80 of the Companies Act, either
any number of the registered shareholders holding not less than
one-twentieth (5%) of the paid-up capital of the Company carrying the
right of voting at general meetings of the Company (“Requisitionists”),
or not less than 100 of such registered shareholders, can request
the Company in writing to (a) give to shareholders entitled to receive
notice of the next general meeting notice of any resolution which may
properly be moved and is intended to be moved at that meeting; and
(b) circulate to shareholders entitled to have notice of any general
meeting any statement of not more than 1,000 words with respect to
the matter referred to in any proposed resolution or the business to be
dealt with at that meeting.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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The requisition signed by all the Requisitionists may consist of
several documents in like form, each signed by one or more of the
Requisitionists; and it must be deposited at the Registered Office with
a sum reasonably sufficient to meet the Company’s relevant expenses,
not less than six weeks before the meeting in case of a requisition
requiring notice of a resolution or not less than one week before
the meeting in the case of any other requisition. Provided that if an
AGM is called for a date six weeks or less after the requisition has
been deposited, the requisition though not deposited within the time
required shall be deemed to have been properly deposited for the
purposes thereof.

Procedures for shareholders to propose a person for election as a
director

Pursuant to bye-law 113 of the Bye-laws of the Company, the Company
may from time to time in general meeting by ordinary resolution elect, or
authorize the Directors to elect or appoint, any person to be a Director
either to fill a vacancy or to act as an additional Director up to the
maximum number of Directors determined by the members in general
meeting.

Pursuant to bye-law 115 of the Bye-laws of the Company, no person,
other than a retiring Director, shall, unless recommended by the
Board for election, be eligible for election to the office of Director
at any general meeting, unless notice in writing of the intention to
propose that person for election as a Director and notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected shall have been given to
the Company provided that the minimum length of the period, during
which such notices are given, shall be at least seven days. The period
for lodgment of such notices will commence no earlier than the day
after the dispatch of the notice of the meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than seven days prior to the date of such
meeting.

The detailed procedures regarding the election are published on the
Company’s website under Corporate Governance section.
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Investor Relations

The Company has always recognised the importance of investor
relations activities, as it believes that effective communication with
shareholders and investors is very important to help investors to gain a
better understanding about the Company’s business performance and
strategies.

In 2020, we hosted different types of activities through which
shareholders and investors have increased their understanding about
the Company. During the year, the Company met with more than 1,200
fund managers and analysts by means of investor seminars, advisory
meetings and telephone conferences to introduce the Company’s
operating results, development strategies and business updates.

The Company welcomes any suggestions and participation of
shareholders and investors. Any enquiries and suggestions may
be made by letter, telephone, fax or email to the Investor Relations
Department of the Company according to the contact information set
out below:

China Resources Gas Group Limited
Room 1901-02, China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road

Wanchai

Hong Kong

E-mail: investor-relations@crgas.com.hk
Tel: 852-2593-8200
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PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities of its
principal subsidiaries and joint ventures are set out in note 45 and
note 46 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.

BUSINESS REVIEW

Review of the business of the Group during the year and discussion
on the Group’s prospects, the Group’s compliance with relevant
laws and regulations which have a significant impact on the Group,
relationships with its key stakeholders are provided in the Chairman’s
Statement on pages 2 to 13, Report from the Chief Executive Officer
on pages 14 to 23, Management Discussion and Analysis on pages 27
to 32, Corporate Governance Report on pages 46 to 64 and Directors’
Report on pages 65 to 86 of this annual report. Description of key risk
factors and uncertainties that the Group is facing is provided in the
Chairman’s Statement and Report from the Chief Executive Officer
and note 5 to the consolidated financial statements while the financial
risk management objectives and policies of the Group can be found
in note 41 to the consolidated financial statements. An analysis of the
Group’s performance during the year using financial key performance
indicators is provided in Financial and Operational Highlights on
pages 24 to 26 of this annual report. The Group’s environmental
policies and performance and future prospects of the Group’s
business are provided in the Report from the Chief Executive Officer
on pages 14 to 23 and the Chairman’s Statement on pages 2 to 13 of
this annual report respectively.

RESULTS

The results of the Group for the year ended 31st December, 2020
are set out in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income on pages 97 to 98.

RESERVES

Movements in the reserves of the Group during the year are set out in
the consolidated statement of changes in equity on page 101 to the
consolidated financial statements.

The Company’s reserves available for distribution to shareholders at
31st December, 2020, amounted to HK$7,403,894,000.
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FINAL DIVIDEND

The Directors have resolved to recommend the payment of a final
dividend of 78 HK cents per share. Together with the interim dividend
of 15 HK cents per share paid in October 2020, total distribution for
2020 would thus be 93 HK cents per share (2019: 87 HK cents per
share).

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the forthcoming annual
general meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 15th June, 2021
to shareholders whose names appear on the register of members of
the Company on 28th May, 2021.

DIVIDEND POLICY

In proposing any dividend payment, the Board shall also take into
account the following criteria, including:

o the Company and its subsidiaries’ (collectively, the “Group”)
actual and expected financial performance;

o shareholders’ interests;
° general business conditions and strategies;
° retained earnings and distributable reserves of the Company

and each of the other members of the Group;

° the level of the Group’s debts to equity ratio, return on equity
and financial covenants to which the Group is subject;

o any contractual restrictions on payment of dividends by the
Company to its shareholders or by the Company’s subsidiaries
to the Company;

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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o the Group’s expected working capital requirements and future
expansion plans;

° liquidity position and future commitments at the time of
declaration of dividend,

. taxation considerations;

o possible effects on the Group’s creditworthiness;

. statutory and regulatory restrictions;

o general economic conditions, business cycle of the Group’s

business and other internal or external factors that may have
an impact on the business or financial performance and
position of the Company; and

o other factors that the Board deems appropriate.

The Board may from time to time pay to the shareholders such interim
dividends subject to the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.

Except in the case of interim dividend, any dividends declared by the
Company must be approved by an ordinary resolution of shareholders
at an annual general meeting and must not exceed the amount
recommended by the Board.

Dividends may be distributed in the form of cash or shares subject to

and in accordance with the Companies Act 1981 of Bermuda and the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

The register of members of the Company will be closed from Monday,
17th May, 2021 to Friday, 21st May, 2021, both days inclusive. In
order to determine the identity of members who are entitled to attend
and vote at the annual general meeting to be held on Friday, 21st
May, 2021, completed transfer forms accompanied by the relevant
share certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong
branch share registrar and transfer office, Tricor Secretaries Limited,
at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong not
later than 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 14th May, 2021.

Subject to the approval of shareholders at the annual general meeting,
the proposed final dividend will be payable to shareholders whose
names appear on the register of members of the Company after the
close of business at 4:30 p.m. on Friday, 28th May, 2021 and the
register of members of the Company will be closed from Thursday,
27th May, 2021 to Friday, 28th May, 2021, both days inclusive, during
which no transfer of shares of the Company will be registered. In order
to be entitled to the proposed final dividend, completed transfer forms
accompanied by the relevant share certificates must be lodged with
the Company’s Hong Kong branch share registrar and transfer office,
Tricor Secretaries Limited at Level 54, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s
Road East, Hong Kong not later than 4:30 p.m. on Wednesday, 26th
May, 2021.

CAPITAL STRUCTURE

As at the end of the year, the authorized share capital of the Company
was HK$1,000,000,000 divided into 10,000,000,000 shares of HK$0.10
each, of which 2,314,012,871 shares had been issued and fully paid,
and the reserves of the Group was HK$36,042,886,000. Details of the
movements in the issued share capital of the Company are set out
in the section of Management Discussion and Analysis in this annual
report and note 34 to the consolidated financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

During 2020, the Company continued to make new acquisitions and
invested or paid HK$4.3 billion in 28 city gas projects. Most of these
projects are either wholly owned or majority owned by the Group.
As at 31st December, 2020, CR Gas portfolio included 257 city gas
projects and its footprint covered 22 Chinese provinces and included
3 direct administrative municipalities, 14 provincial capitals and 75
prefecture level cities.

In addition, as at 31st December, 2020, the Company has announced
or the Board has approved another 3 proposed city gas distribution
and related projects with proposed investments of HK$0.63 billion.

GOING CONCERN

On the basis of current financial projections and facilities available,
the Group has adequate financial resources to continue its operation
for the foreseeable future. For this reason, the going concern basis
continues to be adopted in preparing the consolidated financial
statements.

BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

The particulars of bank and other borrowings of the Group as at 31st
December, 2020 are set out in Note 30 to the consolidated financial
statements.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A financial summary of the Group for the last five financial periods is
set out on page 266 of this annual report.

PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of the movements in the property, plant and equipment and
investment properties of the Group during the year are set out in note
14 and note 15 to the consolidated financial statements, respectively.
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INTANGIBLE ASSETS

Details of the movements in the goodwill and operating rights of
the Group during the year are set out in note 20 and note 21 to the
consolidated financial statements, respectively.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

For the year ended 31st December, 2020, the aggregate turnover
attributable to the five largest customers accounted for less than 10%
of the Group’s total turnover.

None of the Directors, their close associates or any shareholders
which to the knowledge of the Directors own more than 5% of the
Company’s share capital has any interest in any of the Group’s five
largest customers or suppliers.

CHARITABLE DONATION

During the year, the Group made donations in cash and in various
forms of goods in the total amount of approximately HK$7,748,160
(2019: HK$9,437,148).

DIRECTORS AND SERVICE CONTRACTS

The Directors of the Company during the year and up to the date of
this annual report are:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Shi Baofeng
Mr. Ge Bin

Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wang Chuandong
Mr. Chen Ying

Mr. Wang Yan
Madam Wan Suet Fei
Mr. Jing Shiging

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Independent Non-executive Directors:

Mr. Wong Tak Shing
Mr. Yu Hon To, David
Mr. Yang Yuchuan
Mr. Hu Xiaoyong

The Company has received an annual confirmation from each
Independent Non-executive Director with each confirming his
independence pursuant to rule 3.13 of the Listing Rules and the
Company still considers such Directors are independent of the
Company.

Pursuant to bye-law 110(A) of the bye-laws of the Company, Mr. Ge
Bin, Madam Wan Suet Fei, Mr. Jing Shiging and Mr. Yang Yuchuan
shall retire from office by rotation at the Annual General Meeting.
Except Mr. Jing Shiging who will not offer himself for re-election due to
job reallocation, the other retiring directors shall be eligible and offer
themselves for re-election at the Annual General Meeting.

None of Directors, including Directors proposed for re-election at
the forthcoming annual general meeting of the Company, has a
service contract with the Company or any of its subsidiaries which
is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of
compensation, other than statutory compensation.

The term of office of each Non-executive Director, including
Independent Non-executive Director, is for a period of three years
subject to requirement that one-third of all the Directors shall retire
from office by rotation at each annual general meeting pursuant to the
Bye-laws of the Company.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENTS AND CONTRACTS

There was no transaction, arrangement or contract of significance
to which the Company or its subsidiary or its holding company or its
fellow subsidiary was a party subsisting during or at the end of the
financial year in which a Director of the Company or his/her connected
entity is or was materially interested, either directly or indirectly.

DIRECTORS’ REMUNERATION

The remuneration payable to each Director is based on his relevant
qualifications, experience and expertise, his duties and responsibilities
and performance of the Company. The current market situation will
also be taken into account. Bonus and incentive awards may be
granted to individual Directors in recognition of their contribution to
the Group. All the aforesaid form the remuneration policy and long
term incentive for Directors of the Company.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed below, as at 31st December, 2020, none of the
Directors, chief executive of the Company and their associates had
any interests or short positions in any shares, underlying shares or
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance
(the “SFQO”")) which were required to be notified to the Company and
the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the
SFO (including interests and short positions which they are deemed
or taken to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required, pursuant to the
Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers,
to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Interests in issued ordinary shares of the Company

FritfEs

BEEIL

HRRKRE BRBEE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

HISREAE? e 20,000 0.0009%
Mr. Wong Tak Shing? Long position

TR LS [5) 300,000 0.0130%

Mr. Wang Chuandong?®
BT -

1. WARZZE-ZF+-A=+—HMH
FARAREBR KA i & 1858
HARB2HEEHITRONED L -

2. EXMEENERRRHESIUE
BHEAHNEE -

3. TERAEWEAEEHEBZ
300,000 f& 7 2 #E % o

(b) RAXFEBEEEBREE (ZER) A
RAR (TEHEE]) SRTEERR
HERDHER

Long position

Notes:

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
ordinary shares and underlying shares of the Company to the total
issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2020.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

Mr. Wang Chuandong was deemed to be interested in 300,000

shares through interests of his spouse.

Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares

of China Resources Beer (Holdings) Company Limited (“CR

Beer”), an associated corporation of the Company

Frit iR

BEEIL

HREIXE R EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

ITERE HE 167,999 0.0052%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

B &E - Notes:

1. WARZZE-ZF+-A=1+—HAAE
AT X AR IR ARRBRR () 4T A 48 ERAG
ERRAEEBEETRONED L

2. EXMEENMERRREHESIUE
BsHEAHNEE -

This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Beer to the total issued
shares of CR Beer as at 31st December, 2020.

All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.
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(c) RELQARMEBLIEEBEMERAR (c) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
(TEHEN ) ERTEERREER of China Resources Land Limited (“CRL”), an associated
B R corporation of the Company
FritfEsR
BEADL
HRRKRE BB EE Aggregate
EEHE Long or short Number of percentage
Name of Director position shares of interest’
PR S & HE 500,000 0.0070%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position
BERZ T e 8,000 0.0001%
Madam Wan Suet Fei Long position
BsE Notes:
1. WARZZEZZEFT_A=T—HBfk 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
R B SRR RABRERR () T B AR RELS ordinary shares and underlying shares of CRL to the total issued
EHBEMEHEFTRONESL shares of CRL as at 31st December, 2020.
2. LEXFEBENAERGRHESUE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
wEEATDREE - capacity as beneficial owner.
(d) REAREBEEEBREHERER (d) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of

RE(FHED ) ERTEBERRM
B R H R

China Resources Power Holdings Company Limited (“CRP”),
an associated corporation of the Company

Frib s

BEADL

HRRKRE BB EE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

TEXRE A 44,000 0.0009%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

st Notes:
1. WARZZ_ZF+_A=1+—HfF 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

EHE LB SABRERO T A ARG
EHENRMEEITRONEDL

2. EXFEEMRERSRMEENE
BHEAHNEE -

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CRP to the total issued
shares of CRP as at 31st December, 2020.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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(e) REQATRMEBEIEEFEERER (e) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
A ([EBEKE]D ERITEERKME China Resources Cement Holdings Limited (“CR Cement”), an
B MR ER associated corporation of the Company

Frib s

BEADL

HREKRE gl 24 Aggregate

BEEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest'

BRIE S oA 230,000 0.0033%
Mr. Chen Ying Long position

Bt Notes:

1. WAR-ZE-ZTE+-_A=t+—HHE 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
R R AR T8 5B ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Cement to the total
EHKREIEHITRODNEDLL - issued shares of CR Cement as at 31st December, 2020.

2. EXFBEBENFERERHBEEUE 2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
wEEATDRFE - capacity as beneficial owner.

( REQAFREBIEEHIBHEEEER (f) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares
AR ([EHBE ) ERITEERRME of China Resources Pharmaceutical Group Limited (“CR
R R Pharm™), an associated corporation of the Company

FrikfEz=

wEES

HRRKRR BRBEE Aggregate

EEHE Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

TEXRE HE 2,000 0.0001%
Mr. Wang Yan Long position

B3 Notes:

1. WARZZ-_TF+=-_A=+—H0F
FEBRELBERREBEROTER
BLHEHBE2PERTRONES
ke -

2. WEERROAMESZIRBRA -

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in
ordinary shares and underlying shares of CR Pharm to the total
issued shares of CR Pharm as at 31st December, 2020.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the spouse of the

Director concerned.

EERREZERBERAF
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(9) RALAEBEIEERERLEEFAR
AR (FHERERITEERERM
B IR A By RS

(g) Interests in issued ordinary shares and underlying shares of
China Resources Mixc Lifestyle Services Limited (“CRM”), an
associated corporation of the Company

Frik ez

wEES

HRERAXRE BHEE Aggregate

EEHR Long or short Number of percentage

Name of Director position shares of interest’

PR & o 2 e 3,461 0.0002%
Mr. Chen Ying? Long position

Bt Notes:
1. WARZZ-_THF+_RA=+—HFH 1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in

FEBEREBREERNTRER
BIEERER2HCHTRONED
L o

2. LXHBRBENMAERGRREAERNE
BEBAFNDEE -

REEEEE

RZZEZENF+ZA—H  AREERH—
A EER S RS ([EmErE )
Bl AEBRKEQRRNKREEE R
BREREBSR2NEBTE - RER
ANEEN - RABARFEERLAEERES
5% WA LFEBERNAR ([RERF])
SAtEEBRESA LTS  EREAQR
AN AN L ARNAEEEBE
MARFBAZERNZETRABNE D
L o

BB EERAETERENEMEHE
WEELER  LREZBEBH A EE
ERERNFREEHRBERELTEEEZ (R
8 WHEIARTNEAHERERWR
ERHEFXLCENG - BIFREETGIRA
mit BBAAERMAMETFRNE
Moo RIBRBFERDEDBROD RAELE
EEMBAR T ETEES ZE R4
#}ERDBIAAR R TR EITRANE5%
$%0.5% "R o

ordinary shares and underlying shares of CRM to the total issued
shares of CRM as at 31st December, 2020.

2. All interests disclosed above are being held by the Director in his
capacity as beneficial owner.

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted a share repurchased
cash award scheme (the “Incentive Award Scheme”), pursuant to
which selected employees of the Group or investee companies (being
any company in which the Company directly or indirectly owns 5%
or more attributable equity interests (the “Investee Company”), and
in calculating the percentage interest so attributed, the percentage
interest held in the Investee Company shall be multiplied by the
percentage interest in each level of entity through which such interest
is held by the Group), are entitled to participate in the Incentive Award
Scheme pursuant to the scheme rules.

The purpose of the Incentive Award Scheme is to recognise and
motivate the contribution of certain employees and to provide
incentives and to enable the Group and the Investee Company in
retaining their existing employees and recruiting additional employees
and to provide them with a direct economic interest in attaining
the long-term business objectives of the Company. Unless early
termination by the Board, the Incentive Award Scheme shall be valid
and effective for a term of 10 years commencing on the adoption
date. The maximum aggregate numbers of award shares which can
be awarded under the Incentive Award Scheme and to a selected
employee throughout its duration are limited to 5% and 0.5% of the
issued share capital of the Company from time to time respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Pursuant to the rules of the Incentive Award Scheme, the Company
has appointed BOCI-Prudential Trustee Limited as trustee (the
“Trustee”), pursuant to which existing shares will be purchased by
the Trustee from the market out of cash contributed by the Group and
be held in trust for the relevant selected employees until such shares
are vested with the relevant selected employees in accordance with
the provisions of the Incentive Award Scheme. A total of 70,000,000
shares were purchased at an aggregate cost of approximately
HK$253,534,680 (including transaction costs) on 7th April, 2009,
representing approximately 4.95% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at date of acquisition. The Company does not intend to
purchase any further share under the Incentive Award Scheme.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive Award
Scheme such that cash instead of award shares will be awarded under
the Incentive Award Scheme. The Company will utilize the proceeds
generated from disposal of the award shares held by the Trustee for
the awards made under the scheme. The awards will be subject to
the approval of the Company’s Remuneration Committee and the cash
under the award will only be given upon fulfillment of relevant vesting
conditions imposed on the date of grant of the award.

The Scheme expired on 1st December, 2018 and the Company was
working on the closure of the Scheme. During 2020, the Company
did not grant any award share. Details of the movement of the award

EDHXT’J}EI’J“ HEmT shares held by the Trustee are as follows:
HERHEE
Number of
award shares
W-ZETAFENA+ARE Purchased on 7th April, 2009 70,000,000
RIE-—ZFERHREE Granted and disposed of during 2010 (1,818,000)
RZE——FREREE Granted and disposed of during 2011 (7,741,496)
RZZE—ZFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2012 (6,893,520)
RIZE—=FREHRHE Granted and disposed of during 2013 (2,268,500)
RZZE—NEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2014 (1,905,100)
R_Z—RAFRHERLE Granted and disposed of during 2015 (1,310,000)
RIE-—REREREE Granted and disposed of during 2016 (2,266,000)
RZE—tEFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2017 (0)
RZZ—NFEREREE Granted and disposed of during 2018 (0)
RZZE-NFRERHE Granted and disposed of during 2019 (0)
RIZ_EFREREE Granted and disposed of during 2020 (0)
RZEZTF+A=+—HmH%E Balance as at 31st December, 2020 45,797,384
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CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

The Company has entered into certain connected transactions with a
number of connected persons, details of which are set out bellow:

Continuing Connected Transactions

During the year, members of the Group have entered into continuing
connected transactions with connected persons which are subject
to the reporting requirements under rule 14A.71 of the Listing Rules,
details of which are summarised herein below. The Company’s
auditor was engaged to report on the Group’s continuing connected
transactions in accordance with Hong Kong Standard on Assurance
Engagements 3000 (Revised) “Assurance Engagements Other
Than Audits or Reviews of Historical Financial Information” and
with reference to Practice Note 740 “Auditor’s Letter on Continuing
Connected Transactions under the Hong Kong Listing Rules” issued
by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. The
auditor has issued an unqualified letter containing findings and
conclusions in respect of the continuing connected transactions
disclosed by the Group as below in accordance with Main Board
Listing Rule 14A.56. The Independent Non-executive Directors have
reviewed the continuing connected transactions and confirmed that
the continuing connected transactions have been entered into:

(i) in the ordinary and usual course of business of the Group;
(i) on normal commercial terms or better; and
(iii) according to the agreements governing them, and on terms that

are fair and reasonable and in the interests of the shareholders
of the Company as a whole.
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Details of the above-mentioned continuing connected transactions and

the actual amount incurred for the year ended 31st December, 2020

or the maximum daily amount are summarised as follows:

For the year
ended

31st December,
2020

BEEbE
(FELR: AK¥811,090,0007T)

ARBEZRMBRARBILARARENER
RAN(—HKRPBERINEREERR - D
ARAREEHEMELRR (B REBRRT
BRAR - KREBEMEAERAE - JURE
BHEEMRRERDA BEMNEHRRERA
AkEHERREAERAR (2HHBEN=
E2-N\E+ZA=+—HIZTE=Z—N
FoA-BARER) NETERR) REXRA
R REIBE -

REZZE-N\F+ZA=+—HZSALAN
BAREILARARKDAERABLREE X
HERART L% - SHISFE -

Sale and Purchase Agreement
(Annual Cap: RMB811,090,000)

Purchase of natural gas for 3 years by a number of
subsidiaries of the Company from Shanxi Natural
Gas Limited (LWAXRARKRMLHBERAF), a limited
liability company established in the PRC which is the
substantial shareholder of the related subsidiaries of
the Company, namely Yangquan China Resources
Gas Limited, Datong China Resources Gas Co., Ltd,
Hongdong China Resources Hengfu Gas Co., Ltd.,
Huozhou China Resources Gas Co., Ltd. and Yangqu
China Resources Gas Co., Limited (all agreements
entered on 31st December, 2018 and effective from 1st
January, 2019).

On 31st December, 2018, these subsidiaries of the
Company entered into new agreements with Shanxi
Natural Gas Limited for the purchase and supply of
natural gas for a further term of 3 years.

ERRRERERAF

AR#629,400,0007T
RMB629,400,000

—E-TEEH
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BE_Z_ZF
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LFENERREEE
Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,

2020

BRA TR

(FE LR : AK¥1,700,000,0005T)

(N R=ZE—NF+ZA=+—8

()b) B T R ARTE 5 -

(if)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

RN R GHE A ERITIRS 83K
BEBRITRODBRAR (TEH
R171) (—EEBRNIKEN T
RIT) AT~ - B=F—Hh
F-A—BRER - AH3E (K
FERRLE—TIER) - EHRN
BRAR (TEBEM D) HEER
RITRA R R ZER R -

R-ZZE-NF+-A=+—8"
AAFGBEHRITERTR KR
FETFFIRTE AT — I % - 7
HIBH (BIFHRICE—TER) -

RRARMERAE
HIRTT 2 B ERITIR -

RZZE—-NF+ZA=+—8H "
AR E) SR A EFE RS B BOR
E#ETERAR ([FEBET]
e B2 —hAEF—A—
BRREM - BHISE (BrIEHRK
H—HER) - EEROBFBEEH
SRR AR -

R=F—NF+=A=+—8
AD A BRI
PRSI S — BH G AM3E
(B IEMRATIE — SR -

Strategic Cooperation Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB1,700,000,000)
(i(a)On 31st December, 2018, the Company

entered into an agreement in respect of the
use of commercial bank services with China
Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd. (“CR Bank”),
a municipal bank headquartered in Zhuhai, for
3 years effective from 1st January, 2019 (unless
extended for a further period). China Resources
Co., Limited (“CRC”") has a controlling interest of
CR Bank and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company
entered into a new agreement in respect of
deposit and non-deposit services received
from CR Bank for 3 years (unless extended for
a further period).

(i)(b)Other than deposit services, the Company

(if)

utilised commercial banking services provided
by CR Bank.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into an agreement in respect of the use of the
trust services with China Resources SZITIC Trust
Co., Ltd., (“CR Trust”), for 3 years effective from
1st January, 2019 (unless extended for a further
period). CRC has a controlling interest of CR
Trust and the Company.

On 31st December, 2018, the Company entered
into a new agreement in respect of non-deposit
services received from CR Trust for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).

Annual Report 2020

AR#1,632,415,0007C
RMB1,632,415,000

TEm
N/A

TEM
N/A



EEERE
Directors’ Report
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Maximum daily amount
during the year ended
31st December,

2020

ERE =

(i)
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(FELR: AKR%2,000,000,000
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AARRARA (REEFMER
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HER (RE) ARAA ([ERE
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BEREERE  BRARREHH
ERAR) - ERERRORER
SEARNRAMESAOER
MEAE (REXAER ETHR
) (ARBEEN) ([FHEE LT
RE) REERMEQTARE
T ARBRETEFNEER
MBS - RE3E (BR3E
HIPRACHE — W HER) »

RZZE—hAF+=ZA=+NHB"
/N /NI R vl oF o2
B A R REBRD (REBR
DR BRSO ERMMBAR) 5k
EHEE LT REUAREE
FOEBERBPEET L RE - A
HASHF (BRIEHRACHE—HER) ©

Framework Loan Agreements
(Annual Cap: RMB2,000,000,000)

(i)

(i)

On 28th December, 2019, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of the
intra-group lending between the Company
(and any of its subsidiaries but exclude entity
established in the PRC) and China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited (“CRH"), a
company incorporated in Hong Kong with
limited liability and intermediate holding
company of the company any company in the
CRC, CRH and its respective subsidiaries,
which is listed on the Main Board of the Stock
Exchange, other than the Company (“China
Resources Group listed company”) and any
of its subsidiaries in respect of Hong Kong
dollars, RMB or, United States dollars loan for
3 years (unless extended for a further period).

On 28th December, 2019, the Company
entered into an agreement in respect of
the intra-group lending between any PRC
established subsidiary of the Company and
CRC (and any PRC established subsidiary
of CRC) or a China Resources Group listed
company in respect of RMB loan for 3 years
(unless extended for a further period).

ERRRERERAF

AR 40,378,000
RMB40,378,000

AR #1,888,533,0007T
RMB1,888,5633,000
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BEALRS

EEREBBREPETHERMEALRS
E?Ia%@ﬁ’\\??/:\.ﬁﬁ‘%i&%ﬁﬁ?m o fRiE T
RAER  BORERFIBREERS - &
E@?&%%WJZZDT :

Related Party Transactions

Details of the material related party transactions in normal course

of business are set out in note 40 to the consolidated financial

statements. Some of these transactions constitute connected

transactions as defined under the Listing Rules which are set out as

follows:

—EDEF
2020
FHAT
HK$’ 000
HE THB AR IEZERRE Sales to non-controlling shareholders of 199,515
subsidiaries
INEESGY YN vES EokeR SN ON Interest income from deposits placed in 13,006
a fellow subsidiary
BIGEL N =PNGIE )= E/E KNI PN Interest income from loan to a fellow 57,794
subsidiary
M EERR A AR B R S A Interest income from loan to an intermediate =
holding company
BB B A R A SRR AR AR 3R (B 7E) Purchase from non-controlling shareholders of 707,941
subsidiaries (Note)
BERRRHBARNHESA Rental expenses paid to fellow subsidiaries -
ERWE AR FEERRROE SR Rental expenses paid to non-controlling 450
shareholders of subsidiaries
B R R A AR A B R Interest expenses paid to an intermediate 51,666

M - BEEBEUARARERNERARRBERA

RARER  REBZE= _$¢+—ﬂ:+
—BIEFE  EBETLEMHRAEI4AERN

WERRE -

holding company

Note: Included purchases of natural gas from Shanxi Natural Gas Limited.

The Company confirms that it has complied with the disclosure

requirements in accordance with Chapter 14A of the Listing Rules for

the year ended 31st December, 2020.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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FERR SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS
BRINATEEEIN  RZT_TF+ A= Save as disclosed below, the Directors and chief executive of the
+—H ' EERARBTEAHEI THEFE Company are not aware that there was any party (other than a Director
A AL (WIFESHARBTHLAR) AR or chief executive of the Company), who, as at 31st December, 2020
NRRGD RAEERG T - BEREZES RS had an interest or short position in the shares and underlying shares of
EEGIEXVEFE 2R3 IR E AR AR A] the Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
WERMESSOAR BN AR AR E the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO or which
HREIEEDIE33615TFE 2 RRZMAE were recorded in the register maintained by the Company pursuant to
KR Section 336 of the SFO:
RAEQXFNERE Long Position in the Company
Frih s
BERAL
BRIKXE BHBE  Aggregate
BRREE 51 Long or short Number of  percentage
Name of shareholder Capacity position shares  of interest'
EHER (MR BRAR EREAA e 1,407,828,991 60.84%
([EBEERR])? Beneficial owner Long position
CRH (Gas) Limited
("CRH Gas"y
EH (8B ARAF? REBIARMER e 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources (Holdings) Controlled company’s interest Long position
Company Limited?
CRC Bluesky Limited S R AR e 1,422,298,991 61.46%
("CRC Bluesky”y? Controlled company’s interest Long position
ERRNDERAR ([EERHR )2 REHIR AR HE 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Inc. (formerly Controlled company’s interest Long position
known as China Resources Co.,
Limited (‘CRCL")?
REEEERAR ([HEEHR])? REHIR AR HE 1,422,298,991 61.46%
China Resources Company Limited ~ Controlled company'’s interest Long position
(“CRNC")?
The Capital Group Companies, Inc.® 1242 A& HE 159,157,280 6.88%
Controlled company’s interest Long position
Capital Research and EREEARZENARMER e 159,157,280 6.88%
Management Company® Beneficial owner and controlled company’s interest Long position

SHMMARRERAR —B-BETH 63
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MEE

1. BARZZEZTF+_A=T—BHFR
MFEBEEARA 2 EBTRONE
b=

2. EHEERRRAGEBERAFADINARD
51,407,828,991 B A% 1% & 14,470,000 5%
B hiEA EEER  ZMRRAFYAE
H(EE)ERATMNEZEWBEBAR -
bt EE(EE) ARRAABERIEREA
AJHY1,422,298,991 BRI 15 A AE -
M (£E) AR2ARARCRC BlueskyHy
2EMBRGF - #EMBEEBRNDE2ER
B EHRODDATEERNZENRBR
Al e Bt - EH(5£E)BRARF - CRC
Bluesky B (7 & B B RIER AR
AAIAI1,422,298,991 B %15 A HERS ©

3. Capital Research and Management
Company R A& E] 154,227,280 % i% 15 &
4,930,000 Bt 7 Bl B B R % 12
7 ° Capital Research and Management
Company &The Capital Group
Companies, Inc. )2 &WEAR + Bt -
The Capital Group Companies, Inc. %
RRARARIR 159,157,280 R A% 1 A 1

5 o
fm

EREBRRNEEBOEE

R-ZE—RFNAKRB » ARF (ERER
A) B —FRITH — B 10 THIFEHE
FRREFTIBRERZ - ZENBEREE
ARGE  BREVEAREBFBEBEHZ
RV AHRAR=FE HBHEER -

Riz ot B e B A e - NR AR
R EE (£E) AR A RAR A
ERAMEERAREETORARED
BITIRAM50% ([FERYEE]) - HE
REMSEROBESBERENSTE B
BEBRITEEMRILERBR, LM
P RMEIE RIRER B B FE T FI B R H A
AR A EAS FOR BN B HS A -

Notes:

1. This represents the percentage of aggregate long position in shares to the
total issued shares of the Company as at 31st December, 2020.

2. CRH Gas and Commotra Company Limited are directly interested in
1,407,828,991 shares and 14,470,000 shares in the Company respectively
and both companies are wholly-owned subsidiaries of China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited. China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited is therefore deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares
of the Company. China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited is a
wholly-owned subsidiary of CRC Bluesky, which is in turn wholly-owned
by CRCL. CRCL is a wholly-owned subsidiary of CRNC. China Resources
(Holdings) Company Limited, CRC Bluesky, CRCL and CRNC are therefore
deemed to be interested in 1,422,298,991 shares of the Company.

3. Capital Research and Management Company was directly and
indirectly interested in 154,227,280 shares and 4,930,000 shares in the
Company respectively. Capital Research and Management Company is
a wholly-owned subsidiary of The Capital Group Companies, Inc. The
Capital Group Companies, Inc. is therefore deemed to be interested in
159,157,280 shares of the Company.

SPECIFIC PERFORMANCE OBLIGATIONS ON
CONTROLLING SHAREHOLDER

On 6th August, 2015, the Company, as borrower, entered into a facility
agreement in relation to a HK$1,000 million 3-year term loan facility
with a bank. The loan facility is unsecured and interest bearing with
any outstanding amounts to be repaid in full on the date falling three
years from the date of the facility agreement.

Pursuant to the aforesaid facility agreements and facility letter, the
controlling shareholder of the Company, China Resources (Holdings)
Company Limited is required, at all times, to hold an aggregate
beneficial ownership (directly or indirectly) of not less than 50% in
the issued share capital of the Company (the “Specific Performance
Obligation”). It will be an event of default if the Specific Performance
Obligation is breached; and in such case, the relevant banks
shall declare the commitments to be cancelled and/or declare all
outstanding amounts together with interests accrued thereon and
all other sums payable by the Company to be immediately due and
payable.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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DIRECTORS’ RIGHTS TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

Save as disclosed in this report, at no time during the year was the
Company, its parent company, or any of its subsidiaries or fellow
subsidiaries a party to any arrangements to enable the directors
to acquire benefits by means of the acquisition of shares in, or
debentures of, the Company or any other body corporate.

PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISION

Save and except so far as the provisions of the Bye-law shall be
avoided by any provisions of the Statutes, the Board, President,
Vice-president, Managing Directors, alternate Directors, Secretary
and other officers for the time being of the Company and the trustees
(if any) for the time being acting in relation to any of the affairs of the
Company, and their respective executors or administrators, shall be
indemnified and secured harmless out of the assets of the Company
from and against all actions, costs, charges, losses, damages and
expenses which they or any of them, their or any of their executors
or administrators, shall or may incur or sustain by reason of any act
done, concurred in or omitted in or about the execution of their duty
or supposed duty in their respective offices or trusts, except such (if
any) as they shall incur or sustain through their own wilful neglect or
default, fraud and dishonesty respectively.

The Company has taken out insurance against the liabilities and costs
associated with defending any proceedings which may be brought
against the Directors of the Company.

EQUITY-LINKED AGREEMENTS

Save as disclosed in this report, no equity-linked agreements were
entered into during the year or subsisted at the end of the year.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE
COMPANY’S LISTED SECURITIES

Other than as disclosed in this report, neither the Company nor any of
its subsidiaries purchased, sold or redeemed any of the Company’s
securities during the year ended 31st December, 2020.

EEMRERBERAT —E-TFFR
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PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Company’s
bye-laws although there are no restrictions against such rights under
the laws of Bermuda.

PUBLIC FLOAT

An announced by the Company on 25th April, 2019, the public float
of the Company has fallen 25% of the total issued share capital of the
Company held by the public as prescribed by Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the
Listing Rules.

Immediately after completion of the Placing pursuant to the Top-up
Placing, Underwriting and Subscription Agreement on 14 May 2020,
the public float of the Company has been restored to more than 25%
of the issued share capital of the Company in compliance with the
Public Float Requirements.

Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company
and within the knowledge of its Directors, as at the date of this annual
report, there is sufficient public float of not less than 25% of the
Company’s issued shares as required under the Listing Rules.

AUDITOR

The financial statements for the year have been audited by Messrs
Ernst & Young. A resolution will be submitted to the forthcoming
annual general meeting of the Company to re-appoint Messrs Ernst &
Young as the auditor of the Company.

On behalf of the Board

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
Chairman

WANG Chuandong

Hong Kong, 26th March, 2021

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Independent Auditor’'s Report

Rk

To the members of China Resources Gas Group Limited
(Incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements of China
Resources Gas Group Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(the “Group”) set out on pages 97 to 265, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 31st December,
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of changes in
equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then
ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and
fair view of the consolidated financial position of the Group as at 31st
December, 2020, and of its consolidated financial performance and
its consolidated cash flows for the year then ended in accordance
with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (‘HKFRSs”) issued by
the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”)
and have been properly prepared in compliance with the disclosure
requirements of Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on
Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our responsibilities under
those standards are further described in the Auditor’'s responsibilities
for the audit of the consolidated financial statements section of our
report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the
HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants (the “Code”),
and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance
with the Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.

EHRRERERAT —B-BFEER
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Key audit matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional
judgement, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated
financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial
statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we
do not provide a separate opinion on these matters. For each matter
below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is
provided in the context.

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s
responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements
section of our report, including in relation to these matters.
Accordingly, our audit included the performance of procedures
designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material
misstatement of the consolidated financial statements. The results of
our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address
the matters below, provide the basis for our audit opinion on the
accompanying consolidated financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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BRETEE Key audit matter

BRENSEEFTPNMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter

PIER Bl (E 1 Impairment assessment on goodwill

BRI HESEEENReEAEN ([REELS We identified the impairment assessment on goodwill as a key

7 1) &R [ 580 M B K (R R
R AR EF ERERERESSHE -

» E B3R
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o FEERRETE CERYETHETLRE
SEHEFFEAYEOBRER) R BH
RAFTEREHTRIE -

audit matter due to the involvement of significant judgements
and assumptions in estimating the recoverable amounts of the
cash-generated units (“CGUs") to which the goodwill has been
allocated.

As at 31st December, 2020, the carrying amount of goodwill was
HK$903,956,000. As disclosed in note 20 to the consolidated
financial statements, goodwill acquired in a business
combination was allocated to the CGUs that were expected
to benefit from that business combination. Management
considered that each subsidiary represents a separate CGU
for the purpose of goodwill impairment testing. The recoverable
amounts of the CGUs were determined based on the value-
in-use calculations, which required the Group to estimate
the future cash flows expected to arise from the CGUs and a
suitable discount rate in order to calculate the present value.

Our procedures in relation to the impairment assessment on
goodwill included:

e Obtaining an understanding of the key control over
impairment and management’s process and basis used
in preparing the cash flow forecasts, including significant
assumptions;

e Assessing the appropriateness of the discount rate
used by assessing the cost of capital of the Company
and comparable organisations in the industry, and
assessing the appropriateness of revenue growth rates,
profit margins by comparing actual results for the year
against the previous period’s forecasts, and where
relevant, involving our internal valuation specialists to
independently develop expectations for the discount rate,
and comparing the independent expectations to those
used by management;

e Evaluating the cash flow forecasts used, by comparing
them to the recent performance and trend analysis; and

e Assessing the adequacy of the disclosures made in
the financial statements on the impairment assessment,
specifically on the key assumptions that have the most
significant effect on the determination of the recoverable
amount of the goodwill.
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BRETEE Key audit matter
BRENSEEFTPNMEE How our audit addressed the key audit matter
WA TR Revenue recognition
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We identified the recognition of gas connection income,
margins, assets related to contract works and contract
liabilities as a key audit matter due to the involvement of a
number of judgements in the recognition.

As disclosed in notes 6, 24 and 28 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group recorded gas connection income
amounting to HK$9,969,201,000 for the year ended 31st
December, 2020 and recognised assets related to contract
works and contract liabilities amounting to HK$3,534,472,000
and HK$15,174,058,000, respectively, as at 31st December,
2020.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection
is recognised using the percentage of completion method,
measured by reference to the costs incurred during the
year relative to the estimated total costs of the contract,
which requires the status of contracts to be assessed on
a regular basis. The management of the Group exercises
significant judgements in assessing the extent of progress
in the satisfaction of the performance obligation in gas
connection contracts, the valuation of contract variations, the
completeness and accuracy of forecast costs to complete,
and the ability to deliver contracts within forecast timescales.
The complexity of the above assessment process applied in
the Group’s recognition policies on gas connection requires
significant judgements and could have a material impact
on the revenue, margins, assets related to contract works
and contract liabilities reported in the consolidated financial
statements.

Our procedures in relation to the recognition of gas connection
income, margins, assets related to contract works and contract

liabilities included:

. Obtaining an understanding of the accounting policies
related to gas connection income, and reviewing the
construction contracts on a sample basis to assess the
appropriateness of revenue recognition;

° Testing the key controls over the contract budgeting and
management process;
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Discussing with management to assess the assumptions
used in the recognition and management’'s key
judgements involved in determining the extent of work;

Reviewing the construction progress reports on a sample
basis prepared by project managers by agreeing the
contract sum and budgeted total costs to the respective
signed contracts and approved budgets and checking
material costs and labour costs incurred to purchase
invoices and internal payroll records, and recalculating
the performance progress with the input method based
on the costs incurred and the budgeted total costs;

Evaluating the historical accuracy of the Group's
estimates on the progress in the satisfaction of the
performance obligation through identifying if there were
any late adjustments on the same contracts across
different years and checking the completion of selected
contracts through evidencing the delivery of completed
contracts; and

Performing the analytical review procedures by

comparing gas connection income and margins over the
different periods.
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Interests in joint ventures
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We identified interests in joint ventures as a key audit matter
due to the significance of these investments to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements as a whole and the
involvement of judgements in the recognition of gas connection
income which could affect the amount of interests in joint
ventures as at 31st December, 2020 and the share of results of
joint ventures for the year then ended.

The Group’s principal joint ventures were engaged in the
business of the sale of natural gas, liquefied gas and the
connection of gas pipelines as set out in note 46 to the
consolidated financial statements. As disclosed in note 17 to
the consolidated financial statements, the carrying amount
of interests in joint ventures as at 31st December, 2020 and
the gas connection income of the joint ventures for the year
ended 31st December, 2020 were HK$12,114,832,000 and
HK$3,558,794,000 in aggregate, respectively.

Due to the involvement of judgement explained in the above
key audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”, we considered
the recognition of connection income as one of our focus areas

in the component audits of the significant joint ventures.

Our procedures in relation to the interests in joint ventures
included:

o Comparing the accounting policies and estimates
adopted by the joint ventures to assess the consistency
with the Group’s accounting policies in all material
aspects;

o Obtaining an understanding of the Group’s significant
joint ventures by reading their financial information
and discussing with their respective management and
component audit teams about the financial performance,
significant events which occurred during the year and
the key areas of judgement made in preparing their
financial information to identify and assess the risks that
are significant to the audit of the Group’s consolidated
financial statements;
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o Evaluating the sufficiency and appropriateness of
audit evidence obtained from work performed by the
component audit teams of the significant joint ventures
of the Group by reviewing their audit documentation and
discussing the results of their work with them; and

o Working with component audit teams of the significant
joint ventures to Carry out those procedures set out in the
above key audit matter entitled “Revenue recognition”.

Other information included in the Annual Report

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information included
in the Annual Report, other than the consolidated financial statements
and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover
the other information and we do not express any form of assurance

conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements,
our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so,
consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with
the consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in
the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If, based
on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material
misstatement of this other information, we are required to report that
fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Responsibilities of the directors for the consolidated financial

statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of
the consolidated financial statements that give a true and fair view in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure
requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such
internal control as the directors determine is necessary to enable the
preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
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In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors of the
Company are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue
as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless the
directors of the Company either intend to liquidate the Group or to
cease operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors of the Company are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s financial
reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated

financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the
consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s
report that includes our opinion. Our report is made solely to you, as
a body, in accordance with Section 90 of the Bermuda Companies
Act 1981, and for no other purpose. We do not assume responsibility
towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this
report.

Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will
always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements
can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if,
individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgement and maintain professional scepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

° Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the
consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud or error,
design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks,
and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate
to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a
material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for
one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery,
intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of
internal control.
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° Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the
circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion
on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal control.

° Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the
reasonableness of accounting estimates and related disclosures
made by the directors.

° Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related
to events or conditions that may cast significant doubt on the
Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude
that a material uncertainty exists, we are required to draw
attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the
consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are
inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on
the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report.
However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to
cease to continue as a going concern.

o Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the
consolidated financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the
underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair
presentation.

o Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities within
the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial
statements. We are responsible for the direction, supervision and
performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for
our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among other
matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and significant
audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control
that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that we have
complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding independence,
and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where
applicable, actions taken to eliminate threats or safeguards applied.
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From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee, we
determine those matters that were of most significance in the audit
of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and
are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters in our
auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure
about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we
determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report
because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably
be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such
communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in the independent
auditor’s report is Tjen, Michael.

Ernst & Young

Certified Public Accountants
Hong Kong

26th March, 2021
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

—ECEF ZT-NF
2020 2019
{iFs3 FiEx FTAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$’' 000
(&51)
(Restated)
WA Revenue 6 55,864,169 56,976,290
HEMA Cost of sales (40,836,692) (42,762,709)
EH Gross profit 15,027,477 14,213,581
H A Other income 7 1,397,652 1,550,182
HERDHERS Selling and distribution expenses (4,663,717) (4,550,109)
THFS Administrative expenses (3,168,075) (2,917,417)
CRRANEEZRERBESFE  Impairment losses on financial and
contract assets, net (68,968) (79,842)
BT AR Finance costs 8 (449,420) (532,967)
BEEERREE Share of results of joint ventures 656,895 502,482
il NI Share of results of associates 258,419 235,638
PR 7% Al A Profit before taxation 8,990,263 8,421,548
BE Taxation 10 (2,278,375) (1,921,805)
FREF Profit for the year 6,711,888 6,499,743
Hih 2 Other comprehensive income
FREMEEKEE /(L) Other comprehensive income/(expense)
for the year
BHEUREEF A EZEHEL  Item that may be subsequently reclassified
to profit or loss
BREEARERER Exchange differences arising on translation 3,094,857 (680,577)
BETEEF A EZHEBHEE  Item that will not be subsequently
reclassified to profit or loss
EEARANFEFAEMEE Equity investments designated at fair value
W R AREE through other comprehensive income:
NTEE S (NREIE) Changes in fair value, net of tax (989) 19,400
FREM2ERE OBRHIE) Other comprehensive income for the year,
net of tax 3,093,868 (661,177)
FREAKDBE Total comprehensive income for the year 9,805,756 5,838,566
ATATEEFERRT Profit for the year attributable to:
(SYNSIEZZ=PN Owners of the parent 5,151,292 5,043,477
RS Non-controlling interests 1,560,596 1,456,266
6,711,888 6,499,743
ZHMRERERAT —ZE=ZFFH
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

—ECEF —T-NF
2020 2019
{iFs3 FiEx FTAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(&51)
(Restated)
AT ALTEEFEAZER S Total comprehensive income for the year
Gk attributable to:
SYNSIEZZ=DN Owners of the parent 7,479,431 4,391,551
IR Non-controlling interests 2,326,325 1,447,015
9,805,756 5,838,566
BT BT
HKS$ HK$
(&71)
(Restated)
FIREF Earnings per share
AR Basic 2.31 2.32
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It S 35 —Z-NE —E-NE
+=A=+t-8B +ZA=+—H —R—A
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2020 2019 2019
k3 TERT FET FET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$'000
(E31) (&31)
(Restated) (Restated)
FRBEE Non-current assets
mE - BERERE Property, plant and equipment 14 40,932,770 33,940,512 31,588,685
REME Investment properties 15 89,425 81,727 68,182
FEREEE Right-of-use assets 16(a) 2,816,236 2,526,102 2,505,436
=N/ O] Interests in joint ventures 17 12,114,832 9,230,984 9,250,414
N A=WNGI Interests in associates 18 4,082,026 3,811,134 3,438,449
BEAEATEFALMEZRE Equity investments designated
e RA R & at fair value through other
comprehensive income 19 153,100 146,258 123,605
mE Goodwill 20 903,956 669,370 668,860
mEE Operating rights 21 1,476,285 1,185,695 1,234,006
EIERIBEE Deferred tax assets 33 345,422 278,090 266,220
mERRe Deposits for operating rights 1,954 3,143 1,593
FREEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets 65,825 139,578 68,223
BEWE  BERLERS Deposits for purchase of
property, plant and
equipment 247,585 141,609 309,642
ERBEELTE Total non-current assets 63,229,416 52,154,202 49,523,315
MEEE Current assets
"rE Inventories 22 1,006,828 1,007,501 954,367
R E 5 Bk 3% % E b PR Uk Trade and other receivables 23 12,645,694 11,768,204 11,066,636
ARIREBEE Assets related to contract works 24 3,534,472 3,386,424 2,650,530
BEMRITER Pledged bank deposits 25 12,193 5,208 7,550
RITEHREIRE Bank balances and cash 26 13,442,206 13,502,481 10,700,979
MBI EERE Total current assets 30,641,393 29,669,818 25,380,062
mEaR Current liabilities
FET & 5 BR 30 R E i FE TR Trade and other payables 27 20,193,275 22,099,422 18,758,459
AREE Contract liabilities 28 15,174,058 13,235,923 12,489,088
BtEE & Government grants 29 74,439 91,223 72,681
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 2,548,358 2,031,347 2,634,961
HEAE Lease liabilities 16(b) 98,946 92,177 88,168
FERTE Taxation payable 933,609 739,512 715,975
mBBEEE Total current liabilities 39,022,685 38,289,604 34,759,332
nEaEFE Net current liabilities (8,381,292) (8,619,786) (9,379,270)
BEERRDER Total assets less current liabilities 54,848,124 43,534,416 40,144,045
EHERJERBRLAT —ZB_ZFFR
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ZBCIER —T-NEF —T-NE
+=ZA=t+-H +-A=1+—8~ —A—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2020 2019 2019
FiisE TER TAET FAET
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
(£51) (Z51)
(Restated) (Restated)
3 Equity
R Share capital 34 231,401 222,401 222,401
e Reserves 36,042,886 26,573,036 23,858,719
BARRE ANEGER Equity attributable to owners of
the parent 36,274,287 26,795,437 24,081,120
RS Non-controlling interests 10,594,072 9,026,778 7,968,447
AR Total equity 46,868,359 35,822,215 32,049,567
A=K Non-current liabilities
BT B Government grants 29 252,705 254,107 204,247
BIREMEE Bank and other borrowings 30 298,575 285,261 251,382
HEAE Lease liabilities 16(b) 219,530 268,990 378,262
BERE Senior notes 31 5,535,664 5,545,404 5,823,508
HinRHAE Other long-term liabilities 32 477,613 243,845 188,647
BEHEEE Deferred tax liabilities 33 1,195,678 1,114,594 1,228,432
FRBEEEE Total non-current liabilities 7,979,765 7,712,201 8,094,478
54,848,124 43,534,416 40,144,045
BITE265 B ViV BBMAKEHBESS The consolidated financial statements on pages 97 to 265 were

RIBE-Z—F=A-+ B EREET
BIWHTIALIRRESSEE

TER
WANG CHUANDONG
BF
DIRECTOR
E2:
CHAIRMAN

approved and authorised for issue by the Board of Directors on 26th

March, 2021 and are signed on its behalf by:

kL
SHI BAOFENG
B0
DIRECTOR
CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

BRARAAEL
Attributable to owners of the parent
REBTE
Re  RBEE  SAER  ERRE  ENHE RECRR  EEEBE  GHRE  REEA Nt FEREE REEE
Shares
held
for
incentive Non-
Share Share Contributed ~ Capital Translation ~ award Other ~ Merger  Retained controlling ~ Total
capital  premium  surplus  reserve  reserve  scheme  reserves  reserve  profits  Sub-otal interests  equity
Thn  TEr TR TEn TR TR TR TEr  TEr TEr TEn TAn
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK§'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000  HK$'000  HKS'000
(Wika)  (K3kb) (ikc) (M)
(Notea) ~ (Note b) (Notec) ~ (Note d)
R=E5-N5-A-ARJ At 1st January, 2019, as previously stated 222401 6378643 7,388,600 2053 (1272,744)  (166,250) 3,056,066 (8,727,518) 17,181,187 24,081,120 7,527,360 31,608,480
LREHERERA VS Effect of business combination of entiies

(Kizt2) under common control (note 2) - - - - - - - - = - 4087 441,087
RZ5-NE-A-R(E5)) At 1st January, 2019 (Restated) 222401 6378,643 7,388,600 053 (1272,744)  (166,250) 3,056,266 (8,727518) 17,181,187 24,081,120 7,968,447 32,049,567
ERgH Profit for the year - - - - - - - - 5043477 5043477 1,456,266 6,499,743
RAFETALZEAENRE  Change in fair value of equity

REATEES (MR5E) investments at fai value through other

comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - - 9,79% - - 9,79% 9606 19400
FRASELNESZEREM  Exchange differences arising on
2EkE iranslation and other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - (661,720) - - - - (661,720  (18,857) (680,577)
Fh2E (FR)/ S Total comprehensive (expense)/income

for the year - - - - (661,720) - 9,794 - 5043477 4391551 1447015 5838566
FERERTE Capital contrbuton from non-controling

interests - - - - - - - - - - 13659 13,659
SHak Business combinations = - - = - - - = - B AR TR

fike (M) Dividends paid (note 12) = - = = = - - - (1677,234) (1677,234) - (1677,234)

BRNEAREERELRS Dividends paid to non-controling

interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (543458) (543458)
BREETIEL Transfer from retained profits - - - - = - 53T - (578717) - - -
R=F-NE+-A=1-R At 31st December, 2019 (Restated)

(&) 222401 6378643 7,388,600 2053 (1934464)  (166,250) 3,639,777 (8727518) 19973713 26795437 9,026,778 35,822,215
RZ2-25-A-AKH At 1st January, 2020, as previously stated 202,401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20535 (1,934,464) (166,250) 3,639,777 (8,727,518) 19,973,713 26,795,437 8,561,346 35,356,783
AREHEEERA T2 Fffect of business combination of entiies

(o) under common control (note 2) - - - - - - - - - - AG5432 465432
R=2-%5-A-R(E5) At 1st January, 2020 (Restated) 22,401 6,378,643 7,388,600 20,535 (1934464)  (166,250) 3,639,777 (8,727,518) 19,973,713 26,795,437 9,026,778 35,822,215
ERigH Profitfor the year - - - - - - - - 5151202 5151292 1,560,596 6,711,888
RATETAL2ASEMEE  Change in fair value of equity

REATRES (MRFE) investments at fai value through other

comprehensive income, net of tax - - - - - - (649) - - (649) (340)  (%89)
FRASELNESZERAM  Exchange differences arising on
e translation and other comprehensive

income for the year - - - - 2,328,788 - - - - 2,328,788 766,069 3,094,857
FREENEEE Total comprehensive income for the year - - - - 2,328,788 - (649) - 5151202 7479431 2,326,325 9,805,756
FARERTE Capital contrbution from non-controling

interests - - - - - - - - - - 174823 174,823
£iak () Business combinations (note 37) - - - - - - - - - - 582,965 562,965
BENBLA BMER Acquisiion of addtional interests in

subsidares - - - T - - - - - (M5 (e3054) (300499)
HALERBA (W) Partial disposal of subsidiaries (note 45) - - - 361,266 - - - - - %1266 156375 519,641
Bl (Wikss) Share issue (note 34) 9,000 3,659,945 - - - - - - - 3,668,945 - 3,668,945
BRRE (Mik12) Dividends paid (note 12) - - - - - - - - (1,073.347) (1,073,347) - (1,973,347
ERHBAREERERRS Dividends paid to non-controling

interests of subsidiaries - - - - - - - - - - (1,432,140) (1,432,140
AREETEL Transfer from retained profits - - - - - - 571564 - (577564) - - -
R-3-%5+-A=1-R At 31st December, 2020 231401 10,008,588 7,388,600 324356 394324  (166,250) 4,216,692 (8,727,518) 22,574,004 36,274,287 10,594,072 46,868,359

EERRERBERAF
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

Notes:

Pursuant to the approval of a special resolution at the special
general meeting of the Company on 30th May, 2011, the amount of
HK$7,388,600,000 standing to the credit of share premium has been
reduced and transferred to the contributed surplus. The contributed
surplus is a distributable reserve and will be used for the payment of
dividends and for such other purposes as allowed by the Companies Act
1981 of Bermuda.

The capital reserve arose from (i) discount on acquisition of joint ventures
from an intermediate holding company and fellow subsidiaries of the
Group in prior years; and (ii) the difference between the amount by which
the non-controlling interests are adjusted and the consideration paid for
the acquisition of additional interests in subsidiaries.

Other reserves comprise the changes in fair value of equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income, general
reserve, statutory surplus reserve, enterprise expansion fund, statutory
public welfare fund and discretionary surplus reserve of subsidiaries
established in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”), and the
changes in net assets attributable to the Group in relation to the increase
in ownership interests in subsidiaries through cash injection.

The general reserve is appropriated each year on the basis of 5% to
10% of the profit after taxation of certain subsidiaries as determined by
their board of directors in accordance with the articles of association of
the subsidiaries. This reserve should only be used for making up losses,
capitalisation into capital and expansion of production and operation.

The merger reserve represented the difference between (i) the cash
consideration paid, deemed distribution to a fellow subsidiary and shares
issued by the Company; and (ii) the amount of issued capital and premium
of the combined entities under group reorganisations.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

—ECEF —T-NF
2020 2019
{iFs3 FiEx FTAT
NOTES HK$’ 000 HK$’' 000
(&51)
(Restated)
K OPERATING ACTIVITIES
B 258 A1 e A Profit before taxation 8,990,263 8,421,548
T Adjustments for:
AR AR Finance costs 8 449,420 532,967
ISR PN Interest income 7 (364,737) (364,135)
BATEGFAHMEERE Dividend income from equity
B AR & B RR B M A investments at fair value through
other comprehensive income 7 (2,036) (8,213)
B ERBAT S Government grants recognised 7 (147,662) (108,420)
BlEEeERrREE AR Share of profits and losses of joint

i M) 2 518 ventures and associates (915,314) (738,120)

HEME - BERREBE Loss on disposal of property, plant

and equipment 9 12,553 10,731
HEFRAELEENER Loss on disposal of right-of-use

assets 9 1,068 388
HESE ATk Gain on disposal of joint ventures 7 (6,165) (153)
HE — KBk & A R Gain on disposal of an associate 7 (169) -
RAELEHME AR DI Gain on deemed disposal of partial

ol g interest in an associate 7 - (224,083)
FEUE 5 8RR E Impairment of trade receivables 9 70,818 72,723
Hib el som A, CRiE Impairment/(reversal of impairment)

#m) of other receivables 9 (9,652) (5,435)
EREERE Impairment of contract assets 9 7,802 12,554
M - BB REREBITE Depreciation of property, plant and

equipment 9 1,873,436 1,712,830
FRREERE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 9 176,218 184,646
REMERE Depreciation of investment
properties 9 4,007 3,952

ol 2 Amortisation of operating rights 9 64,817 63,465
EELSFHIMELERS Operating cash flows before

mE movements in working capital 10,204,667 9,577,245
BFERLD /(M) Decrease/(Increase) in inventories 61,998 (75,339)
FEUE 5 B 3 e H A B MR Decrease/(increase) in trade and other

wd(3En) receivables 246,306 (846,122)
ARIREBEERD Decrease/(increase) in assets related

(3g) to contract works 66,075 (808,145)
FERTE 5 BR 30 K A FE A 5K (Decrease)/increase in trade and other

OGm),/ 180 payables (871,340) 1,852,837
ERAREEM Increase in contract liabilities 1,028,930 928,645
REEREENES Cash generated from operations 10,736,636 10,629,121
ERHPEEEMER PRC Enterprise Income Tax paid (2,120,606) (2,027,360)
REEKRFMBRESTFE NET CASH FROM OPERATING

ACTIVITIES 8,616,030 8,601,761
FARRERERAT —T-TEEH
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

—ECEF —T-NF
2020 2019
FHEx FTAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(&51)
(Restated)
REEK INVESTING ACTIVITIES
& B H ik & FT 15 E Proceeds from redemption of other
deposits 41,942,197 32,740,658
AR RR A BB K Repayment from an intermediate
holding company - 555,829
BlRAEERRIKE Dividends received from joint ventures 292,097 295,538
SN Dividends received from associates 144,544 106,904
BUF 8 Interest received 360,300 364,616
LEME - BERZERS Proceeds from disposal of property,
I plant and equipment 78,997 149,731
RAEHENBARB = Proceeds from deemed disposal of
FriS 508 partial interest in subsidiaries 347,531 =
mMEEYE BELREBB Receipt of government grants for
MBI REE S property, plant and equipment 129,476 158,311
REREEBEITER Withdrawal of pledged bank deposits - 2,177
W BB BB A Rl Acquisition of subsidiaries (632,985) 52,963
T B b A7 5K Placement of other deposits (41,512,743) (33,036,390)

BEVE  BERKZEOMNR

Payments for acquisition of property,

plant and equipment (4,283,076) (8,956,461)
A @) R B B A AR B3R Advances of loans to a fellow

BN subsidiary (367,259) (781,611)
REEERAMER Repayment from joint ventures 7,921 12,331
REBEARMNER (A  Repayment from/(advances of loans to)

ERRIREMHERRR) associates 21,326 (50,571)
REERRINRE Investments in joint ventures (3,148,441) (44,467)
REEE R R E Investments in associates (17,499) (3,339)
BEYE  BELRRELZRS Deposits for purchase of property,

plant and equipment (91,715) (106,162)
EREEERS Deposits for right-of-use assets (62,324) (62,054)
KRS Deposits for operating rights (1,850) (1,585)
g ﬁéﬁm Payments for operating rights (103,904) (24,707)
EREEERMNR Payments for right-of-use assets (295,833) (271,222)
FERAERRITER Placement of pledged bank deposits (6,650) =
REXKFARSFE NET CASH USED IN INVESTING

ACTIVITIES (7,199,890) (3,899,511)

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



BE_T_FFE+_A=+—HILFE

II/T\

Iﬁzél)lbiﬂ%
Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

—ECEF —T-NF
2020 2019
FHEx FTAT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(&51)
(Restated)
mEEK FINANCING ACTIVITIES
BITRRD Issue of shares 3,668,945 =
IBIRT R HEMEE New bank and other loans 2,111,002 4,882,052
(W':F'F'EJT Qj}f ),/ FEXt  (Repayment to)/amount due to an
R R B FIE intermediate holding company (2,500,000) 1,500,000
JEHH/?MT ENCIEA Amount due to fellow subsidiaries 29,862 280,048
(ﬁé\%ﬁ’/} BR) /J?Eﬁ/\“ (Repayment to)/amount due to joint
NGIE 6 ventures (273,518) 215,458
FEfF ﬁﬁéf" I ([EEE%  Amount due to/(repayment to)
~AEER) associates (6,851) (36,197)
BEIWE A R TR R Repayment to non-controlling interests
of subsidiaries (25,281) (15,356)
IR T E Contribution from non-controlling
shareholders 222,610 13,659
EERRITREMEE Repayment of bank and other loans (1,632,008) (5,453,814)
EfRE Dividends paid (1,973,347) (1,677,234)
EARE G SN Dividends paid to non-controlling
shareholders (1,159,457) (543,458)
EARFE Interest paid (466,408) (504,061)
BERELERRE Repayment of senior notes - (276,988)
HAHONREZT S Principal portion of lease payments (90,835) (118,459)
BMEXKTARSFE NET CASH USED IN FINANCING
ACTIVITIES (2,095,286) (1,734,350)
REeERRESESEYIENFE NET INCREASE IN CASH AND CASH
EQUIVALENTS (679,146) 2,967,900
FNRERBESEEY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BEGINNING OF THE YEAR 13,502,481 10,700,979
EXFeHTE  FH Effect of exchange rate changes, net 618,871 (166,398)
FRASRASEMY CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT
BRITHBRES END OF THE YEAR, REPRESENTED
BY BANK BALANCES AND CASH 13,442,206 13,502,481
ZHMRERERAT —ZE=ZFFH
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B ([ B ) R RA] o AR AR
MEEREZLE A MU ARE
BRARRER —HRKE -

FEMBHRRABT ([EIL]) 25
RARARBAR/—RBROREBER
FrEmH EH AR - MEKRLHKRE
ENEEE  ARARREERRE
AR E RS F A RSB E
RAETEREHE -

REBEAREMBHRER  BR
ER-ZZFE-_FTEF+=_A=+—8H
AEEMNRBHEBERAERHE
E8,381,292,000 8 T h AEBEAF
B AR AEYE307,369,0008 T 0 AR
AIEEEEES EAEERARRT
FBEERRN - R-_E_TE+_A
=+—8 AEEMRTREME
B4 $£2,846,933,0008 7T © Heh
2,548,358,000 B T D EARB A
& ARAIEERE - NEEERT
WRITAECHLERSIRAAEEH
BIEERMERNRES

AABEFRE Bt RAEBARE
FHERITREE 12,108,971,000/8 7T &
RNHBELEESR EEMBEE A%
EERAREBESARR_ZT_ZF
+ZA=+—HEBHARTZEAN
BEBXR - Bt - RIREMIEHRE A
BECEEETURR -

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

GENERAL

The Company is a listed public company incorporated in
Bermuda as an exempted company with limited liability and
its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The Company’s intermediate
parent company is China Resources (Holdings) Company
Limited (“CRH"), a company incorporated in Hong Kong, and its
ultimate holding company is China Resources Company Limited
("CRCL") (formerly known as “China Resources National Corp.”),
a company established in the People’s Republic of China (the
“PRC”). The addresses of the registered office and principal
place of business of the Company are disclosed in the Corporate
Information of the annual report.

The Company is an investment holding company. The activities
of its principal subsidiaries, joint ventures and associates are set
out in notes 45, 46 and 47, respectively.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$") as the Company is a public company with
its shares listed on the Stock Exchange in Hong Kong where
most of its investors are located, and therefore, the directors of
the Company consider that HK$ is preferable in presenting the
operating results and financial position of the Group.

BASIS OF PREPARATION

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
of the Company have given careful consideration to the future
liquidity of the Group in light of the fact that the Group’s current
liabilities exceeded its current assets by HK$8,381,292,000, and
the Group had capital commitments of HK$307,369,000 as at
31st December, 2020. As at 31st December, 2020, the Group
had bank and other borrowings totalling HK$2,846,933,000, of
which HK$2,548,358,000 was classified as current liabilities. The
directors of the Company are of the opinion that there are good
track records and relationship with banks which would enhance
the Group’s ability on renewing the borrowing facilities.

The directors of the Company are of the opinion that, taking into
account of the unutilised banking facilities of HK$12,108,971,000
and internally generated funds of the Group and the other factors
described above, the Group has sufficient working capital
for its present requirements for the next twelve months from
31st December, 2020. Accordingly, the consolidated financial
statements have been prepared on a going concern basis.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



mAEEZE (&)
AR ER
HEREE# TG OB EBE b

Eéf7f7¢+ A=+—HBIEHF
A REER T _TFE+ A=+
_Elwﬁéfﬂ?‘gzge 451,000 7T A
BUE=HBERESERRRER
AR ([=ESEH]) FEHN28.9809%
i At - AEERZTESERE
HIEE66.4331% K2 - WithlF
EEEH-

HRRE %Eifﬂa’a%al\zs 5669% %
R BEE BB A RDRIEKIRE
E’ﬁ%@*ﬁﬁﬁAﬂ(ﬂFzﬁﬁ&ﬁJ)hﬁ " i
RUEE B BRI - ARERFESE
,FEJi’jEEEPI%E/Fﬁ #l - BRI IE

BHE AR BEERESSS
.#Eﬂi"A(riS/% TR A ) B

BERTIESI B [ EREHIE 08
N#ﬁ% ] (T25T1E51%E5%5 ) s
WmEa g RANZIELRZEHEE
G0 o

BmAMEHRE REBFHZEA
EBEERZHEEHEHERALER
AR - REBERCEERARE
REBREHARZRTHREE - I8
MEE S UEE N RW BT 2 AT
ﬁ&*%%&ﬁW%%Z%ﬂiﬁZ
%*Eﬁ EHEHERZRAZ
%mgﬁﬁﬁ EHEZBEESN
%ﬁﬁ?ﬁm%%ﬂ%°

#+=Z=
BHE_

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Merger Accounting Restatement

Merger Accounting Business Combination Under Common Control
During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group acquired
additional 28.9809% equity interests in RESZEBERRAR A
AI(‘R285%F)E") from an independent third-party for a cash
consideration of HK$296,451,000 on 22nd December, 2020, and
therefore, the Group totally had 66.4331% voting right in R£5&
#8, and controlled over R2 5% 4.

The Group and Z2&#%H are both under the control of CRCL
before and after the date of acquisition, as another 23.5669%
equity interests of ZRE28%H were held by FIEKIEE LA
ARAR(HEKIE"), a subsidiary of CRCL, and that control is
not transitory and hence the acquisition has been accounted
for as a combination of entities under common control by
applying the principles of merger accounting in accordance with
Accounting Guideline 5 “Merger Accounting for Common Control
Combinations” (*“AG 5") issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”).

the results of 25 H have
been combined from the date when they first came under the
S%EH have
been reflected at their existing carrying values at the date

Under merger accounting,

control of CRCL. The assets and liabilities of &£

of combination. No amount has been recognised in respect
of goodwill or excess of the acquirer's interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination,
which, instead, has been recorded in other reserves in equity.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

BASIS OF PREPARATION (CONTINUED)

Merger Accounting Restatement (Continued)

Merger Accounting Business Combination Under Common Control
(Continued)

Accordingly, the consolidated statements of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income, the consolidated statement of
changes in equity and the consolidated statement of cash flows
for the year ended 31st December, 2019 have been restated to
include the assets and liabilities and the operating results of &
E£8#H. The consolidated statement of financial position as at
1st January, 2019 and 31st December, 2019 have been restated
to include the carrying amounts of the assets and liabilities of Z&
25% 8 and the carrying value of the interests in the associate
and the shares of results of Z25% M have been eliminated
respectively.

The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
income statement for the year ended 31st December,
2019 has resulted in an increase in the Group’s revenue of
HK$1,141,177,000 and has no impact on the Group’s profit
attributable to owners of the Company.

The effect of restatements described above on the consolidated
statement of financial position as at 1st January, 2019 and 31st
December, 2019 has resulted in an increase in the Group’s total
equity by HK$441,087,000 and HK$465,432,000, respectively.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES

The Group has adopted the Conceptual Framework for Financial

Reporting 2018 and the following revised HKFRSs for the first

time for the current year’s financial statements.

Amendments to HKFRS 3

Amendments to HKFRS 9,

Definition of a Business

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7

Amendment to HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKAS 1

Covid-19-Related Rent
Concessions (early adopted)

Definition of Material

and HKAS 8

The nature and the impact of the Conceptual Framework for

Financial Reporting 2018 and the revised HKFRSs are described

below:

(a)

Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting 2018 (the
“Conceptual Framework”) sets out a comprehensive set of
concepts for financial reporting and standard setting, and
provides guidance for preparers of financial statements in
developing consistent accounting policies and assistance
to all parties to understand and interpret the standards.
The Conceptual Framework includes new chapters on
measurement and reporting financial performance, new
guidance on the derecognition of assets and liabilities, and
updated definitions and recognition criteria for assets and
liabilities. It also clarifies the roles of stewardship, prudence
and measurement uncertainty in financial reporting. The
Conceptual Framework is not a standard, and none of
the concepts contained therein override the concepts or
requirements in any standard. The Conceptual Framework
did not have any significant impact on the financial position
and performance of the Group.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND

CLOSURES (CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 clarify and provide additional
guidance on the definition of a business. The amendments
clarify that for an integrated set of activities and assets
to be considered a business, it must include, at a
minimum, an input and a substantive process that together
significantly contribute to the ability to create output. A
business can exist without including all of the inputs and
processes needed to create outputs. The amendments
remove the assessment of whether market participants
are capable of acquiring the business and continue to
produce outputs. Instead, the focus is on whether acquired
inputs and acquired substantive processes together
significantly contribute to the ability to create outputs. The
amendments have also narrowed the definition of outputs
to focus on goods or services provided to customers,
investment income or other income from ordinary activities.
Furthermore, the amendments provide guidance to
assess whether an acquired process is substantive and
introduce an optional fair value concentration test to permit
a simplified assessment of whether an acquired set of
activities and assets is not a business. The Group has
applied the amendments prospectively to transactions or
other events that occurred on or after 1st January, 2020.
The amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group.

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 address
issues affecting financial reporting in the period before
the replacement of an existing interest rate benchmark
with an alternative risk-free rate (“RFR”). The amendments
provide temporary reliefs which enable hedge accounting
to continue during the period of uncertainty before
the introduction of the alternative RFR. In addition, the
amendments require companies to provide additional
information to investors about their hedging relationships
which are directly affected by these uncertainties. The
amendments did not have any impact on the financial
position and performance of the Group as the Group does
not have any interest rate hedging relationships.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.1 CHANGES IN ACCOUNTING POLICIES AND
DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

(d)

(e)

Amendment to HKFRS 16 provides a practical expedient for
lessees to elect not to apply lease modification accounting
for rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the
covid-19 pandemic. The practical expedient applies only
to rent concessions occurring as a direct consequence of
the pandemic and only if (i) the change in lease payments
results in revised consideration for the lease that is
substantially the same as, or less than, the consideration
for the lease immediately preceding the change; (ii)
any reduction in lease payments affects only payments
originally due on or before 30th June, 2021; and (iii) there
is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of
the lease. The amendment is effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st June, 2020 with earlier application
permitted and shall be applied retrospectively.

Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 provide a new
definition of material. The new definition states that
information is material if omitting, misstating or obscuring
it could reasonably be expected to influence decisions
that the primary users of general purpose financial
statements make on the basis of those financial statements.
The amendments clarify that materiality will depend on
the nature or magnitude of information, or both. The
amendments did not have any significant impact on the
financial position and performance of the Group.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

The Group has not applied the following new and revised
HKFRSs, that have been issued but not yet effective, in these

financial statements.
Amendments to HKFRS 3
Amendments to HKFRS 9,

HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7,
HKFRS 4 and HKFRS 16

Amendments to HKFRS 10

and HKAS 28 (2011)

HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKFRS 17

Amendments to HKAS 1

Amendments to HKAS 16

Amendments to HKAS 37

Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2018-2020

Annual Report 2020

Reference to the Conceptual
Framework?

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform
- Phase 2

Sale or Contribution of Assets
between an Investor and
its Associate or Joint Venture

Insurance Contracts®

Insurance Contracts® ©

Classification of Liabilities as
Current or Non-current®.®

Property, Plant and Equijpment:
Proceeds before Intended Us€?

Onerous Contracts - Cost of Fulfilling
a Contract?

Amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9,
[llustrative Examples accompanying
HKFRS 16, and HKAS 412
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BE-_ZT-_TFE+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

! Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2021

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2022

s Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023

& No mandatory effective date yet determined but available for
adoption

8 As a consequence of the amendments to HKAS 1, Hong Kong

Interpretation 5 Presentation of Financial Statements — Classification
by the Borrower of a Term Loan that Contains a Repayment
on Demand Clause was revised in October 2020 to align the
corresponding wording with no change in conclusion

6 As a consequence of the amendments to HKFRS 17 issued in
October 2020, HKFRS 4 was amended to extend the temporary
exemption that permits insurers to apply HKAS 39 rather than
HKFRS 9 for annual periods beginning before 1st January, 2023

Further information about those HKFRSs that are expected to be
applicable to the Group is described as below.

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2020
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 3 are intended to replace a reference
to the previous Framework for the Preparation and Presentation
of Financial Statements with a reference to the Conceptual
Framework for Financial Reporting issued in June 2018 without
significantly changing its requirements. The amendments also
add to HKFRS 3 an exception to its recognition principle for an
entity to refer to the Conceptual Framework to determine what
constitutes an asset or a liability. The exception specifies that, for
liabilities and contingent liabilities that would be within the scope
of HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21 if they were incurred separately
rather than assumed in a business combination, an entity
applying HKFRS 3 should refer to HKAS 37 or HK(IFRIC)-Int 21
respectively instead of the Conceptual Framework. Furthermore,
the amendments clarify that contingent assets do not qualify for
recognition at the acquisition date. The Group expects to adopt
the amendments prospectively from 1st January, 2022. Since
the amendments apply prospectively to business combinations
for which the acquisition date is on or after the date of first
application, the Group will not be affected by these amendments
on the date of transition.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 9, HKAS 39, HKFRS 7, HKFRS 4
and HKFRS 16 address issues not dealt with in the previous
amendments which affect financial reporting when an existing
interest rate benchmark is replaced with an alternative RFR. The
Phase 2 amendments provide a practical expedient to allow
the effective interest rate to be updated without adjusting the
carrying amount when accounting for changes in the basis for
determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and
liabilities, if the change is a direct consequence of the interest
rate benchmark reform and the new basis for determining
the contractual cash flows is economically equivalent to the
previous basis immediately preceding the change. In addition,
the amendments permit changes required by the interest rate
benchmark reform to be made to hedge designations and
hedge documentation without the hedging relationship being
discontinued. Any gains or losses that could arise on transition
are dealt with through the normal requirements of HKFRS 9 to
measure and recognise hedge ineffectiveness. The amendments
also provide a temporary relief to entities from having to meet the
separately identifiable requirement when an RFR is designated
as a risk component. The relief allows an entity, upon designation
of the hedge, to assume that the separately identifiable
requirement is met, provided the entity reasonably expects the
RFR risk component to become separately identifiable within the
next 24 months. Furthermore, the amendments require an entity
to disclose additional information to enable users of financial
statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark
reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management
strategy. The amendments are effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1st January, 2021 and shall be applied
retrospectively, but entities are not required to restate the
comparative information.

The Group had certain interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings denominated in Hong Kong dollars and foreign
currencies based on the Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate
and the London Interbank Offered Rate (‘LIBOR”) as at 31st
December, 2020. If the interest rates of these borrowings are
replaced by RFRs in a future period, the Group will apply this
practical expedient upon the modification of these borrowings
when the “economically equivalent” criterion is met and expects
that no significant modification gain or loss will arise as a result
of applying the amendments to these changes.
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BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.2 EEMERAKERNE B 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 (2011) address an
inconsistency between the requirements in HKFRS 10 and
in HKAS 28 (2011) in dealing with the sale or contribution of
assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture.
The amendments require a full recognition of a gain or loss
when the sale or contribution of assets between an investor
and its associate or joint venture constitutes a business. For a
transaction involving assets that do not constitute a business,
a gain or loss resulting from the transaction is recognised in
the investor’s profit or loss only to the extent of the unrelated
investor’s interest in that associate or joint venture. The
amendments are to be applied prospectively. The previous
mandatory effective date of amendments to HKFRS 10 and
HKAS 28 (2011) was removed by the HKICPA in January 2016
and a new mandatory effective date will be determined after
the completion of a broader review of accounting for associates
and joint ventures. However, the amendments are available for

adoption now.

Amendments to HKAS 1 clarify the requirements for classifying
liabilities as current or non-current. The amendments specify
that if an entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability is subject
to the entity complying with specified conditions, the entity
has a right to defer settlement of the liability at the end of the
reporting period if it complies with those conditions at that date.
Classification of a liability is unaffected by the likelihood that
the entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of the liability.
The amendments also clarify the situations that are considered
a settlement of a liability. The amendments are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after 1st January, 2023 and shall
be applied retrospectively. Earlier application is permitted. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



e R ERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

3.2 EEMERAKERNE B 3.2 ISSUED BUT NOT YET EFFECTIVE HONG

HHREER (&)

EREEENFE16RMETELER
ez - BB RREEE WA T
BEEZEEZEDRERERES
BB EME ERENBIER H
SEBWERMAERIEAE - ERER
ERS N EEAZEIRRNMSHA
AR ZEERB AR ATAE RS -
FZFEEIR-_FT-__F—-—A—HzxZ
BAMZFEHEER  WIEEWE
RARERERERZEFE NM R
RHP 2V EF RN 2R
HERWYE  BELRBER - &
FHERIER - MRS EITEHAE
SENPBHRRERTMNERTE -

BB GTTEREI7THRMIEITES - 5
BERBSSHEMEI7THIHEOR
CBZEMS ' BITAHNKAERE
AN EERENKRA - BENEE
R A BIEBITZ A LG 2K
N(PIMBEZELETRME) REETT
BHEEMABNEMK RS (Fla0
BITAENMAYE BERZREER
MITEBRIPEUARANEEETEN
AR) o —MRITREAANEE W EEZE
& BRIFGNEREEAIREFH
KWEHEBR  GRTEEER - 2B
SR —F—A— Az ERE
ZEEHMER  LERHEBNE R
FERZ SIS FE RS BB
HEARBITHMBEEBNELNER - &
FFIRBIERA - BREAZEENE
MEBYERERLSEXERBSD
HOERNAR  MBAEILRE
o BHRZE BT TS U AREEMNE
BHRREKTMAERTE -

KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS
(CONTINUED)

Amendments to HKAS 16 prohibit an entity from deducting
from the cost of an item of property, plant and equipment any
proceeds from selling items produced while bringing that asset
to the location and condition necessary for it to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management. Instead, an
entity recognises the proceeds from selling any such items, and
the cost of those items, in profit or loss. The amendments are
effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1st January,
2022 and shall be applied retrospectively only to items of
property, plant and equipment made available for use on or after
the beginning of the earliest period presented in the financial
statements in which the entity first applies the amendments.
Earlier application is permitted. The amendments are not
expected to have any significant impact on the Group’s financial
statements.

Amendments to HKAS 37 clarify that for the purpose of
assessing whether a contract is onerous under HKAS 37, the
cost of fulfilling the contract comprises the costs that relate
directly to the contract. Costs that relate directly to a contract
include both the incremental costs of fulfilling that contract (e.g.,
direct labour and materials) and an allocation of other costs that
relate directly to fulfilling that contract (e.g., an allocation of the
depreciation charge for an item of property, plant and equipment
used in fulfilling the contract as well as contract management
and supervision costs). General and administrative costs do not
relate directly to a contract and are excluded unless they are
explicitly chargeable to the counterparty under the contract.
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after 1st January, 2022 and shall be applied to contracts
for which an entity has not yet fulfilled all its obligations at the
beginning of the annual reporting period in which it first applies
the amendments. Earlier application is permitted. Any cumulative
effect of initially applying the amendments shall be recognised
as an adjustment to the opening equity at the date of initial
application without restating the comparative information. The
amendments are not expected to have any significant impact on
the Group’s financial statements.
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KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING STANDARDS

(CONTINUED)
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Annual Improvements to HKFRSs 2018-2020 sets out
amendments to HKFRS 1, HKFRS 9, lllustrative Examples
accompanying HKFRS 16, and HKAS 41. Details of the
amendments that are expected to be applicable to the Group are

&0 REBGTHERE 41 FROERT o as follows:

EHEERRASEEMNEFBAN

T

o BRYVBRELENFEIRZHT e HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments: clarifies the fees that an
A BREBRFEIET &S entity includes when assessing whether the terms of a
HEMBENKIERESHAE new or modified financial liability are substantially different
HERERFEEREZERES from the terms of the original financial liability. These fees
MER ZEEREBREERA include only those paid or received between the borrower
HERAZEE X Eme & and the lender, including fees paid or received by either the
A BEERAXERARKHE borrower or lender on the other’s behalf. An entity applies
7 B NSER B R - B the amendment to financial liabilities that are modified or
EACHIN SN C =N A exchanged on or after the beginning of the annual reporting
BRI FERE BHE B2 period in which the entity first applies the amendment. The
BERIRROESRBE - %IE amendment is effective for annual periods beginning on or
AR —F—H—HB3E after 1st January, 2022. Earlier application is permitted. The
FR 2 FE B AR o EFTRA amendment is not expected to have a significant impact on
FEA - BHIZEII T HAEE the Group’s financial statements.
ISR ER R EATE -

e BERUBMESEAEI165HA e HKFRS 16 Leases: removes the illustration of payments

B MpEsMBREElFE16
SIRENEP 1SR AEBEEY
HREHHTEANREG A o a8
HERREREBY RS LRSS
165% A B H &R R IB 18

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

from the lessor relating to leasehold improvements in
[llustrative Example 13 accompanying HKFRS 16. This
removes potential confusion regarding the treatment of
lease incentives when applying HKFRS 16.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared in
accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include applicable disclosures
required by the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the
Stock Exchange and by the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared on
the historical cost basis except for certain financial instruments
which are measured at fair values at the end of each reporting
period, as explained in the accounting policies set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset
or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction between
market participants at the measurement date, regardless of
whether that price is directly observable or estimated using
another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value
of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into account the
characteristics of the asset or liability if market participants
would take those characteristics into account when pricing
the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for
measurement and/or disclosure purposes in these consolidated
financial statements is determined on such a basis, except for
share-based payment transactions that are within the scope
of HKFRS 2 Share-based payment, leasing transactions that
are within the scope of HKAS 17, and measurements that have
some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such as net
realisable value in HKAS 2 /nventories or value in use in HKAS
36 Impairment of assets.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on the
degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements are
observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair value

measurement in its entirety, which are described as follows:

o Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity can
access at the measurement date;

o Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices included
within Level 1, that are observable for the asset or liability,
either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved where the
Company:

° has power over the investee;

o is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
° has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee if

facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to one
or more of the three elements of control listed above.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

When the Group has less than a majority of the voting rights of
an investee, it has power over the investee when the voting rights
are sufficient to give it the practical ability to direct the relevant
activities of the investee unilaterally. The Group considers all
relevant facts and circumstances in assessing whether or not
the Group’s voting rights in an investee are sufficient to give it
power, including:

o the size of the Group’s holding of voting rights relative to the
size and dispersion of holdings of the other vote holders;

o potential voting rights held by the Group, other vote holders
or other parties;

o rights arising from other contractual arrangements; and

o the current ability to direct the relevant activities at the time
that decisions need to be made, including voting patterns
at previous shareholders’ meetings.

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the year are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income from the date the Group gains control
until the date when the Group ceases to control the subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of subsidiaries
is attributed to the owners of the Company and to the non-
controlling interests even if this results in the non-controlling
interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies into
line with the Group’s accounting policies.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of the
Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries

Changes in the Group’s ownership interests in existing
subsidiaries that do not result in the Group losing control over
the subsidiaries are accounted for as equity transactions. The
carrying amounts of the Group’s relevant components of equity
and the non-controlling interests are adjusted to reflect the
changes in their relative interests in the subsidiaries, including
re-attribution of relevant reserves between the Group and the
non-controlling interests according to the Group's and the non-
controlling interests’ proportionate interests.

Any difference between the amount by which the non-controlling
interests are adjusted after re-attribution of the relevant equity
component, and the fair value of the consideration paid or
received is recognised directly in equity and attributed to owners

of the Company.

Business combinations

Acquisitions of businesses that are not combinations of business
under common control are accounted for using the acquisition
method. The consideration transferred in a business combination
is measured at fair value, which is calculated as the sum of
the acquisition-date fair values of the assets transferred by the
Group, liabilities incurred by the Group to the former owners
of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group in
exchange for control of the acquiree. Acquisition-related costs
are generally recognised in profit or loss as incurred.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



TESTBER (#)

EBAH (B

EFEN— AT DRAEREY 1
FALEE M N EA TR AR
RAR—EELBE  AEERAK
EURE—IE T -

RUEERE - B 2 AT BRI B E R
FrAdE 2 BETIRIEE RIZ QT ERE
R HELATERERS

e BREHHEEXREREERA
LHMEAMNEELRBANEE
DERB B G ERFE 125 [ F
BRI REBGFEANFE 195
[fEBEH | R KAE

o BRI AR D AER A
KR BRI UL B TT 9 LA RX
D BERKNRRY M LA
S B SARD BER N R B
EHMBEIER TR TR
BRRRBEBYBMEERE2
SAtE K&

e REFEMBHREEIELR
[(FELENFERBEERER
IEREE | D EARIERER
BE(FHEEAR) BIBEZLER

B

FERNMERZNRE  JFERER
RBWBE TR e 2B RKES LT
FAZ BT g 2 A FE (I E )
Z KA - R PTUOE Z FT B E KR
WiE AP AEZ BEZFER I
HHZ ZRETE - WEEME - TR
Br@nEERMmARBERNKE
B2 FERRNERAE  FFEK
R TR U IE 77 P PTG £ BRIA KR
FAEREZREB T gz A FE
(WF) Z#HM - BIZEAKNEER
ERRHBEUREYE -

HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

e R ERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

The Group determines that it has acquired a business when the
acquired set of activities and assets includes an input and a
substantive process that together significantly contribute to the
ability to create outputs.

At the acquisition date, the identifiable assets acquired and
the liabilities assumed are recognised at their fair value at the
acquisition date, except that:

o deferred tax assets or liabilities, and assets or liabilities
or assets related to employee benefit arrangements are
recognised and measured in accordance with HKAS 12
Income taxes and HKAS 19 Employee benefits respectively;

o liabilities or equity instruments related to share-based
payment arrangements of the acquiree or share-based
payment arrangements of the Group entered into to replace
share-based payment arrangements of the acquiree are
measured in accordance with HKFRS 2 at the acquisition
date; and

o assets (or disposal groups) that are classified as held
for sale in accordance with HKFRS 5 Non-current assets
held for sale and discontinued operations are measured in
accordance with that standard.

Goodwill is measured as the excess of the sum of the
consideration transferred, the amount of any non-controlling
interests in the acquiree, and the fair value of the acquirer’s
previously held equity interest in the acquiree (if any) over the
net amount of the identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities
assumed as at acquisition date. If, after re-assessment, the net of
the acquisition-date amounts of the identifiable assets acquired
and liabilities assumed exceeds the sum of the consideration
transferred, the amount of any non-controlling interests in the
acquiree and the fair value of the acquirer’s previously held
interest in the acquiree (if any), the excess is recognised
immediately in profit or loss as a bargain purchase gain.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Business combinations (Continued)

Non-controlling interests that are present ownership interests
and entitle their holders to a proportionate share of the relevant
subsidiary’s net assets in the event of liquidation are initially
measured at the non-controlling interests’ proportionate share of
the recognised amounts of the acquiree’s identifiable net assets
or at fair value. The choice of measurement basis is made on a
transaction-by-transaction basis. Other types of non-controlling
interests are measured at their fair value.

Merger accounting for business combinations involving
entities under common control

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements items of the combining entities or businesses in
which the common control combination occurs as if they had
been combined from the date when the combining entities or
businesses first came under the control of the controlling party.

The net assets of the combining entities or businesses are
consolidated using the existing book values from the ultimate
controlling parties’ perspective. No amount is recognised in
respect of goodwill or excess of acquirer’s interest in the net fair
value of acquiree’s identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent
liabilities over cost at the time of common control combination, to
the extent of the continuation of the controlling party’s interest.

The consolidated statement of comprehensive income includes
the results of each of the combining entities or businesses from
the earliest date presented or since the date when the combining
entities or businesses first came under the common control,
where this is a shorter period and up to the date of disposal, as
appropriate.

The comparative amounts in the consolidated financial
statements are restated as if the entities or businesses had been
combined at the previous reporting period or when they first
came under common control, whichever is shorter and up to the
date of disposal, as appropriate.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Goodwill

Goodwill arising on an acquisition of a business is carried at cost
as established at the date of acquisition of the business (see the
accounting policy above) less accumulated impairment losses, if
any.

For the purposes of impairment testing, goodwill is allocated to
each of the Group’s cash-generating units (or groups of cash-
generating units) that are expected to benefit from the synergies
of the combination, which represent the lowest level at which the
goodwill is monitored for internal management purposes and not
larger than an operating segment.

A cash-generating unit (or group of cash-generating units) to
which goodwill has been allocated is tested for impairment
annually, or more frequently whenever there is indication that the
unit may be impaired. For goodwill arising on an acquisition in
a reporting period, the cash-generating unit (or group of cash-
generating units) to which goodwill has been allocated is tested
If the
recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit is less than its

for impairment before the end of that reporting period.

carrying amount, the impairment loss is allocated first to reduce
the carrying amount of any goodwill, and then to the other assets
on a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset
in the unit (or group of cash-generating units).

On disposal of the relevant cash-generating unit, the attributable
amount of goodwill is included in the determination of the amount
of profit or loss on disposal (or any of the cash-generating
unit within group of cash-generating units in which the Group
monitors goodwill).

The Group’s policy for goodwill arising on the acquisition of an
associate and a joint venture is described below.

Investments in associates and joint ventures

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant
influence. Significant influence is the power to participate in the
financial and operating policy decisions of the investee but is not
control or joint control over those policies.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

A joint venture is a joint arrangement whereby the parties that
have joint control of the arrangement have rights to the net
assets of the joint arrangement. Joint control is the contractually
agreed sharing of control of an arrangement, which exists only
when decisions about the relevant activities require unanimous
consent of the parties sharing control.

The results and assets and liabilities of associates or joint
ventures are incorporated in these consolidated financial
statements using the equity method of accounting. The financial
statements of associates and joint ventures used for equity
accounting purposes are prepared using uniform accounting
policies as those of the Group for like transactions and events in
similar circumstances. Under the equity method, an investment
in an associate or a joint venture is initially recognised in the
consolidated statement of financial position at cost and adjusted
thereafter to recognise the Group’s share of the profit or loss
and other comprehensive income of the associate or joint
venture. Changes in net assets of the associate/joint venture
other than profit or loss and other comprehensive income are
not accounted for unless such changes resulted in changes in
ownership interest held by the Group. When the Group’s share
of losses of an associate or a joint venture exceeds the Group’s
interest in that associate or joint venture, the Group discontinues
recognising its share of further losses. Additional losses are
recognised only to the extent that the Group has incurred legal
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the
associate or joint venture.

An investment in an associate or a joint venture is accounted
for using the equity method from the date on which the investee
becomes an associate or a joint venture. On acquisition of the
investment in an associate or a joint venture, any excess of the
cost of the investment over the Group’s share of the net fair
value of the identifiable assets and liabilities of the investee is
recognised as goodwill, which is included within the carrying
amount of the investment. Any excess of the Group’s share of the
net fair value of the identifiable assets and liabilities over the cost
of the investment, after reassessment, is recognised immediately
in profit or loss in the period in which the investment is acquired.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The requirements of HKAS 39 are applied to determine whether
it is necessary to recognise any impairment loss with respect
to the Group’s investment in an associate or a joint venture.
When necessary, the entire carrying amount of the investment
(including goodwill) is tested for impairment in accordance with
HKAS 36 as a single asset by comparing its recoverable amount
(higher of value in use and fair value less costs of disposal)
with its carrying amount. Any impairment loss recognised forms
part of the carrying amount of the investment. Any reversal of
that impairment loss is recognised in accordance with HKAS
36 to the extent that the recoverable amount of the investment
subsequently increases.

When the Group ceases to have significant influence over an
associate or joint control over a joint venture, it is accounted
for as a disposal of the entire interest in the investee with a
resulting gain or loss being recognised in profit or loss. When
the Group retains an interest in the former associate or joint
venture and the retained interest is a financial asset within the
scope of HKAS 39, the Group measures the retained interest at
fair value at that date and the fair value is regarded as its fair
value on initial recognition. The difference between the carrying
amount of the associate or joint venture and the fair value of
any retained interest and any proceeds from disposing the
relevant interest in the associate or joint venture is included in
the determination of the gain or loss on disposal of the associate
or joint venture. In addition, the Group accounts for all amounts
previously recognised in other comprehensive income in relation
to that associate or joint venture on the same basis as would be
required if that associate or joint venture had directly disposed
of the related assets or liabilities. Therefore, if a gain or loss
previously recognised in other comprehensive income by that
associate or joint venture would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities, the Group
reclassifies the gain or loss from equity to profit or loss (as a
reclassification adjustment) upon disposal/partial disposal of the
relevant associate or joint venture.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments in associates and joint ventures (Continued)

The Group continues to use the equity method when an
investment in an associate becomes an investment in a
joint venture or an investment in a joint venture becomes an
investment in an associate. There is no remeasurement to fair
value upon such changes in ownership interests.

When the Group reduces its ownership interest in an associate
or a joint venture but the Group continues to use the equity
method, the Group reclassifies to profit or loss the proportion
of the gain or loss that had previously been recognised in other
comprehensive income relating to that reduction in ownership
interest if that gain or loss would be reclassified to profit or loss
on the disposal of the related assets or liabilities.

When a group entity transacts with an associate or a joint venture
of the Group, profits and losses resulting from the transactions
with the associate or joint venture are recognised in the Group’s
consolidated financial statements only to the extent of interests in
the associate or joint venture that are not related to the Group.

Revenue recognition
Revenue from contracts with customers

Revenue from contracts with customers is recognised when
control of goods or services is transferred to the customers at
an amount that reflects the consideration to which the Group
expects to be entitled in exchange for those goods or services.

When the consideration in a contract includes a variable amount,
the amount of consideration is estimated to which the Group will
be entitled in exchange for transferring the goods or services to
the customer. The variable consideration is estimated at contract
inception and constrained until it is highly probable that a
significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative revenue
recognised will not occur when the associated uncertainty with
the variable consideration is subsequently resolved.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

When the contract contains a financing component which
provides the customer with a significant benefit of financing the
transfer of goods or services to the customer for more than one
year, revenue is measured at the present value of the amount
receivable, discounted using the discount rate that would be
reflected in a separate financing transaction between the Group
and the customer at contract inception. When the contract
contains a financing component which provides the Group with
a significant financial benefit for more than one year, revenue
recognised under the contract includes the interest expense
accreted on the contract liability under the effective interest
method. For a contract where the period between the payment by
the customer and the transfer of the promised goods or services
is one year or less, the transaction price is not adjusted for the
effects of a significant financing component, using the practical
expedient in HKFRS 15.

(a) Sale of goods (including gas fuel, gas appliances and
related products)

Revenue from the sale of industrial products is recognised
at the point in time when control of the asset is transferred
to the customer, generally on delivery of the industrial
products.

(b) Gas connection/design and construction services

Revenue from the provision of gas connection and design
and construction services is recognised over time,
using an input method to measure progress towards
complete satisfaction of the service, because the Group’s
performance creates or enhances an asset that the
customer controls as the asset is created or enhanced. The
input method recognises revenue based on the proportion
of the costs incurred, relative to the estimated total costs for
satisfaction of the construction services.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)
Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)

(b) Gas connection/design and construction services
(Continued)

Claims to customers are amounts that the Group seeks to
collect from the customers as reimbursement of costs and
margins for scope of works not included in the original
construction contract. Claims are accounted for as variable
consideration and constrained until it is highly probable that
a significant revenue reversal in the amount of cumulative
revenue recognised will not occur when the associated
uncertainty with the variable consideration is subsequently
resolved. The Group uses the expected value method to
estimate the amounts of claims because this method best
predicts the amount of variable consideration to which the
Group will be entitled.

Revenue from other sources

Rental income is recognised on a time proportion basis over the
lease terms. Variable lease payments that do not depend on
an index or a rate are recognised as income in the accounting
period in which they are incurred.

Other income

Interest income is recognised on an accrual basis using the
effective interest method by applying the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts over the expected
life of the financial instrument or a shorter period, when
appropriate, to the net carrying amount of the financial asset.

Dividend income is recognised when the shareholders’ right to
receive payment has been established, it is probable that the
economic benefits associated with the dividend will flow to the
Group and the amount of the dividend can be measured reliably.

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable and represents amounts receivable
for goods sold and services provided in the normal course of
business, net of discounts and taxes.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Revenue recognition (Continued)

Revenue is recognised when the amount of revenue can be
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic
benefits will flow to the Group and when specific criteria have
been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below.

Revenue from a construction contract for gas connection is
recognised when the outcome of the construction contract for
gas connection can be estimated reliably and the stage of
completion at the end of reporting period can be measured
reliably. Revenue from and expenses on construction contracts
for gas connection are recognised using the percentage of
completion method, measured by reference to the costs incurred
during the year relative to the estimated total costs of the
contract. When the outcome of a construction contract for gas
connection cannot be estimated reliably, revenue is recognised
only to the extent of contract cost incurred that is probable to be
recoverable.

Revenue from gas supply is recognised when gas is used by
customers.

Revenue from sales of goods is recognised when goods are
delivered and title has passed.

Service income is recognised when services are provided.

Interest income is accrued on a time basis, by reference to the
principal outstanding and at the effective interest rate applicable,
which is the rate that exactly discounts the estimated future cash
receipts through the expected life of the financial asset to that

asset’s net carrying amount on initial recognition.

Dividend income from investments is recognised when the
shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been established.

The Group’s accounting policy for recognition of revenue from

operating leases is described in the accounting policy for leasing
below.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Contract assets

named “Assets related to contract works” as at 31st December,

2020.

Contract liabilities

the customer).

Contract costs

BE are met:

(a) BEKAKNEEEAFEMZRZ (a) The costs relate directly to a contract or to an anticipated
ARNERIT I cEREEEHA contract that the entity can specifically identify.
& e

(b) BEKASEEGSARTK (3 (b) The costs generate or enhance resources of the entity

SETK) BRBEHEEZER

BAELERBAIEM °

(c) HBRAKRATRHAKE -

ERARKAREEERBEDX
REERETEPNEE-—HNRELM
EENBHEREME2EREREHR
FII5C o B A RIRARELRH

performance obligations in the future.

(c) The costs are expected to be recovered.

Other contract costs are expensed as incurred.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

A contract asset is the right to consideration in exchange for
goods or services transferred to the customer. If the Group
performs by transferring goods or services to a customer before
the customer pays consideration or before payment is due,
a contract asset is recognised for the earned consideration
that is conditional. Contract assets are subject to impairment
assessment, details of which are included in the accounting
policies for impairment of financial assets. The contract assets
are disclosed under a separate financial statement line item

A contract liability is recognised when a payment is received or a
payment is due (whichever is earlier) from a customer before the
Group transfers the related goods or services. Contract liabilities
are recognised as revenue when the Group performs under the
contract (i.e., transfers control of the related goods or services to

Other than the costs which are capitalised as inventories,
and intangible assets, costs incurred to fulfil a contract with a
customer are capitalised as an asset if all of the following criteria

that will be used in satisfying (or in continuing to satisfy)

The capitalised contract costs are amortised and charged to
the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income
on a systematic basis that is consistent with the transfer to the
customer of the goods or services to which the asset relates.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Construction contracts

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
can be estimated reliably and the stage of contract completion
at the end of the reporting period can be measured reliably,
revenue and costs are recognised by reference to the stage of
completion of the contract activity at the end of the reporting
period, measured based on the proportion that contract costs
incurred for work performed to date relative to the estimated total
contract costs.

When the outcome of a construction contract for gas connection
cannot be estimated reliably, contract costs are recognised as
an expense in the period in which they are incurred. When it is
probable that total contracts costs will exceed contract revenue,
the expected loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where contract costs incurred to date plus recognised profits
less recognised losses exceed progress billings, the surplus
is shown as amounts due from customers for contract works.
For contracts where progress billings exceed contract costs
incurred to date plus recognised profits less recognised losses,
the surplus is shown as amounts due to customers for contract
works. Amounts received before the related work is performed
are included in the consolidated statement of financial position,
as a liability, as advances received. Amounts billed for work
performed but not yet paid by the customer are included in the
consolidated statement of financial position under trade and
other receivables.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment including buildings held for
use in the production or supply of goods or services, or for
administrative purposes (other than construction in progress) are
stated in the consolidated statement of financial position at cost
less subsequent accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment losses, if any.

Construction in progress includes property, plant and equipment
in the course of construction for production or for own use
purposes. Construction in progress is carried at cost less
any recognised impairment loss. Construction in progress
is classified to the appropriate category of property, plant
and equipment when completed and ready for intended use.
Depreciation of these assets, on the same basis as other
property assets commence when the assets are ready for their
intended use.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

Depreciation is recognised so as to write off the cost of items
of property, plant and equipment other than construction in
progress over their estimated useful lives and after taking into
account their estimated residual values, using the straight-
line method. The estimated useful lives, residual values and
depreciation method are reviewed at the end of each reporting
period, with the effect of any changes in estimate accounted for

on a prospective basis.

An item of property, plant and equipment is derecognised upon
disposal or when no future economic benefits are expected
to arise from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss
arising on the disposal or retirement of an item of property,
plant and equipment is determined as the difference between
the sales proceeds and the carrying amount of the asset and is
recognised in profit or loss.

Leasehold land and buildings under development for future
owner-occupied purpose

When the leasehold land and buildings are in the course of
development for production or for administrative purposes, the
leasehold land component is classified as a right-of-use asset
and amortised on a straight-line basis over the lease term.
During the construction period, the amortisation charge provided
for the leasehold land is included as part of costs of buildings
under construction. Buildings under construction are carried at
cost, less any identified impairment losses and are classified
as property, plant and equipment. Depreciation of buildings
commences when they are available for use (i.e. when they are
in the location and condition necessary for them to be capable of
operating in the manner intended by management).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investment properties

Investment properties are properties held to earn rentals and/or
for capital appreciation.

Investment properties are initially measured at cost, including
any directly attributable expenditure. Subsequent to initial
recognition, investment properties are stated at cost less
subsequent accumulated depreciation and any accumulated
impairment losses. Depreciation is recognised so as to write off
the cost of investment properties over their estimated useful lives
and after taking into account their estimated residual values,
using the straight-line method.

An investment property is derecognised upon disposal or when
the investment property is permanently withdrawn from use and
no future economic benefits are expected from its disposals. Any
gain or loss arising on derecognition of the asset (calculated
as the difference between the net disposal proceeds and the
carrying amount of the asset) is included in the profit or loss in
the period in which the item is derecognised.

Intangible assets (other than goodwill)

Intangible assets refer to the operating rights for city pipeline
network.

Intangible assets acquired separately

Intangible assets acquired separately and with finite useful
lives are carried at costs less accumulated amortisation and
any accumulated impairment losses. Amortisation for intangible
assets with finite useful lives is provided on a straight-line basis
over their estimated useful lives.

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination

Intangible assets acquired in a business combination are
recognised separately from goodwill and are initially recognised
at their fair value at the acquisition date (which is regarded as
their cost).

Subsequent to initial recognition, intangible assets acquired in a
business combination with finite useful lives are reported at costs
less accumulated amortisation and any accumulated impairment
losses, on the same basis as intangible assets that are acquired
separately.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Intangible assets (other than goodwill) (Continued)
Intangible assets acquired in a business combination (Continued)

An intangible asset is derecognised upon disposal or when
no future economic benefits are expected to arise from the
continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising from
derecognition of an intangible asset is measured as the
difference between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying
amount of the asset and is recognised in profit or loss in the

period when the asset is derecognised.

Leases

The Group assesses at contract inception whether a contract
is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains, a lease if the
contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified
asset for a period of time in exchange for consideration.

Group as a lessee

The Group applies a single recognition and measurement
approach for all leases, except for short-term leases and leases
for low-value assets. The Group recognises lease liabilities to
make lease payments and right-of-use assets representing the
right to use the underlying assets.

(a) Right-of-use assets

Right-of-use assets are recognised at the commencement
date of the lease (that is the date the underlying asset
is available for use). Right-of-use assets are measured
at cost, less any accumulated depreciation and any
impairment losses, and adjusted for any remeasurement
of lease liabilities. The cost of right-of-use assets includes
the amount of lease liabilities recognised, initial direct
costs incurred, and lease payments made at or before the
commencement date less any lease incentives received.
Right-of-use assets are depreciated on a straight-line basis
over the shorter of the lease terms and the estimated useful
lives of the assets as follows:
Leasehold land 2 to 50 years
Buildings 2 to 25 years

Plant, machinery and equipment 2 to 24 years

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)

Group as a lessee (Continued)

(a) Right-of-use assets (Continued)

(b)

If ownership of the leased asset transfers to the Group by
the end of the lease term or the cost reflects the exercise
of a purchase option, depreciation is calculated using the
estimated useful life of the asset.

Lease liabilities

Lease liabilities are recognised at the commencement date
of the lease at the present value of lease payments to be
made over the lease term. The lease payments include fixed
payments (including in-substance fixed payments) less
any lease incentives receivable, variable lease payments
that depend on an index or a rate, and amounts expected
to be paid under residual value guarantees. The lease
payments also include the exercise price of a purchase
option reasonably certain to be exercised by the Group and
payments of penalties for termination of a lease, if the lease
term reflects the Group exercising the option to terminate
the lease. The variable lease payments that do not depend
on an index or a rate are recognised as an expense in
the period in which the event or condition that triggers the
payment occurs.

In calculating the present value of lease payments, the
Group uses its incremental borrowing rate at the lease
commencement date because the interest rate implicit in the
lease is not readily determinable. After the commencement
date, the amount of lease liabilities is increased to reflect
the accretion of interest and reduced for the lease payments
made. In addition, the carrying amount of lease liabilities is
remeasured if there is a modification, a change in the lease
term, a change in lease payments (e.g., a change to future
lease payments resulting from a change in an index or rate)
or a change in assessment of an option to purchase the
underlying asset.
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4. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(CONTINUED)

Leases (Continued)
Group as a lessee (Continued)
(c) Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition
exemption to its short-term leases of machinery and
equipment (that is those leases that have a lease term of
12 months or less from the commencement date and do not
contain a purchase option). It also applies the recognition
exemption for leases of low-value assets to leases of office
equipment that are considered to be of low value.

Lease payments on short-term leases and leases of low-
value assets are recognised as an expense on a straight-
line basis over the lease term.

Group as a lessor

When the Group acts as a lessor, it classifies at lease inception
(or when there is a lease modification) each of its leases as
either an operating lease or a finance lease.

Leases in which the Group does not transfer substantially
all the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of an asset
are classified as operating leases. When a contract contains
lease and non-lease components, the Group allocates the
consideration in the contract to each component on a relative
stand-alone selling price basis. Rental income is accounted for
on a straight-line basis over the lease terms and is included
in revenue in profit or loss due to its operating nature. Initial
direct costs incurred in negotiating and arranging an operating
lease are added to the carrying amount of the leased asset and
recognised over the lease term on the same basis as rental
income. Contingent rents are recognised as revenue in the
period in which they are earned.

Treasury shares

Own equity instruments which are reacquired and held by the
Company are recognised directly in equity at cost. No gain or
loss is recognised in profit or loss on the purchase, sale, issue or
cancellation of the Group’s own equity instruments.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable
value. Cost is calculated using the weighted average method.

Cash and cash equivalents

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of cash flows,
cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and demand
deposits, and short term highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash, are subject to an
insignificant risk of changes in value, and have a short maturity
of generally within three months when acquired, less bank
overdrafts which are repayable on demand and form an integral
part of the Group’s cash management.

For the purpose of the consolidated statement of financial
position, cash and cash equivalents comprise cash on hand and
at banks, including term deposits, and assets similar in nature to
cash, which are not restricted as to use.

Investments and other financial assets
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the
consolidated statement of financial position when a group entity
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

The classification of financial assets at initial recognition depends
on the financial asset’s contractual cash flow characteristics
and the Group’s business model for managing them. With the
exception of trade receivables that do not contain a significant
financing component or for which the Group has applied the
practical expedient of not adjusting the effect of a significant
financing component, the Group initially measures a financial
asset at its fair value, plus in the case of a financial asset not
at fair value through profit or loss, transaction costs. Trade
receivables that do not contain a significant financing component
or for which the Group has applied the practical expedient are
measured at the transaction price determined under HKFRS 15
in accordance with the policies set out for “Revenue recognition”
above.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

In order for a financial asset to be classified and measured
at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive
income, it needs to give rise to cash flows that are solely
payments of principal and interest (“SPPI”) on the principal
amount outstanding. Financial assets with cash flows that are not
SPPI are classified and measured at fair value through profit or
loss, irrespective of the business model.

The Group’s business model for managing financial assets refers
to how it manages its financial assets in order to generate cash
flows. The business model determines whether cash flows will
result from collecting contractual cash flows, selling the financial
assets, or both. Financial assets classified and measured
at amortised cost are held within a business model with the
objective to hold financial assets in order to collect contractual
cash flows, while financial assets classified and measured at
fair value through other comprehensive income are held within
a business model with the objective of both holding to collect
contractual cash flows and selling. Financial assets which are not
held within the aforementioned business models are classified
and measured at fair value through profit or loss.

All regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are
recognised on the trade date, that is, the date that the Group
commits to purchase or sell the asset. Regular way purchases
or sales are purchases or sales of financial assets that require
delivery of assets within the period generally established by
regulation or convention in the marketplace.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial assets depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial assets at amortised cost (debt instruments)

Financial assets at amortised cost are subsequently measured
using the effective interest method and are subject to
impairment. Gains and losses are recognised in the statement of
profit or loss and other comprehensive income when the asset is
derecognised, modified or impaired.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)

Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive
income (debt instruments)

For debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, interest income, foreign exchange revaluation and
impairment losses or reversals are recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income and computed
in the same manner as for financial assets measured at
amortised cost. The remaining fair value changes are recognised
in other comprehensive income. Upon derecognition, the
cumulative fair value change recognised in other comprehensive
income is recycled to the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income.

Financial assets designated at fair value through other

comprehensive income (equity investments)

Upon initial recognition, the Group can elect to classify
irrevocably its equity investments as equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income
when they meet the definition of equity under HKAS 32 Financial
Instruments: Presentation and are not held for trading. The
classification is determined on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

Gains and losses on these financial assets are never recycled
to the statement of comprehensive income. Dividends are
recognised as other income in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income when the right of payment has been
established, it is probable that the economic benefits associated
with the dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the
dividend can be measured reliably, except when the Group
benefits from such proceeds as a recovery of part of the cost of
the financial asset, in which case, such gains are recorded in
other comprehensive income. Equity investments designated at
fair value through other comprehensive income are not subject to

impairment assessment.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Investments and other financial assets (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are carried in
the statement of financial position at fair value with net changes
in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income.

This category includes derivative instruments and equity
investments which the Group had not irrevocably elected to
classify at fair value through other comprehensive income.
Dividends on equity investments classified as financial assets at
fair value profit or loss are also recognised as other income in
profit or loss when the right of payment has been established,
it is probable that the economic benefits associated with the
dividend will flow to the Group and the amount of the dividend
can be measured reliably.

A derivative embedded in a hybrid contract, with a financial
liability or non-financial host, is separated from the host
and accounted for as a separate derivative if the economic
characteristics and risks are not closely related to the host;
a separate instrument with the same terms as the embedded
derivative would meet the definition of a derivative; and the
hybrid contract is not measured at fair value through profit or
loss. Embedded derivatives are measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in the statement of profit or loss
and other comprehensive income.

Reassessment only occurs if there is either a change in the terms
of the contract that significantly modifies the cash flows that
would otherwise be required or a reclassification of a financial
asset out of the fair value through profit or loss category.

A derivative embedded within a hybrid contract containing a
financial asset host is not accounted for separately. The financial
asset host together with the embedded derivative is required
to be classified in its entirety as a financial asset at fair value
through profit or loss.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Derecognition of financial assets

A financial asset is primarily derecognised (i.e., removed from

the Group’s consolidated statement of financial position) when:

° the rights to receive cash flows from the asset have expired;
or

° the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from the asset or has assumed an obligation to pay the
received cash flows in full without material delay to a third
party under a “pass-through” arrangement; and either
(a) the Group has transferred substantially all the risks
and rewards of the asset, or (b) the Group has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and
rewards of the asset, but has transferred control of the
asset.

When the Group has transferred its rights to receive cash flows
from an asset or has entered into a pass-through arrangement,
it evaluates if, and to what extent, it has retained the risk
and rewards of ownership of the asset. When it has neither
transferred nor retained substantially all the risks and rewards
of the asset nor transferred control of the asset, the Group
continues to recognise the transferred asset to the extent of the
Group’s continuing involvement. In that case, the Group also
recognises an associated liability. The transferred asset and
the associated liability are measured on a basis that reflects the
rights and obligations that the Group has retained.

Continuing involvement that takes the form of a guarantee over
the transferred asset is measured at the lower of the original
carrying amount of the asset and the maximum amount of
consideration that the Group could be required to repay.

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises an allowance for expected credit losses
(“ECLs”) for all debt instruments not held at fair value through
profit or loss. ECLs are based on the difference between the
contractual cash flows due in accordance with the contract and
all the cash flows that the Group expects to receive, discounted
at an approximation of the original effective interest rate. The
expected cash flows will include cash flows from the sale of
collateral held or other credit enhancements that are integral to
the contractual terms.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach

ECLs are recognised in two stages. For credit exposures for
which there has not been a significant increase in credit risk
since initial recognition, ECLs are provided for credit losses
that result from default events that are possible within the next
12 months (a 12-month ECL). For those credit exposures for
which there has been a significant increase in credit risk since
initial recognition, a loss allowance is required for credit losses
expected over the remaining life of the exposure, irrespective of
the timing of the default (a lifetime ECL).

At each reporting date, the Group assesses whether the credit
risk on a financial instrument has increased significantly since
initial recognition. When making the assessment, the Group
compares the risk of a default occurring on the financial
instrument as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of initial
recognition and considers reasonable and supportable
information that is available without undue cost or effort,
including historical and forward-looking information.

The Group considers a financial asset in default when contractual
payments are 90 days past due. However, in certain cases, the
Group may also consider a financial asset to be in default when
internal or external information indicates that the Group is unlikely
to receive the outstanding contractual amounts in full before
taking into account any credit enhancements held by the Group.
A financial asset is written off when there is no reasonable
expectation of recovering the contractual cash flows.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
General approach (Continued)

Debt investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income and financial assets at amortised cost are subject to
impairment under the general approach and they are classified
within the following stages for measurement of ECLs except for
trade receivables and Assets related to contract works which
apply the simplified approach as detailed below.

Stage 1 — Financial instruments for which credit risk has not
increased significantly since initial recognition
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to 12-month ECLs

Stage 2 - Financial instruments for which credit risk has
increased significantly since initial recognition
but that are not credit-impaired financial assets
and for which the loss allowance is measured at
an amount equal to lifetime ECLs

Stage 3 - Financial assets that are credit-impaired at the
reporting date (but that are not purchased or
originated credit-impaired) and for which the loss
allowance is measured at an amount equal to
lifetime ECLs

Simplified approach

For trade receivables and Assets related to contract works that
do not contain a significant financing component or when the
Group applies the practical expedient of not adjusting the effect
of a significant financing component, the Group applies the
simplified approach in calculating ECLs. Under the simplified
approach, the Group does not track changes in credit risk, but
instead recognises a loss allowance based on lifetime ECLs
at each reporting date. The Group has established a provision
matrix that is based on its historical credit loss experience,
adjusted for forward-looking factors specific to the debtors and
the economic environment.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Simplified approach (Continued)

For trade receivables and Assets related to contract works
that contain a significant financing component and lease
receivables, the Group chooses as its accounting policy to adopt
the simplified approach in calculating ECLs with policies as
described above.

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether
there is objective evidence that a financial asset or a group of
financial assets is impaired. An impairment exists if one or more
events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset have
an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial
asset or the group of financial assets that can be reliably
estimated. Evidence of impairment may include indications that a
debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing significant financial
difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments,
the probability that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial
reorganisation and observable data indicating that there is a
measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such
as changes in arrears or economic conditions that correlate with
defaults.

Financial assets carried at amortised cost

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the Group first
assesses whether impairment exists individually for financial
assets that are individually significant, or collectively for
financial assets that are not individually significant. If the Group
determines that no objective evidence of impairment exists for
an individually assessed financial asset, whether significant
or not, it includes the asset in a group of financial assets with
similar credit risk characteristics and collectively assesses
them for impairment. Assets that are individually assessed for
impairment and for which an impairment loss is, or continues to
be, recognised are not included in a collective assessment of
impairment.

The amount of any impairment loss identified is measured as the
difference between the asset’s carrying amount and the present
value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit
losses that have not yet been incurred). The present value of the
estimated future cash flows is discounted at the financial asset’s
original effective interest rate (i.e., the effective interest rate
computed at initial recognition).

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)
Financial assets carried at amortised cost (Continued)

The carrying amount of the asset is reduced through the use of
an allowance account and the loss is recognised in the statement
of profit or loss and other comprehensive income. Interest
income continues to be accrued on the reduced carrying amount
using the rate of interest used to discount the future cash flows
for the purpose of measuring the impairment loss. Loans and
receivables together with any associated allowance are written
off when there is no realistic prospect of future recovery and
all collateral has been realised or has been transferred to the
Group.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the estimated
impairment loss increases or decreases because of an event
occurring after the impairment was recognised, the previously
recognised impairment loss is increased or reduced by adjusting
the allowance account. If a write-off is later recovered, the
recovery is credited to other expenses in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Assets carried at cost

If there is objective evidence that an impairment loss has been
incurred on an unquoted equity instrument that is not carried at
fair value because its fair value cannot be reliably measured,
or on a derivative asset that is linked to and must be settled
by delivery of such an unquoted equity instrument, the amount
of the loss is measured as the difference between the asset’s
carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash
flows discounted at the current market rate of return for a similar
financial asset. Impairment losses on these assets are not
reversed.

Financial liabilities
Initial recognition and measurement

Financial liabilities are classified, at initial recognition, as
financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, loans and
borrowings, payables, or as derivatives designated as hedging
instruments in an effective hedge, as appropriate.

All financial liabilities are recognised initially at fair value and, in

the case of loans and borrowings and payables, net of directly
attributable transaction costs.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Initial recognition and measurement (Continued)

The Group’s financial liabilities include trade and other payables,
an amount due to the ultimate holding company, derivative
financial instruments and interest-bearing bank and other
borrowings.

Subsequent measurement

The subsequent measurement of financial liabilities depends on
their classification as follows:

Financial liabilities at amortised cost (loans and borrowings)

After initial recognition, interest-bearing loans and borrowings
are subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective
interest rate method unless the effect of discounting would be
immaterial, in which case they are stated at cost. Gains and
losses are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income when the liabilities are derecognised as
well as through the effective interest rate amortisation process.

Amortised cost is calculated by taking into account any discount
or premium on acquisition and fees or costs that are an integral
part of the effective interest rate. The effective interest rate
amortisation is included in finance costs in the statement of profit
or loss and other comprehensive income.

Financial guarantee contracts

Financial guarantee contracts issued by the Group are those
contracts that require a payment to be made to reimburse the
holder for a loss it incurs because the specified debtor fails to
make a payment when due in accordance with the terms of a
debt instrument. A financial guarantee contract is recognised
initially as a liability at its fair value, adjusted for transaction
costs that are directly attributable to the issuance of the
guarantee. Subsequent to initial recognition, the Group measures
the financial guarantee contracts at the higher of: (i) the ECL
allowance determined in accordance with the policy as set out
in “Impairment of financial assets”; and (ii) the amount initially
recognised less, when appropriate, the cumulative amount of
income recognised.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Financial liabilities (Continued)
Subsequent measurement (Continued)
Financial guarantee contracts (Continued)

A financial guarantee contract is recognised initially as a liability
at its fair value, adjusted for transaction costs that are directly
attributable to the issuance of the guarantee. Subsequent to
initial recognition, the Group measures the financial guarantee
contract at the higher of (i) the amount of the best estimate of the
expenditure required to settle the present obligation at the end of
the reporting period; and (ii) the amount initially recognised less,
when appropriate, cumulative amortisation.

Derecognition of financial liabilities

A financial liability is derecognised when the obligation under the
liability is discharged or cancelled, or expires.

When an existing financial liability is replaced by another from
the same lender on substantially different terms, or the terms of
an existing liability are substantially modified, such an exchange
or modification is treated as a derecognition of the original
liability and a recognition of a new liability, and the difference
between the respective carrying amounts is recognised in the
statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income.

Offsetting of financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net
amount is reported in the statement of financial position if there
is a currently enforceable legal right to offset the recognised
amounts and there is an intention to settle on a net basis, or to
realise the assets and settle the liabilities simultaneously.

Borrowing costs

Borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition,
construction or production of qualifying assets, which are assets
that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready for
their intended use or sale, are added to the costs of those assets
until such time as the assets are substantially ready for their
intended use or sale.

Investment income earned on the temporary investment of
specific borrowings pending their expenditure on qualifying
assets is deducted from the borrowing costs eligible for
capitalisation.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Borrowing costs (Continued)

All other borrowing costs are recognised in profit or loss in the
period in which they are incurred.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans/state-
managed retirement benefit schemes/the Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme are recognised as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the undiscounted
amount of the benefits expected to be paid as and when
employees rendered the services. All short-term employee
benefits are recognised as an expense unless another HKFRS
requires or permits the inclusion of the benefit in the cost of an
asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages and salaries, annual leave and sick leave) after
deducting any amount already paid.

Other employee benefits
Defined benefit plan

The Group operates several defined benefit plans which require
payments to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
The benefits are unfunded. The cost of providing benefits under
the defined benefit plans is determined using the projected unit
credit actuarial valuation method.

Remeasurements arising from defined benefit pension plans,
comprising actuarial gains and losses, the effect of the asset
ceiling (excluding amounts included in net interest on the
net defined benefit liability) and the return on plan assets
(excluding amounts included in net interest on the net defined
benefit liability), are recognised immediately in the consolidated
statement of financial position with a corresponding debit or
credit to retained profits through other comprehensive income
in the period in which they occur. Remeasurements are not
reclassified to profit or loss in subsequent periods.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Other employee benefits (Continued)
Defined benefit plan (Continued)

Past service costs are recognised in profit or loss at the earlier
of:

o the date of the plan amendment or curtailment; and

o the date that the Group recognises restructuring-related
costs

Net interest is calculated by applying the discount rate to the
net defined benefit liability or asset. The Group recognises the
following changes in the net defined benefit obligation under
“cost of sales” and “administrative expenses” in the consolidated
statement of profit or loss by function:

o service costs comprising current service costs, past-service
costs, gains and losses on curtailments and non-routine
settlements

o net interest expense or income

Taxation

Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the year.
Taxable profit differs from profit before taxation as reported in the
consolidated statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive
income because it excludes items of income or expense that are
taxable or deductible in other years and it further excludes items
that are never taxable or deductible. The Group’s liability for
current tax is calculated using tax rates that have been enacted
or substantively enacted by the end of the reporting period.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on differences between the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities in the consolidated financial
statements and the corresponding tax bases used in the
computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax liabilities are generally
recognised for all taxable temporary differences. Deferred tax
assets are generally recognised for all deductible temporary
differences to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit
will be available against which those deductible temporary
differences can be utilised. Such assets and liabilities are not
recognised if the temporary difference arises from goodwill or
from the initial recognition (other than in a business combination)
of other assets and liabilities in a transaction that affects neither
the taxable profit nor the accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures, except where the Group is able to
control the reversal of the temporary difference and it is probable
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable
future. Deferred tax assets arising from deductible temporary
differences associated with such investments and interests are
only recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of the reporting period and reduced to the extent that it is no
longer probable that sufficient taxable profit will be available to
allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates
that are expected to apply in the period in which the liability is
settled or the asset is realised, based on tax rate (and tax laws)
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end of
the reporting period.

The measurement of deferred tax liabilities and assets reflects
the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which
the Group expects, at the end of the reporting period, to recover
or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Taxation (Continued)

Current and deferred tax are recognised in profit or loss,
except when they relate to items that are recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case,
the current and deferred tax are also recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity respectively. Where
current tax or deferred tax arises from the initial accounting for a
business combination, the tax effect is included in the accounting
for the business combination.

Dividends

Final dividends are recognised as a liability when they are
approved by the shareholders in a general meeting. Proposed
final dividends are disclosed in the notes to the financial
statements.

Interim dividends are simultaneously proposed and declared,
because the Company’s memorandum and articles of association
grant the directors the authority to declare interim dividends.
Consequently, interim dividends are recognised immediately as a
liability when they are proposed and declared.

Foreign currencies

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
group entities are measured using the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates (the
“functional currency”). The consolidated financial statements are
presented in HK$, which is the Company’s functional currency
and the Group’s presentation currency.

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recognised at the
rates of exchanges prevailing on the dates of the transactions.
At the end of the reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing
at that date. Non-monetary items carried at fair value that are
denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates
prevailing on the date when the fair value was determined. Non-
monetary items that are measured in terms of historical cost in a
foreign currency are not retranslated.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Foreign currencies (Continued)

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the retranslation of monetary items, are recognised
in profit or loss in the period in which they arise, except for
exchange differences on monetary items receivable from or
payable to a foreign operation for which settlement is neither
planned nor likely to occur (therefore forming part of the net
investment in the foreign operation), which are recognised
initially in other comprehensive income and are reclassified
from equity to profit or loss on disposal or partial disposal of the
Group’s interests in associates or joint ventures.

For the purposes of presenting the consolidated financial
statements, the assets and liabilities of the group entities are
translated into the presentation currency of the Group (i.e. HK$)
using exchange rates prevailing at the end of reporting period.
Income and expenses items are translated at the average
exchange rates for the year. Exchange differences arising, if any,
are recognised in other comprehensive income and accumulated
in equity under the heading of translation reserve.

The functional currency of a group entity is changed only where
there is a change to the underlying transactions, events and
conditions relevant to the group entity. The group entity applies
the translation procedures applicable to the new functional
currency prospectively from the date of the change. At the date
of the change, the group entity translates all items into the new
functional currency using the prevailing exchange rate at that
date and the resulting translated amounts for non-monetary items
are treated as their historical cost.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments on identifiable assets
acquired arising on an acquisition of a foreign operation on or
after 1st January, 2005 are treated as assets and liabilities of
that foreign operation and translated at the rate of exchange
prevailing at the end of the reporting period. Exchange
differences arising are recognised in the translation reserve.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the carrying
amounts of its tangible and intangible assets with finite useful
lives to determine whether there is any indication that those
assets have suffered an impairment loss. If any such indication
exists, the recoverable amount of the relevant asset is estimated
in order to determine the extent of the impairment loss, if any.

When it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an
asset individually, the Group estimates the recoverable amount
of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs. When a
reasonable and consistent basis of allocation can be identified,
corporate assets are also allocated to individual cash- generating
units, or otherwise they are allocated to the smallest group of
cash-generating units for which a reasonable and consistent
allocation basis can be identified.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs
of disposal and value in use. In assessing value in use, the
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present
value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current market
assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to
the asset (or a cash-generating unit) for which the estimates of
future cash flows have not been adjusted.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or a cash-generating unit)
is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is reduced to
its recoverable amount. In allocating the impairment loss, the
impairment loss is allocated first to reduce the carrying amount
of any goodwill (if applicable) and then to the other assets on
a pro-rata basis based on the carrying amount of each asset in
the unit. The carrying amount of an asset is not reduced below
the highest of its fair value less costs of disposal (if measurable),
its value in use (if determinable) and zero. The amount of the
impairment loss that would otherwise have been allocated to
the asset is allocated pro rata to the other assets of the unit. An
impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Impairment losses on tangible and intangible assets other
than goodwill (Continued)

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset (or a cash-generating unit) is increased
to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that
the increased carrying amount does not exceed the carrying
amount that would have been determined had no impairment
loss been recognised for the asset (or a cash-generating unit)
in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised
immediately in profit or loss.

Government grants

Government grants are not recognised until there is reasonable
assurance that the Group will comply with the conditions
attaching to them and that the grants will be received.

Government grants are recognised in profit or loss on a
systematic basis over the periods in which the Group recognises
as expenses the related costs for which the grants are intended
to compensate. Government grants related to depreciable assets
are recognised as deferred income in the consolidated statement
of financial position and transferred to profit or loss on a
systematic and rational basis over the useful lives of the related
assets. Other government grants are recognised as revenue
over the periods necessary to match them with the costs for
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.
Government grants that are receivable as compensation for
expenses or losses already incurred or for the purpose of giving
immediate financial support to the Group with no future related
costs are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they
become receivable.

Long term award scheme

The cost of acquisition of the Company’s shares pursuant to the
long term award scheme is recorded as shares held for incentive
award scheme. The shares held for incentive award scheme will
be disposed of for cash which will be distributed to the eligible
employees.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(CONTINUED)

Long term award scheme (Continued)

When the shares held for long term award scheme are disposed
of and the resulting proceeds from disposal are distributed
to the employees, the proceeds distributed to employees are
recognised as expenses (staff costs), and the difference between
the consideration received and the cost of the shares will be
credited to retained profits.

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which are
described in note 4, the directors of the Company are required to
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying
amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent
from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions
are based on historical experience and other factors that are
considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these
estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an on-going basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the
revision affects only that period, or in the period of the revision
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future
periods.

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies

The following are the critical judgements, apart from those
involving estimations (see below), that the directors have made
in the process of applying the Group’s accounting policies and
that have the most significant effect on the amounts recognised
in the consolidated financial statements.

Control over EGE MR ER AL E] and FLLZEFHABR L

BSEBMRABMR AR is a subsidiary of the Group although the
Group has only 50% ownership interest and voting rights in &
5 EI R B AR, The Group had the 50% ownership interest
since June 2006 on E5EERE AR 2 A and the remaining 50%
of equity interest is owned by a shareholder that is unrelated to
the Group. Details of these are set out in note 45.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over EBEZRHRERL A and FILEFHRER L &
(Continued)

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over ESEBMABRAF based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
ESEEME AR AR unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in BBEBMAABMRAA. The board of directors of =FEEEM
RBBRZAA comprise 7 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 4 directors in ESEBMR AR AR and the relevant
activities of B EBMRE AR A7 require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of B&EEMRBGMRAF], and therefore, the
Group has control over EBZEMRAHRAA.

FILEEREABRAR is a subsidiary of the Group. The Group
has 55% ownership interests and voting rights in #F IUEEERRAHE
fRA7] and the remaining 45% of equity interests is owned by a
shareholder that is unrelated to the Group. Details of these are
set out in note 45.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the Group
has control over FILEMRRAGMR QA based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities of
FRILEEERE AR A A unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in FILEBMEABMRAR. The board of directors of A LLZEEM
RABBR2AA comprise 5 directors. The Group nominated and
appointed 3 directors in FILEZEBEKRBRAF and the relevant
activities of FILZEBREAEMR A5 require over 50% of directors’
approval. After assessment, the directors concluded that the
Group has sufficiently dominant voting interest to direct the
relevant activities of FILZEEMREGRAF], and therefore, the
Group has control over # LI ZEBRE AR A A

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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—E-TFA+_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Critical judgements in applying accounting policies
(Continued)

Control over HEZFMREIRL a], BFEFMRERL & and 5
STE M B R A A (the “PRC Entities”)

The PRC Entities are subsidiaries of the Group although the
Group has only 49%, 50% and 51% ownership interests and
voting rights respectively in the PRC Entities and the remaining
equity interests of the PRC Entities are owned by shareholders
that are unrelated to the Group. Details of these are set out in
note 45.

The directors of the Company assessed whether or not the
Group has control over the PRC Entities based on whether the
Group has the practical ability to direct the relevant activities
of the PRC Entities unilaterally. In making their judgement, the
directors considered the Group’s voting power of shareholding
in the PRC Entities. The shareholders of the PRC Entities signed
memorandums in which the other shareholders would agree the
Group’s decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of the PRC Entities, and the other shareholders would agree
the appointment of the entire senior management of the PRC
Entities nominated by the Group. After assessment, the directors
concluded that the Group has sufficiently dominant voting
interest to direct the relevant activities of the PRC Entities, and
therefore, the Group has control over the PRC Entities.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty

The following are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end of the
reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing a material
adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets within the next
financial year.

Estimation of useful lives of property, plant and equipment

Management estimates the useful lives of property, plant and
equipment based on the expected lifespan of those property,
plant and equipment. The useful lives of property, plant and
equipment could change significantly as a result of technical
innovation. When the actual useful lives of property, plant and
equipment are different from their estimated useful lives due to
the change of commercial and technological environment, such
difference will impact the depreciation charges and the amounts
of assets written down for future periods.

The carrying amount of property, plant and equipment
at 31st December, 2020 was HK$40,932,770,000 (2019:

HK$33,940,512,000).

Impairment of goodwill

Determining whether goodwill is impaired requires an estimation
of the recoverable amount of the cash-generating units to which
goodwill has been allocated, which is the higher of the value
in use and fair value less costs of disposal. The value-in-use
calculation requires the Group to estimate the future cash flows
expected to arise from the cash-generating unit and a suitable
discount rate in order to calculate the present value. Where the
actual future cash flows are less than expected, or changes in
facts and circumstances result in downward revision of future
cash, a material impairment loss may arise. As at 31st December,
2020, the carrying amount of goodwill was HK$903,956,000
(2019: HK$669,370,000).
calculation are disclosed in note 20.

Details of the recoverable amount

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS
AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY (CONTINUED)

Estimation uncertainty (Continued)
Leases — Estimating the incremental borrowing rate

The Group cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in a
lease, and therefore, it uses an incremental borrowing rate (“IBR”)
to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that
the Group would have to pay to borrow over a similar term, and
with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset
of a similar value to the right-of-use asset in a similar economic
environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Group “would
have to pay”, which requires estimation when no observable
rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter
into financing transactions) or when it needs to be adjusted to
reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for example, when
leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Group
estimates the IBR using observable inputs (such as market
interest rates) when available and is required to make certain
entity-specific estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone
credit rating).

Allowance for inventories

The Group makes allowance for inventories based on an
assessment of the net realisable value of inventories. Allowances
are applied to inventories where events or changes in
circumstances indicate that the net realisable value is lower than
the cost of inventories. The identification of obsolete inventories
requires the use of judgement and estimates on the conditions
and usefulness of the inventories. In cases where the net
realisable value of inventories assessed is less than expected, a
material recognition of allowance for inventories may arise, which
would be recognised in profit or loss in the period in which such
recognition takes place.

At 31st December, 2020, the carrying amount of inventories was
HK$1,006,828,000 (2019: HK$1,007,501,000).
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BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

Information reported to the executive directors of the Company,
being the chief operating decision maker, for the purposes of
resource allocation and assessment of segment performance,
focuses on the types of goods or services delivered or provided.

The Group’s operating segments under HKFRS 8 are as follows:

(i) Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products —
sale of natural gas and to a much lesser extent, liquefied
petroleum gas for residential, commercial and industrial
use;

(i) Gas connection — construction of gas pipeline networks
under gas connection contracts;

(iii) Sale of gas appliances — sale of gas appliances and related
products;

(iv) Design and construction services — design, construction,
consultancy and management for gas connection projects;

(v) Gas stations — sale of gas fuel in natural gas filling stations.

No operating segments have been aggregated in arriving at the
reportable segments of the Group.

Segment results represent the profit before taxation earned by
each segment, excluding sundry income, interest income, rental
income, finance costs, depreciation of investment properties,
central administrative costs and directors’ salaries. This is the
measure reported to the executive directors of the Company for
the purpose of revenue allocation and assessment of segment
performance.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

The information of segment revenue, segment results, segment
assets and segment liabilities is as follows:

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

Segment revenue and results

HERDH
RERBR HE it R
HEER MEER REEL ERBH MR CH)
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
TiEn THR TR TR Ti#n Ti#n
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
Wz Revenue
S External sales 41,848,125 9,969,201 372,974 691,763 2,982,106 55,864,169
E7 Results
HEEE Segment results 5,614,203 4,279,850 62,774 87,185 505,485 10,639,497
EEAEARER Share of results of joint ventures 656,895
EEBENREE Share of results of associates 258,419
B A Finance costs (other than interest
(REBEMERMN) on lease liabilities) (433,020)
U Unallocated income 1,045,933
RAERX Unallocated expenses (3,177,461)
BB ATER Profit before taxation 8,990,263
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

6. WERDEEHR (&)

BE_Z_BHF+-A=1+—-HLHF
E (&)

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2020 (Continued)

PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERD#
RERAR RitR
HEER REER HERRBA BRRE k=R &it
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products  Connection  appliances services stations Total
TEx TER ThR ThR TER TEx
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HKS’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
EE ASSETS
PEEE Segment assets 47,347,202 5,440,844 176,768 164,962 1,811,197 54,940,973
REERRNER Interests in joint ventures 12,114,832
NG 2 Interests in associates 4,082,026
BRHEEE Deferred tax assets 345,422
KRARAREAE (Wita)  Unallocated corporate
assets (Note a) 22,387,556
93,870,809
8% LIABILITIES
HEER Segment liabilities 4,593,671 16,428,605 154,058 2,150,358 174,740 23,501,432
ERHE Taxation payable 933,609
EEHEAR Deferred tax liabilities 1,195,678
FRAEAFAEE (WD)  Unallocated corporate
liabilities (Note b) 21,371,731
47,002,450

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

HE&Ex Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERDH
FERAR HE Rt R
HEER HAEER  #RER BRRE MR KOW fit
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas construction Gas
products connection appliances services  stations Unallocated Total
T Fhr FEx FEx Tn TR Tin
HK$’'000  HK$'000  HKS$’'000 HK$’000  HK$’000 HK$'000  HK$’000
REFRYEE Additions to non-current assets 5,825,141 - - 8,578 94,846 - 5,928,565
RERESH Depreciation and amortisation 2,058,655 - - 3,131 56,692 - 2,118,478
EWESEHRE  (Reversal of impairment loss)/
BERE)/ HE impairment loss on trade
EETE receivables, net 15,808 54,687 - 393 (70) - 70,818
HinEUFRERE  Reversal of impairment loss on other
BRFE receivables, net - - - - - (9,652) (9,652)
AREERBEFEFE Impairment loss on contract assets, net - 7,802 - - - - 7,802
HENE  BERRE Loss on disposal of property, plant and
EE equipment 12,553 - - - - - 12,553
IRIHEREEERSRE  Loss on termination of right-of-use
assets 1,068 - - - - - 1,068
EHRIERERLAT —Z_ZFER
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2019 (Restated)

E(E%))
DEEW R FEE Segment revenue and results
HERDH
REMHR Rtk
HAER MAEY HERREE B R% A At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
ThT Thx Thx FEr FHEL TAL
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
Wz Revenue
5 External sales 41444613 10,671,241 399,772 678975 3,781,689 56,976,290
E7 Results
HEEE Segment results 4,948,882 4,596,153 40917 80,761 663,018 10,329,731
EERERRER Share of results of joint ventures 502,482
AN Share of results of associates 235,638
B A Finance costs (other than interest
(REBEMERIN) on lease liabilities) (517,177)
EILON Unallocated income 1,086,175
APRFAZ Unallocated expenses (3,215,301)
BABLA & R Profit before taxation 8,421,548

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)
BE-Z-hEFE+=-A=+—HL%E For the year ended 31st December, 2019 (Restated) (Continued)
E(E3) (&)
PEEEREE Segment assets and liabilities
HERDH
REMBR Rtk
HEER MAES HERRSE RS gk At
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Sale of  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations Total
Tir T T THx Tz T
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
BE ASSETS
PEEE Segment assets 40,003,171 5,352,660 148,124 207572 1,459,037 47,260,564
REERRNER Interests in joint ventures 9,230,984
JiN NG [ Interests in associates 3,811,134
BRHEEE Deferred tax assets 278,090
KRARAGREE (Wita)  Unallocated corporate
assets (Note a) 21,243,248
81,824,020
8% LIABILITIES
PREE Segment liabilities 4,589,714 14,591,150 101,112 1,408,621 101,148 20,786,745
JERFIR Taxation payable 739,512
ERFBEE Deferred tax liabilities 1,114,594
FAEAFAEE (Mib)  Unallocated corporate
liabilities (Note b) 23,360,954
46,001,805
EHRIERERLAT —Z_ZFER
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

WKk o EEFR (F)

BE-Z-hEFE+=-A=+—HL%E
E(Z5) (&)

REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

For the year ended 31st December, 2019 (Restated) (Continued)

HEEx Other information
FrESHEEMESBEEEMTAZR Amounts included in the measure of segment profit and segment
18 assets:
HERAH
REMER Rtk
HEER  NEEY HERRERE  BERH ik KR CH
Sale and
distribution
of gas fuel Saleof  Design and
and related Gas gas  construction Gas
products  connection  appliances services stations  Unallocated Total
T Ti#x T Tin T Tin THr
HK$'000  HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000 HK$'000  HK$'000
REFRBEE Additions to non-current assets 5,069,184 = = 6525 129,944 - 5,205,653
REREH Depreciation and amortisation 1,896,298 - - 2,984 65,611 - 1,964,893
EWESEHRE  (Reversal of impairment loss)/
BERE)/ HE impairment loss on trade
EETE receivables, net (6,981) 81,778 (91) 1,827 (3,810) - 72,723
EfERFZRERE  Reversal of impairment loss
BOFE on other receivables, net - - - - - (5,435) (5,435)
AFBEREBEFE Impairment loss on contract
assets, net - 12,554 - - - - 12,554
HEME MERSRHE Loss on disposal of property,
EE plant and equipment 10,731 = = = = = 10,731
RILERESESRE  Loss on termination of
right-of-use assets 388 - - - - - 388
BEE - Notes:

a.  ARABRAREERKBHEBEARME
EHEE  REME  HERAFE
FPARMEESEARARE - Hi
R - BEIRRITER - EMfFR
ARSRITRBRBAS -

b. ROEAFTNABEBHEMENK  RIT
REMEEAREBERE - RITRE
EEREERERASENFEE
TEE  HABRRRDORARERE -

a. Unallocated corporate assets represent goodwill arising on
acquisition of subsidiaries, investment properties, equity investments
designated at fair value through other comprehensive income,
other receivables, pledged bank deposits, other deposits and bank
balances and cash.

b. Unallocated corporate liabilities represent other payables, bank
and other borrowings and senior notes. Bank and other borrowings
and senior notes are classified as unallocated corporate liabilities
because they are managed centrally by the treasury function of the
Group.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

=R D EER (&) 6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)
HEER Geographical information
BRAKBERDEE (TEESHR Information about the Group's non-current assets (excluding
TAMEEHEBEEE) WERBREE financial instruments and deferred tax assets) is presented
EMTEHE7 : based on the locations of the assets
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
FHT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&F5)
(Restated)
FE PRC 62,722,980 51,725,781
B Hong Kong 7,914 4,073
62,730,894 51,729,854
AZRER - AEBBHKAERH R The Group’s revenue is arisen in the PRC during both years.
EX e
ON T Timing of revenue recognition
REFEEEEE Goods transferred at a point in time 45,203,205 45,626,074
b I 82 iR AR 7S Services transferred over time 10,660,964 11,350,216
RERF& R AL Total revenue from contracts with customers 55,864,169 56,976,290
ERETEEFHNER Information about major customers
REZMER @ WEREE—INEEP No single external customer contributed revenue from
X HI M ARG AN B 2 10% sk A transactions amounting to 10% or more of the revenue of the
o Group during both years.
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6. WERDEEHR (&)

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION

(CONTINUED)

REFEFERBBA

(i) DIHFUAEH
TRETI A TS R RER A UA
£ FETEERBRERIE
EHRETROEEMERNE

(i)

Revenue from contracts with customers

Disaggregated revenue information

The following table shows the amounts of revenue
recognised in the current reporting period that were
included in the contract liabilities at the beginning of

REE : the reporting period and recognised from performance
obligations satisfied in previous periods:
—EEF —E-NF
2020 2019
THER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&31)
(Restated)
FriER A Revenue recognised that was included
(BN HRE BTE in contract liabilities at the beginning
ERAME) : of the reporting period:
MRBER 225t KRR Gas connection/design and
construction services 8,134,133 5,981,169

BRI EE

BHAEEEOEE0ERER
mF -

(ii) (i)

HER 7 3R EERH KGR dp

BHEENRMRRERT
NFBERZH1230 8 AZIH

&%) B (EBE = IRA OB M &
BRET  NRBERTREER
BEFEXRIY  ENEFPBEE
AR o
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Performance obligations

Information about the Group’s performance obligations is
summarised below:

Sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally due within 30 days from delivery.

Gas connection

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.
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BE-_Z-_ZTF+_FA=+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

6. REVENUE AND SEGMENT INFORMATION
(CONTINUED)

Revenue from contracts with customers (Continued)
(i) Performance obligations (Continued)
Sale of gas appliances

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of
the industrial products and payment is generally due upon
delivery.

Design and construction services

The performance obligation is satisfied over time as
services are rendered and payment is generally due upon
completion of installation and customer acceptance, except
for new customers, where payment in advance is normally
required.

Gas stations

The performance obligation is satisfied upon delivery of gas
and payment is generally in advance.

The transaction prices allocated to the remaining
performance (unsatisfied or partially unsatisfied) as at
31st December, 2020 were HK$17,268,667,696 (2019:
HK$16,965,442,279). The remaining performance
obligations related to gas connection are expected to be
recognised and satisfied within no more than three years.

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

7. HilgA 7. OTHER INCOME
—EEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FBT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
HA WA BE - Other income included:
I feR AR A UL A Extended service income 618,076 572,855
BB e Government grants 147,662 103,420
RITHFHF B WA Interest income from bank deposits 18,232 34,641
H 77 2 B A (M EE) Interest income from other deposits (note) 271,347 263,255
REAEEEAFETA Dividend income from equity investments
Eih 2 ER AR E designated at fair value through other
OISR ON comprehensive income 2,036 3,213
PNERER G CEX PN Interest income from deposits placed
B 1F R F A with a fellow subsidiary 13,006 8,670
REABBRMBAGIREE Interest income from a loan to a
7 F B UA fellow subsidiary 57,794 39,205
REREFHEIERATER  Interest income from a loan to
EORINSRE N an intermediate holding company - 16,739
REEERQRHFEWA Interest income from joint ventures 1,568 1,326
D= R NEIEoR I ESEON Interest income from associates 2,790 299
REKERLHNE KA Rental income from operating leases 43,405 35,492
HESZE QAN KE Gain on disposal of joint ventures 6,165 153
HEB LN F Mk Gain on disposal of an associate 169 =
REDS LE—MEEE QR Gain on deemed partial disposal
o)l of an associate - 224,083

Mz R=ZT=-TF+=-A=+—H " KH
HihEROF WA BIER AN F
B SRTT B A A A RS SHER R A
FRRIRITRVE E AT BHA -

the PRC.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

B 7 R AR 8. FINANCE COSTS
—ECEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
T ZENFE - Interest on:
$RIT R E MR Bank and other borrowings 115,301 144,428
BERE Senior notes 260,971 274,039
HEABHNFE Interest on lease liabilities 16,400 15,790
JEfTE &R RIFIE Amounts due to joint ventures 3,584 6,619
FERTHR EIEAR A BRI Amounts due to intermediate holding
companies 51,666 89,364
HEtREAE Other long-term liabilities 1,498 2,727
449,420 532,967
EWRRBRERLT —B-EFEFR
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9. BRBIADZF 9. PROFIT BEFORE TAXATION
—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
B s FHx FAT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
R 250 Al g A 2 Profit before taxation has been arrived
Bk /(GEA) at after charging/(crediting):
BIKA Staff costs
=S Directors’ emoluments 11 8,759 14,770
HEMET Other staff
— Fe RETH — Salaries and bonus 3,456,353 3,341,132
— Hip 4@ F — Other benefits 959,067 785,958
— RREAIET B K - Retirement benefit scheme
contributions 509,717 616,062
B4 Total staff costs 4,933,896 4,757,922
% EREM BN & Auditor’'s remuneration 12,943 11,975
W% - BB MEREITER  Depreciation and impairment of
BIE property, plant and equipment 14 1,873,436 1,712,830
REMERE Depreciation of investment properties 15 4,007 3,952
FREEENE Depreciation of right-of-use assets 16a 176,218 184,646
AR Amortisation of operating rights
(Bt ATTERX) (included in administrative expenses) 21 64,817 63,465
SRR AREEREFSE Impairment of financial and contract
assets, net
— ENE SERFUNEFE — Impairment of trade receivables, net 23 70,818 72,723
— Hib EUGRIERE - Reversal of impairment of
BEFERE other receivables, net 23 (9,652) (5,435)
—AREEREBEFHE — Impairment of contract assets, net 24 7,802 12,554
HEWE  WEKEZMEERE Loss on disposal of property,
plant and equipment 12,553 10,731
RIEFREEERE Loss on termination of right-of-use
assets 1,068 388
Rt AHEAEEN Lease payments not included in the
GizE O measurement of lease liabilities 16(c) 80,811 108,749

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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10. B8 10. TAXATION
—ECEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FER FHIT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
M HEE - The tax charge comprises:
BNERTH IR Current taxation
PR EMGHARERB PRC Enterprise Income Tax, withholding tax
IR B B 9 IR A paid for distributed profits and intergroup
SBRNEALAHTENG restructuring of investments in the PRC 2,305,904 1,985,425
BEFEREIE Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years
(FBRARE) 49,570 36,416
2,355,474 2,021,841
EIER IR (MTEE33) Deferred taxation (note 33) (77,099) (100,036)
2,278,375 1,921,805

FANTBREHDBREREEEN
AFHERBUR MR E16.5% (ZF—
JVE £ 16.5%) 5HHRRHE - KRR RE
REBEEONBRARNREFEA
WEERBGER - Hit - WENERE
MEWMRAHRBR NS HEE -

BREBEHEARIMBELERETE
(TREEMBBRZE]) REEMBTL
EEGD > FREHERARNREES
25%  HETEEERZTEREER
iR S B IR R

BB BB EERRE SRS T %
MBEM (MR- ——FF1%,) - 5
BhEERANEREEDRENZ
T N\F— A — HATERE A& F B A]
R MMIEMB MR ZBERREM
E A% U 9 R B9 BR B BN ZBAR R 3 B
EEIRRE2TIEARE MBS
B 591 1512 5% 5 10% B9 T R B 4 1
ST (AREEEBMNR) -

Hong Kong Profits Tax has been provided at the rate of 16.5%
(2019: 16.5%) on the estimated assessable profits arising in
Hong Kong during the year. The Company and its subsidiaries
operating in Hong Kong did not have assessable profits,
accordingly no provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been
made in the consolidated financial statements for both years.

Under the Law of the People’s Republic of China on Enterprise
Income Tax (the “EIT Law”) and Implementation Regulation of the
EIT Law, the tax rate of the PRC subsidiaries is 25% except for
certain group entities which are entitled to various concessionary
tax rates or tax exemptions and reliefs.

According to a joint circular of the Ministry of Finance and the
State Administration of Taxation, Cai Shui 2011 No. 1, only the
profits earned by foreign-investment enterprises prior to 1st
January, 2008, when distributed to foreign investors, can be
grandfathered and exempted from withholding tax. Whereas,
dividend distributed out of the profits generated thereafter,
shall be subject to the Enterprise Income Tax at 5% or 10% and
withheld by the PRC entities, pursuant to Articles 3 and 27 of the
New Law and Article 91 of its Detailed Implementation Rules.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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10. BB (&) 10. TAXATION (CONTINUED)
FARBETLHAGAERREMEZEH The tax charge for the year can be reconciled to the profit before
stk FBRF AT M A B RAT ¢ taxation per consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

comprehensive income as follows:

—E-FF —E-NF
2020 2019
FHT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
B B A ) Profit before taxation 8,990,263 8,421,548
RERATEHE25% Tax at the applicable income tax rate of 25%
ZZE—NF : 25%) (2019: 25%)
SHETIA 2,247,566 2,105,387
AR T HRA S/ Tax effect of expenses not deductible
Bxge for tax purposes 194,299 195,556
PRSI R B ARBIU AR Tax effect of income not taxable
e for tax purposes (37,425) (139,296)
AL AREENTETE Tax effect of share of results of joint ventures (164,224) (125,621)
R E R R ENTIFHE  Tax effect of share of results of associates (64,605) (58,910)
RERRBEIBNF H 2 Tax effect of tax losses not recognised 21,485 76,459
BT ARERAFIEREIE  Utilisation of tax losses previously
not recognised (6,794) (46,461)
REBEMETENEH Income tax at concessionary rates (52,079) (83,293)

BEMERE R 2k &

Withholding tax paid for distributable profits

EEANEHZFOTENB and intergroup restructuring of
investments in the PRC 96,079 (36,147)
BAFEREBTIR Underprovision/(overprovision) in prior years
(FBRER ) 49,570 36,416
HAth Others (5,497) (2,285)
FRHELZ S Tax charge for the year 2,278,375 1,921,805

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S
EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES

Directors

The emoluments paid or payable to the directors are as follows:

It a2 “E-0E
2020 2019
#8Rk  BUMEN BIRER EeR  AUAEY ]
He RthERl #e FEHR At i E iz e HElR Rt
Performance  Retirement Performance ~ Retirement
Salaries related benefit Salaries related benefit
and other incentive schemes and other incentive schemes
j £3:51 Name of directors Fees benefits ~ payments ~contributions Total Fees benefits payments  contributions Total
TEn Fin Tn Tén Tén T Fhr T T TR
HK$’000 HKS’ 000 HKS'000 HK$’ 000 HKS' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000
4Es Executive directors
LEE Shi Baofeng - 1,501 2,564 51 4116 - 1,775 4746 %8 6,619
Bl Ge Bin - 1,317 2,250 76 3,643 - 1,512 5,755 101 7,368
FUES Non-executive directors
TER (MiH(a))  Wang Chuandong (Note (a)) - - - - - = = = = =
RE(Hi(2)  Chen Ying (Note (a) - - - - - - - - - -
TE(Mit@)  Wang Yan (Note (a) - - - - - = = = = =
BER (HE(a)  Wan Sust Fei (Note (a) - - - - - - - - _ -
S5 (MiH(a)  Jing Shiging (Note (a)) - - - - - - - - _ -
BIFUTEE  Independent non-
executive directors
B Wong Tak Sing 250 - - - 250 200 = = - 200
ER Yu Hon To, David 250 - - - 250 200 = = - 200
BEll Yang Yuchuan 250 - - - 250 200 = = = 200
#EE (M3E()  Hu Xiaoyong (Note (b)) 250 - - - 250 183 = - = 183
1,000 2,818 4814 127 8,759 783 3,287 10,501 199 14770
Bt Notes:
(a) TEMRLAE - BESLAE  TEH4E (a) The emoluments of Mr. Wang Chuandong, Mr. Chen Ying, Mr. Wang

BERZLTESEFTRER T
ZER-ZE-NAFOHHESHEH (&

B) R ABEE -

HBEBEENR_T-hF—A=+—

B EBLIFNTES -

Yan, Ms. Wan Suet Fei and Mr. Jing Shiging for 2020 and 2019 are
borne by China Resources (Holdings) Company Limited.

(b) Mr. Hu Xiaoyong was appointed as an independent non-executive
director on 31st January, 2019.

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR
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M. EERTHEAZMNESRAR 11. DIRECTORS’ AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE’S

ReEHES (&)

N EFBATEENOME D2 HY
BREHARBRAEEE IR EH IR
BARTS A EPREIFMITE S B
FATEENMES D EHHREE
RARBERHRE -

TR 0 0 S A ) 2 R T A 10 % 7R {18 F
EREEMAME -

==

rEERAREHFALEERSE (=
E-NF MB)RTES  KEMN
HeFBRREX  FREH=F
—T-NEF ZR)BSFER (K
EWIEAREEEERITHEE) 1T
BEIFWT

EMOLUMENTS AND FIVE HIGHEST PAID
EMPLOYEES (CONTINUED)

The executive directors’ emoluments shown above were paid for
their services in connection with the management of the affairs
of the Company and the Group. The emoluments of the non-
executive directors and independent non-executive directors
shown above were paid for their services as directors of the
Company.

Neither the chief executive nor any of the directors waived any
emoluments in both years.

Employees

The five highest paid individuals of the Group included two
executive directors (2019: two), details of whose emoluments
are set out above. Details of the emoluments for the year of the
remaining three (2019: three) highest paid employees who are
neither a director nor chief executive of the Group are as follows:

—EEH —E-NF

2020 2019

FHET FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$ 000

e REMBA Salaries and other benefits 3,536 4,031
MINITE ) S Performance related incentive payments 5,828 14,061
RIRAE AT B Retirement benefit scheme contributions 153 298
9,517 18,390

BB FIATEEE :

The emoluments of the above employees are within the following
bands:

—E-2F —ThEF

2020 2019

BEAH BE A

Number of Number of

employees employees

2,500,001 723,000,000/ 7T HK$2,500,001 to HK$3,000,000 2 -

3,000,001 % 3,500,000/ 7C HK$3,000,001 to HK$3,500,000 1 -
5,500,001 7C%6,000,000/%7C HK$5,500,001 to HK$6,000,000 -

6,000,001 7C%6,500,000%7C HK$6,000,001 to HK$6,500,000 - 2

3 3

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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12. B2 12. DIVIDENDS
—g-%x —E-hE
2020 2019
FHERT FHET
HK$’000 HK$’ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
FAERRDIRRE Dividends recognised as distribution during
the year:
2T FERHRE - 2020 interim dividend —
15780 15 HK cents per share
(ZF—NF: _E-hF (2019: 2019 interim dividend -
FHIRR S — FRR1574L) 15 HK cents per share) 340,232 326,740
—E-NERERE - 2019 final dividend —
FRE 727510 72 HK cents per share
—E-NF:ZE-N\F (2019: 2018 final dividend —
REARR B — TRR6e2751l) 62 HK cents per share) 1,633,115 1,350,494
1,973,347 1,677,234
EEESENBE—E -2+ 7 The directors recommend the payment of a final dividend of 78
=+ B EEY RS ERTeE HK cents (2019: 72 HK cents) per share for the year ended 31st
W (—T—H & 7258(l) » wxmE December, 2020 in an aggregate amount of HK$1,769,208,000
1 ,769,208,0005%775 (:g-ﬁﬁz : (2019: HK$1 ,633,1 15,000).

1,633,115,000/87T) °

ERMBERERAT —Z=TFFH 179
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HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HILEFE

13. BREF

BRERBNTZA TBERTE

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

13. EARNINGS PER SHARE

following data:

The calculation of the basic earnings per share is based on the

e —FNF
2020 2019
FHET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(F7))
(Restated)
BF Earnings:
AUt ESREREF Earnings for the purposes of basic earnings
BF (K AFHE A per share (profit for the year attributable to
FEIEFEARF) owners of the Company) 5,151,292 5,043,477
—E-BF —E-NF
2020 2019

ROEE :

BT EERERBT

MEFHEETROEE
BAEBE EIRARRG

Number of shares:
Weighted average number of shares in issue
less shares held for incentive award scheme
for the purpose of basic earnings per share 2,232,313,848

2,178,215,487

BN MEFEYEE ETHEE LR
B MW EZ5SRESRT

potential ordinary shares in issue for both years.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

BE - B8
B R#fE  RREE  GAREE AENERE AE ABIR At
Plant,
machinery
and Gas Furniture  Leasehold Motor Construction
Buildings  equipment  pipelines  and fixtures improvements vehicles in progress Total
Tn i Tin ThL Tin TR T T
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000 HKS$'000 HK$'000
%8 THE GROUP
B CosT
RZZ-NE-A-B(EJ)  AtistJanvary, 2019
(Restated) 4,752,278 3,380,973 25,266,063 514,877 397,748 632,608 3,417,033 38,361,580
HE Additions 26,558 323,560 133,293 212,860 32,347 50465 3902917 4,682,000
e Acquisition of subsidiaries 26,933 16,811 214,187 3,454 67 1,307 28,396 291,155
HE Disposals (29933)  (105385)  (65812)  (23,280) (7565 (51604)  (40,119)  (323,698)
Ebipr Reclassification 312,664 232504 4,307,557 4547 31,052 - (4,908,324) -
gE(REEE Transfer to right-of-use
assets - - - - - - (22,212) (22,212)
EXRENE Transfer to investment
properties (12,993) - - - - - - (12,993)
EHiAE Exchange adjustments (110,126) (91,860) (576,245) (12,089) (5,594) (17,385) (120,008)  (933,307)
RZE-NE+ZA=+-H At 31st December, 2019
(E51) (Restated) 4,965,381 3,756,603 29,299,043 700,369 448,055 615,391 2,257,623 42,042,465
AE Additions 27,000 244,158 29,045 269,383 32,265 62,573 4526,708 5191132
WEHBAR Acquisition of subsidiaries 136,902 38,973 1,199,358 25,585 - 8,164 55,573 1,464,555
he Disposals (27260)  (65355)  (T5441) (44,999 (3406)  (74:846) (9350)  (300,657)
EFipE] Reclassification 289,506 170,368 3,232,071 7,168 2,125 - (3,701,238) -
BERENE Transfer to investment
properties (10,309) - - - - - - (10,309)
EiA% Exchange adjustments 362,993 317,487 2,050,287 59,898 19,642 50,777 220,968 3,082,052
RZF-FF+-A=T-A At 31st December, 2020 5,744,213 4462234 35,734,363 1,017,404 498,681 662,059 3,350,284 51,469,238
HERAE DEPRECIATION AND
IMPAIRMENT
RZZ-NE-R-B(E5)  AtistJanuary, 2019
(Restated) 614,033 1,011,011 4,229,545 318,588 265,318 308,076 26,324 6,772,895
EERR Provided for the year 181,632 355,999 1,005,201 73,814 20,569 75,615 - 1712830
it EF Eliminated on disposals (8,068) (72,372) (10,443) (16,737) (3,406) (46,590) (3333)  (160,949)
EXRENE Transfer to investment
properties (2.437) - - - - - - (2.437)
LS Exchange adjustments (23,838) (47,930) (124141) (9,366) (3,075) (11,823) (213)  (220,386)
WZZ-NETZA=+-RA At 31st December, 2019
(&51) (Restated) 761,322 1,246,708 5,100,162 366,299 279,406 325,278 22,778 8,101,953
EERR Provided for the year 220,973 418,189 1,024,558 101,300 37,844 70,229 343 1873436
L ERHR Eliminated on disposals (13,116) (55,151) (49,321) (25,160) (692) (65,667) - (209107)
BERENE Transfer {0 investment
properties (3,708) - - - - - - (3,708)
ERHE Exchange adjustments 86,968 165,891 440,303 33,527 11,233 35,609 363 773,894
RZFZFFTZf=1-H At 31st December, 2020 1,052,439 1,775,637 6,515,702 475,966 327,791 365,449 23,484 10,536,468
FAE CARRYING VALUES
RZF=FF+-f=1-H At 31st December, 2020 4,691,774 2,686,597 29,218,661 541,438 170,890 296,610 3,326,800 40,932,770
RZE-NETZA=T—H At 31st December, 2019
(&3) (Restated) 4,204,059 2,509,895 24,198,881 334,070 168,649 290,113 2234845 33940512
EBERRERERAT —ZE_TFFRH
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14. Y135 - BMERRE ()

Lt - BEMERFEER (EET
RN At A E A F BER A
BETRIRBERABRETIAFTE

BF

Buildings

W - #es R

Plant, machinery and equipment
MREB

Gas pipelines
BRMEEE

Furniture and fixtures
HEMERE

Leasehold improvements
e

Motor vehicles

AEENEFURRE L E -

14. PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT
(CONTINUED)

The above items of property, plant and equipment, other than
construction in progress, are depreciated over their estimated
useful lives and after taking into account their estimated residual
values, using the straight-line method, as follows:

25F 405

25 to 40 years
5ZE20%F

5 to 20 years
20E304F

20 to 30 years
3E12F

3 to 12 years
3E5F

3 to 5 years
32104

3/ to 10 years

The Group's buildings are situated on the land in the PRC.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



15. REWE

HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

42 AR

e ISR M

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

15. INVESTMENT PROPERTIES

Bt aE FAT

Notes HK$' 000
[2%:S COST
R=ZZE—hF—H—H(&F7)) At 1st January, 2019 (Restated) 104,435
WK B A R Acquisition of a subsidiary 157
BEAEEEET Transfer from right-of-use assets 9,767
B - BERBEEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 12,993
M 4, 3 B Exchange adjustments (2,602)
MR- NF+=-A=+—H(E%|) At31st December, 2019 (Restated) 124,750
B - BEREHEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 10,309
bE 5 R Exchange adjustments 8,024
RZZE=TF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 143,083
e DEPRECIATION
RZZFE—hh&F—HA—H(&F3) At 1st January, 2019 (Restated) 36,253
FERE Provided for the year 3,952
BEAEEESD Transfer from right-of-use assets 1,443
BYE  BERZEEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 2,437
R Exchange adjustments (1,062)
R-_Z—hF+-_A=+—H(F%) At31st December, 2019 (Restated) 43,023
FERE Provided for the year 4,007
B - BEREHEL Transfer from property, plant and equipment 14 3,708
bE 5 A Exchange adjustments 2,920
N—E-TF+=HA=+—H At 31st December, 2020 53,658
BREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZE=EF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 89,425
RZZE—NF+=ZA=+—H(F%) At31st December, 2019 (Restated) 81,727

AEBEMERARBAES KA
BEEURARLGE AR RK
EMENR - TEDRFSEEFH
NEAREM R BRI AR -

RZE_TER-_T-NF+_A=

T— B AEENMREREMFESN
iNGEET

All of the Group’s property interests to earn rentals are measured
using the cost model and are classified and accounted for as
investment properties. Depreciation is provided to write off the

cost of investment properties using the straight-line method over

the remaining terms of the leases.

At 31st December, 2020 and 2019, all of the Group’s investment
properties were situated in the PRC.

EERRERBERAF

—E-TEEH
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16. HE 16.
AEEEREEA
REBAERAREEBEENET |
B #ERZBEZEEENHES
4 o BIRAMEE —RERFAREE
WiEHE i FAEA2ES0F - W
BIEZET B ENGKR - BTreg
BYHEMRE - BFNHEHBEDE R
2FE25%F - MKE - R RFZHHME
HBEENT2E245F o

LEASES

The Group as a lessee

The Group has lease contracts for various items of buildings,

plant, machinery and equipment used in its operations. Lump

sum payments were generally made upfront to acquire the leased

land from the owners with lease periods of 2 to 50 years, and no

ongoing payments will be made under the terms of these land

leases. Leases of buildings generally have lease terms between

2 and 25 years, and leases of plant, machinery and equipment

have lease terms between 2 and 24 years.

(a) RZABEE (a) Right-of-use assets
AEEFAEAEEENREE The carrying amounts of the Group’s right-of-use assets and
REBWT the movements during the year are as follows:
B - #aE
HEL BF R a5t
Plant,
machinery
Leasehold and
land Buildings equipment Total
i3 TEL FHET TET T
Notes HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
R-Z—AF—HA—H  Asat 1st January, 2019
(&E31)) (Restated) 2,223,426 269,436 12,574 2,505,436
RE Additions 228,913 5,971 59 234,943
WM AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 20,928 = = 20,928
BYE - BERZEEL  Transfer from property, plant
and equipment 22,272 - - 22,272
BERANE Transfer to investment properties (8,324) = = (8,324)
HE Disposals (6,852) = = (6,852)
WERS Depreciation charge (103,847) (78,155) (2,644) (184,646)
B A% Exchange adjustments (51,199) (6,173) (283) (57,655)
RZZ-NF As at 31st December, 2019
TZA=T—B(EJI) (Restated) 2,325,317 191,079 9,706 2,526,102
RE Additions 313,136 4,598 431 318,165
= YNG] Acquisition of subsidiaries 37 43,271 = = 43,271
HE Disposals (7,282) = = (7,282)
ERX Depreciation charge (98,386) (75,705) (2,127) (176,218)
3L Exchange adjustments 108,050 4,035 113 112,198
RZZZZF As at 31st December, 2020
+=-A=+—-H 2,684,106 124,007 8,123 2,816,236
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16. HE (&)

KREBEREEA (F)

(b) HERE

FREERENRmE (GHAG

HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

e IR RMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

16. LEASES (CONTINUED)

The Group as a lessee (Continued)

(b)

Lease liabilities

The carrying amount of lease liabilities (included under

BRITREMERIET) RES interest-bearing bank and other borrowings) and the
Ul movements during the year are as follows:
—EEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FERT FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%)
(Restated)
R—RA—BMERHEE Carrying amount at 1st January 361,167 466,430
g New leases 22,332 21,699
FAB AT SEE Accretion of interest recognised
during the year 16,400 15,790
ME 5, R Exchange adjustments 25,812 (8,503)
(BN Payments (107,235) (134,249)
R+ A=+—H/EEE Carrying amount at 31st December
(FH3E) (Note) 318,476 361,167
DR Analysed into:
MENER S Current portion 98,946 92,177
FETRBEB D Non-current portion 219,530 268,990

B
T—hE

FE B (40,295,000 7T (=

: 63,882,000/ 7T)

RENRAREMBAR -

(c) FRiRa g A BB

Note : Lease liability of HK$40,295,000 (2019: HK$63,882,000) is to

a fellow subsidiary.

(c)

The amounts recognised in profit or loss in relation to leases

I’ are as follows:
—E-EH —E-NF
2020 2019
FHET FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
HEEENE Interest on lease liabilities 16,400 15,790
TREEERERS Depreciation charge of
right-of-use assets 176,218 184,646
HEREEREEEEE Expense relating to short-term leases
HEFENFAL and leases of low-value assets
(GFATTBARX & (included in administrative expenses
HERDHFAZ) and selling and distribution expenses) 80,811 108,749
BahERFIRAE Total amount recognised in profit or loss 273,429 309,185
ZHMRERERAT —ZE=ZFFH
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RE IS IRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

16. HE (&) 16. LEASES (CONTINUED)
REEERHBEA The Group as a lessor
NR-_E-_TF+_A=+—H B At 31st December, 2020, the undiscounted lease payments
AEBRBEERRS 2 TR HEELE receivable by the Group in future periods under non-cancellable
HEREUCRIEAERENT ¢ operating leases with its tenants are as follows:
—ECEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FER FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%)
(Restated)
—FR Within one year 8,861 9,195
FEFEERF In the second to fifth years inclusive
(RIEEREME) 15,161 21,437
HFELAE After five years 3,535 8,382
27,557 39,014
17. REE DNAINRESE 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES
ZEIEF —ZT-NF
2020 2019
FHER FHT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%)
(Restated)
R FEE Share of net assets 10,780,204 8,327,867
WHEE £ R e Goodwill on acquisition 1,334,628 903,117
12,114,832 9,230,984
NEIREE R REBNTESL DT Details of the Group’s principal joint ventures at the end of the
FEIEE M6 o reporting period are set out in note 46.
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RE IS IRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

17. REERARINRER () 17. INTERESTS IN JOINT VENTURES (CONTINUED)
BEEMEYFBEANESE ATNE Aggregate information of joint ventures that are not
&R individually material

—EEH —T-NF
2020 2019
FERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
REBEELRN R The Group’s share of profit and
2EREBE total comprehensive income 273,591 328,970
PR EE BUR A 42 58 Aggregate gas connection income 1,602,661 1,656,323
AEBRZESGERTIN Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
g R interests in these joint ventures 2,321,425 3,320,024
18. NEEZE N B MVRER 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES
—EEF —T-NF
2020 2019
FHERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
ERFEE Share of net assets 4,076,949 3,806,363
BB E SRR Goodwill on acquisition 5,077 4,771
4,082,026 3,811,134
EHRENAFE (M) Fair value of listed investments (Note) 7,126,327 9,068,624
Mk : EMRDBOAFEFZE (E—RAF Note: The fair value measurements of the listed shares (Level 1 fair value
Bt 2) TR EERTISHTERE - measurements) are derived from quoted prices in an active market.

REEEAR - NREBMEZEHE QA Details of the Group’s principal associates at the end of the

FEE A FE47 o reporting period are set out in note 47.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE-Z-_ZF+-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

REE A RKER (8) 18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)
FEBENRNMBERBE : Summarised financial information of material associate:
AEBNEEREATNEENRTEE Summarised financial information in respect of EEMREB KN
BRHBERDF ([EEME ) RAERR ERAF(EEMA") and KERAEEROBRDF(REMR”),
REBROBRAR ([KEBRE]) B the Group’s material associates, are set out below.

FHERBEHRTNMT -

ZEBERNANERERERAEE The associates are accounted for using the equity method in

IR AL -

these consolidated financial statements.

EERR REBRR
ZEZEF —T-NEF —EC-EF —T-NEF
2020 2019 2020 2019
T FHET FTiERr THT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
MENEE Current assets 3,401,953 2,807,791 3,286,938 3,216,729
FRBEE Non-current assets 7,867,634 7,069,145 5,039,493 4,281,998
mEE & Current liabilities (5,217,132) (2,630,476) (3,567,175) (2,967,587)
FnBERE Non-current liabilities (371,716) (2,196,184) (282,778) (460,616)
FEER R Non-controlling interests 481,997 449,149 81,316 177,267
BEERR SR
ZECEF —T-NF —E-EF ZT-NF
2020 2019 2020 2019
FTET FHT FTERT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
N Revenue 7,417,078 7,892,698 4,699,119 5,378,986
FREFREZEEEELE  Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year 436,708 448,560 487,837 549,271
FABKEEARRE Dividends received from the
associates for the year 29,107 28,051 78,132 -

ERMAERERAE —T=TFFH 191
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18.

—TFEF_HA=t+—HLFE

REE N AIKNER ()
EBBEQANHBRBEE (£)

R ERE B RN A BB RE
PO R B B 4 ) ) 25 10 R T (L
m -

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

18. INTERESTS IN ASSOCIATES (CONTINUED)

Summarised financial information of material associates
(Continued)

A reconciliation of the above summarised financial information
to the carrying amounts of the interests in the associates
recognised in the consolidated financial statements is as follows:

EERR RERR
—ECEF —Z-hE —BCEF —T-hEF
2020 2019 2020 2019
THET FHT FTHEr T
HK$’ 000 HK$’' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BB A E AR Net assets of the associate
BEFE attributable to owners 5,198,742 4,601,127 4,395,162 3,893,257
AEEREE R TN Proportion of the Group’s
HAEERERLA ownership interests in
associates 22.49% 22.49% 32.40% 32.40%
=S Goodwill 3,466 3,257 1,611 1,514
RUEER A T ERE Effect of fair value adjustments
0h:% at acquisition 573,354 564,445 111,082 119,822
REEREE A AR Carrying amount of the Group’s
WEREE interests in associates 1,746,017 1,602,495 1,536,725 1,382,751

FEBRERRNEEREERANEE N The material associates are principally engaged in similar

URNER - HAREBHERAR LR
ERHER  BRBRERAERETH
MRER FEMREEBEEBNR
2R ERREBRUARRRAR
MRUEHERBAS AEBREEE -
HEEL MNP E -

EEMSAFEBERNBEQAMNA
&R

activities to the Group and are strategic to the Group’s
activities of the sale of natural gas and liquefied petroleum
gas, the construction of gas pipelines networks under gas
connection contracts, the design, construction, consultancy and
management for gas connection projects and the sale of gas fuel
in natural gas filling stations. Their principal place of business is
the PRC.

Aggregate information of associates that are not individually
material

—EEF —T-NF
2020 2019
FHET FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
ANEE E (b A The Group’s share of profit and total
PN ek comprehensive income 52,009 23,017
AEBNZERE RN ER Aggregate carrying amount of the Group’s
R RRE(EAREE interests in these associates 799,284 825,888

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

19. EEZR A FEFAREMEZE 19. EQUITY INVESTMENTS DESIGNATED AT FAIR

WERARE VALUE THROUGH OTHER COMPREHENSIVE
INCOME
e —FNF
2020 2019
Tz TR
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(Z51)
(Restated)
EBERAFETAHM Equity investments designated at fair value
2HKBBEHRERE through other comprehensive income
EWRARE - BATE Listed equity investments, at fair value 3,748 4,264
ELEMRAKRE - ZATE Unlisted equity investments, at fair value 149,352 141,994
153,100 146,258
AR AR E AT BE s E IR A The above equity investments were irrevocably designated at
FEHFAEMEEKZ  BAKER fair value through other comprehensive income as the Group
2y SR BB RS o considers these investments to be strategic in nature.
REBEZ-_Z_ZFF+_A=+—8 During the year ended 31st December, 2020, the Group received
FEE - REE SRR S LK dividends in the amount of HK$2,036,000 (2019: HK$3,213,000)
f% E.2,036,000E L (= E— N4 - from the equity investments.

3,213,000/ 7T) °

20. & 20. GOODWILL
Bt FHET
Notes HK$ 000
IREME CARRYING VALUE
R-Z-NE—A—H At 1st January, 2019 668,860
W REFT B A F) Acquisition of a subsidiary 15,402
M 54, 38 B Exchange adjustments (14,892)
RZE—hF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2019 669,370
WEEH B AR Acquisition of subsidiaries 37 185,052
bE 5 AR Exchange adjustments 49 534
RZZE=EF+=-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 903,956

ERMAERERAT —T-TFFH 193
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

20. BE (&)

HEBAHIRENEESG RS
BB ERZERAHZREEL
B ((REEEEMN]) - stEHERE
ARmME  BERERSMBAR RS
VRS ELEM c RREHR B
BHREETIZEAEBATHER
BIPTELANEE

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

Goodwill acquired in a business combination is allocated to
cash-generating units (“CGUs”) that are expected to benefit
from that business combination. Management considers that
each subsidiary represents a separate CGU for the purpose of
goodwill impairment testing. At the end of the reporting period,
the carrying amount of goodwill mainly represented goodwill
arising from the acquisition of subsidiaries as follows:

—B-FF —FNF
2020 2019
Bz TR FAEL
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&51)
(Restated)
ZMNEBRRER AR (fia) ZNEBRRAR QA (Note a) 227,169 213,439
ZREBEMRBERAR (HFEb) ZHEEMREER AR (Note b) 37 132,742 =
REEHMRER AR (FiZa) RZEEBRRAR QA (Note a) 126,108 118,486
EHIRR (L8) BRAR (MizEa) EHME (L8) BRAF (Note a) 122,010 114,636
REEBEMBERAR (HFEb) REEBMFEM AR (Note b) 77,681 72,986
BE=SRAARBREAAR (MFa) BE=SRAREMET LT (Note a) 37 49,507 =
25 EBRR AR DA (Ffita) ZEEBMTER AR (Note a) 32,338 30,384
ENEERERHERART (ita) BMNEBRRROERAXF (Note a) 29,010 27,257
AREBRIAR AT (fiEa) ARZEBRRAR QA (Note a) 22,179 20,839
NDEIEBRRERAR (MiEb) RIIEIEBREER2LE (Note b) 16,098 15,125
HAth (FiizEa) Others (Note a) 69,114 56,218
903,956 669,370

Bz - Notes:
a. =W EEA B RELDE a. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
B ()EERDHERERE RIAmME and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;

2, and (iii) the sale of gas appliances.

(I RRRIR R ¢ M (i) SHEMRRER

\
A

ERGELEMMIREEN TR
A (1)HE R SR BEIE R AE B
f o ()RR (i) S MR =S
P R (iv) N -

m w3 R

.

b. These CGUs are engaged in the operating segments of (i) the sale
and distribution of gas fuel and related products; (ii) gas connection;
(iii) the sale of gas appliances; and (iv) gas stations.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020



20. BE (&)

ReEEBMA A KESETIRER
BEFETEEE - T EERAEER
MEERREFRE WEEREE
HERKANRAZHEH - TBE
DEAARREEERERERESE
EEMRFANRRIRTH S
BIATEL RAFTRAR K - MRRRER
BEFRNGFE - EERERRANE
PARBEED RIEAT IS RRE
MEE

REBERBESREEERESBRK
hF (HERERMRREREEH
—RERM) M RAHYBIEE R
Ben8EA - RixaRFMbHEE
RRE5% REH T LFNMBAER
F2% (ZF—NF: EAFRERK
R F R 2% ) R b TR B 2R HAR
MBRERE - FRBREELBEMNE
EREMAMNIRER6.5% (ZF—
NE :6.7%) - BEERR  NREH
R MREBOBHEL KRB EMS
ARBEEE BEERR  ZFEBK
WERSEAEH TSGR RCE
EEUNRREARBAZREESL
B MR EEEE °

HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

e R ERMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

20. GOODWILL (CONTINUED)

The recoverable amounts of the CGUs are determined based on
value-in-use calculations. The key assumptions for the value-in-
use calculations are those regarding the discount rates, growth
rates and expected changes to selling prices and direct costs.
Management estimates discount rates using pre-tax rates that
reflect current market assessments of the time value of money
and the risks specific to the CGUs. The growth rates are based
on industry growth forecasts. Changes in selling prices and
direct costs are based on past practices and expectations of
future changes in the market.

The Group prepares cash flow forecasts derived from the most
recent financial budgets approved by senior management for
the next 5 years, which is the general development period
for the sale of liquefied gas and the gas connection business
and extrapolates cash flows for the period beyond the budget
period based on the estimated growth rate of 5% for the first 5
years and 2% for the remaining 7 years (2019: 5% for the first
5 years and 2% for the remaining 7 years). The rate used to
discount the forecast cash flows for the CGUs is 6.5% (2019:
6.7%). In the opinion of the directors, no material impairment
loss on goodwill on gas operation was identified at the end of
the reporting period. Management believes that any reasonably
possible change in any of these assumptions would not cause
the aggregate carrying amount of the CGU to exceed the
recoverable carrying amount of the CGU.
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HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HILEFE

21, KR

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

21. OPERATING RIGHTS

Bt aE FAT

Notes HK$ 000
[2%:S COST
R=ZZE—hF—H—H(&F7)) At 1st January, 2019 (Restated) 1,589,871
NE Additions 4,380
EEEIANGIR G Acquisition from a subsidiary 16,304
bE 53 Exchange adjustments (9,029)
RZE—hF+=-A=+—H(FH) At 31st December, 2019 (Restated) 1,601,526
NE Additions 103,904
BB A RKE Acquisition from subsidiaries 37 220,054
bE N AR Exchange adjustments 45,781
R-ZE_ZEF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 1,971,265
b E AMORTISATION
RZZE—NhE—HA—H8 (&%) At 1st January, 2019 (Restated) 355,865
FERME Provided for the year 63,465
bE AR Exchange adjustments (3,499)
R-B—hE+_A=+—8H (&%) At 31st December, 2019 (Restated) 415,831
FERE Provided for the year 64,817
R Exchange adjustments 14,332
RZZE_EF+_-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 494,980
IREE CARRYING VALUES
RZZEZZEF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 1,476,285
R-ZE—hFE+-A=+—8(FH) At 31st December, 2019 (Restated) 1,185,695

W EBBENEERTIAEBRER
EFT AT A FH10E50F A

The operating rights for city pipeline network are amortised

over the estimated useful life ranging from 10 to 50 years on a

straight-line basis.

22. & 22. INVENTORIES
—ECEH —ZT-NF
2020 2019
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
MR Construction materials 673,054 734,738
IR i Finished goods 333,774 272,763
1,006,828 1,007,501

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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23. EWE ZRIF R EMERR 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

—E-EF —ET-NF

2020 2019

FBT FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

(&%)

(Restated)

FEWE 5 BR K Trade receivables 5,251,785 5,195,412
B Impairment (356,204) (265,412)
4,895,581 4,930,000

YA &R RIRE (Hiia) Amounts due from joint ventures (Note a) 383,409 308,534
U B 2 B 5R0E (M sEDb) Amounts due from associates (Note b) 125,931 78,861

FEUIEIE AR AR B 3K E (FifsEc)  Amounts due from non-controlling

shareholders (Note c) 88,324 82,946

JEULR Z MY B A B FE (Mf5Ed) Amounts due from fellow subsidiaries (Note d) 2,519,914 2,023,154
Tk (HizEe) Deposits (Note e) 1,044,976 1,103,916
TR FRIE (B FES) Prepayments (Note f) 2,891,429 2,477,682
Hfth FEUR (M sEg) Other receivables (Note g) 738,221 812,305
BB (Hg) Impairment allowance (Note g) (42,091) (49,194)
12,645,694 11,768,204
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HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st D

23. IR E 5 BRI H WK

ecember, 2020

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

() (CONTINUED)
B EE Notes:
a.  BREWEZ R RFHKIE35,645,000% a.  Except for the amounts due from joint ventures of HK$35,645,000

T (=ZZF— N4 : 40,933,000/ 7T)
AEER - R3.92B(ZT—hLfF :
3.92EE4.28E) WFF KT BERE
R—FREEN  ERAEEE &
B RANRERIFERE -

b. BREABEAFAREEMNERKE b.
75,150,000 T (ZF —h4F :
50,571,000 7T) AEER - 124.35
E(=ZZ—N%F : 4.35F) WFFH =X
ATERAR—FERNERIN B hE
i - o8 RARERIGHEE -

c. EUCFERERFEREEN 28 c
RARERKEE -

d.  BRARRWNEBRRRENERKE d.
2,139,448,0008 L (ZT—NF :
1,679,286,000/# T ) AEIEH « &

FERERL4 5B (ZF— % :4.35
E)HERER—FENEEIN - &
BERE 2B RANERIEEE -

e. REFBEEXNTHRAMBRENIZ e.
& HERERRHRRS -

f. BENFEIZEBEBERERERE f.
BAERATRN K

9. BREATRBRASETKAIEEE g.
W EIAR S A R &R E T EbREK
KEtERERE - BHERE VSR
RUAREE BRI & AR N E A
FEUTRFTH R BB -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

(2019: HK$40,933,000) which are unsecured, bear interest at a rate
of 3.92% (2019: 3.92% to 4.28%) per annum and are repayable
within one year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loans to associates of HK$75,150,000
(2019: HK$50,571,000) which are unsecured, bear interest at a rate
of 4.35% (2019:4.35%) per annum and are repayable within one
year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free and repayable on
demand.

Amounts due from non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Except for the amount of loans to a fellow subsidiary of
HK$2,139,448,000 (2019: HK$1,679,286,000) which are unsecured,
bear interest at a rate of 4.35% (2019: 4.35%) per annum and are
repayable within one year, the balances are unsecured, interest-free
and repayable on demand.

Deposits mainly include deposits paid to gas suppliers, rental
deposits and deposits of taxes.

Prepayments mainly include prepayments for purchase of gas fuel
and related goods.

Except for the impairment provided for certain other receivables
which indicates that the Group is unlikely to receive the outstanding
contractual amounts in full, no impairment allowance is provided for
other receivables for which credit risk has not increased significantly
since initial recognition.
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AEEGTHEFNHEEH—RA30
KZEQOX « ENK EIRREOEKE
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(CONTINUED)

The Group generally allows credit periods ranging from 30 to 90
days to its customers. The ageing analysis of trade receivables,
net of loss allowance, is presented based on the invoice date
at the end of the reporting period, which approximated to the
respective revenue recognition dates as follows:

g 23 —E-NF

2020 2019

THER FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

(&%)

(Restated)

0&90K 0 to 90 days 3,881,917 4,157,314
91E180K 91 to 180 days 467,884 350,374
181E 365K 181 to 365 days 404,052 310,963
365K = Over 365 days 141,728 111,349
4,895,581 4,930,000

EWE ZERROREBERREZHH
FIEE

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of trade
receivables are as follows:

—EIERF —E-NF

2020 2019

L FET FET

Notes HK$’000 HK$ 000

(&%)

(Restated)

R EH) At beginning of year 265,412 197,210
M 34, 38 B Exchange adjustments 19,974 (4,521)
REEE Impairment losses 9 70,818 72,723
RER At end of year 356,204 265,412

REHE B RABEEEETR
ELHT - UFFEREMEEEE - &
ENERBEABUBBREANTRE
Foab#sl (i@ - EmBR -
BRI KRR A RS B R B AT
AEERRNBEEDESR D) @
E%Iﬁ% o Zat B R BRI T ANHE A
%EﬂE&H’\#&iEﬁﬂ—J RS
Eﬁi@&%lﬁ RIS R R AR O 16k
HEANEERASEER - 8%
ENEZERFARERE - FATER
SR EPTRIR - BT LAY -

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates are based on days past due for groupings
of various customer segments with similar loss patterns (i.e., by
geographical region, product type, customer type and rating, and
coverage by letters of credit or other forms of credit insurance).
The calculation reflects the probability-weighted outcome, the
time value of money and reasonable and supportable information
that is available at the reporting date about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future economic conditions.
Generally, trade receivables are written off if past due for more
than one year and are not subject to enforcement activity.
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23. EREZRIRE

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

it & W =K 23. TRADE AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

(%)
TRESERARERH ENARE
REWE SRR EERRGER

R-Z-FBF+=-A=+—H

(CONTINUED)

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s trade receivables using a provision matrix:

As at 31st December, 2020

0-90 X 91-180k 181-365kX 365KU L st
0-90 91 -180 181 -365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEREE BB E(%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 1.63 1.94 70.61 6.78

#wAREE (TExT) Gross carrying amount

(HK$’000)

3,881,917 475,652 412,046 482,170 5,251,785

JEEAEEEIE (T8 IT) Expected credit losses

(HK$’000)

- 7,768 7,994 340,442 356,204

R-ZE—-hE+=-A=+—H (E7)

As at 31st December, 2019 (Restated)

0-90K 91-180Kk  181-365°k  365KMA L st
0-90 91-180 181 -365 Over 365
days days days days Total
TEREEBEE(%) Expected credit loss
rate (%) - 1.65 1.95 69.47 5.11

HREREE (T8T) Gross carrying amount

(HK$’000)

4,157,314 356,240 317,163 364,695 5,195,412

JEEAEEEIE (T IT) Expected credit losses

(HK$’000)

= 5,866 6,200 253,346 265,412

RETERURR D ATIREE - ARE
BEREBANERMRAREERD
REAHMERTEERANESD - i
RASBEBEARERF  REEES
BBAR - Bt - ARREER B
EEARA P BHERTEHNRKEE
S BMARTTIEMEERME -

In determining the recoverability of a receivable, the Group
considers whether there has been adverse change in the credit
standing of the debtor from the date on which the credit was
initially granted. The concentration of credit risk is limited as the
Group’s customer base comprises a large number of customers.
Accordingly, the directors of the Company believe that there is
no further credit provision required in excess of the allowance for
doubtful debts already provided for in the consolidated financial
statements.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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BHE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

24. ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS

—ECEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FER FHIT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
ERIEAEEENRSE : Assets related to contract works arising from:
MRERES Gas connection activities 1,300,510 1,435,021
BITEF & RBKA Costs to fulfil contracts with customers 2,255,498 1,963,957
3,556,008 3,398,978
B Impairment (21,536) (12,554)
3,534,472 3,386,424

ERIEEAREENRERRAHE
B AR A BRI O B PR ER
B ES - b TS R R ER A (B ZB AR T
TERGERBIGM - FTARERBNG
RTREBEERRERFRES - &£
TRERREFPEKE  BRBER
TRREMEEENSEDEN S BRE
WE SR o

REE-_ZT-_FTF+=-_A=+—H
IEEE - 21,536,000 7T (ZF—H
F :12,554,000%8 ) R AESR T
BREBEENTEHEEBERE - &
SEEEFHNRZIERREEBRT)
REF IS SRR M sE 23 4% 7% -

W+—R=+—RH aRIEHEHEE
ENEREREERENT

Assets related to contract works are initially recognised for
revenue earned from the sale of goods and the provision of
related gas connection activities as the receipt of consideration
is conditional on successful completion of construction. Included
in assets related to contract works for construction services
are retention receivables. Upon completion of construction and
acceptance by the customer, the amounts recognised as assets
related to contract works are reclassified to trade receivables.

During the year ended 31st December, 2020, HK$21,536,000
(2019: HK$12,554,000) was recognised as an allowance for
expected credit losses on assets related to contract works.
The Group's trading terms and credit policy with customers are
disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The expected timing of recovery or settlement for assets related
to contract works as at 31st December is as follows:

i —

2020 2019

FET FHET

HK$’ 000 HK$'000

(E351)

(Restated)

—FR Within one year 1,300,510 1,435,021

SMMARRERAT —B-BEFH 201
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24. EEIREBREE (&) 24.

BREENREBEREZHHIW

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

ASSETS RELATED TO CONTRACT WORKS
(CONTINUED)

The movements in the loss allowance for impairment of contract

T ¢ assets are as follows:
—E-EH —E-NF
2020 2019
i FHExT FHT
Notes HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%)
(Restated)
REH At beginning of year 12,554 =
bE B Exchange adjustments 1,180 -
FEEE Impairment losses 9 7,802 12,554
RER At end of year 21,536 12,554

BmE A RERREEEETRED
- LErERBAEEER -FEAR
EEFRHCERERNBERTIENE
WESERAREEBEBRE R 25
EmMEH ARAREEREKES
ERREFA—FFER - SRBEEMN
BEXDERAGRUBEERXNT
REF D AR (kbR  ERE
Al BEBERI LA RERESE
EERBREANEERE) BKE
ZEFBNABETE - Xt ERBR
IRENEER  EERERRRE
BERSABBRESRE  Eain
RARREEGHTRANEERATEE
o

TXO B EAR B RS E R EE
ARAENEERBRER

An impairment analysis is performed at each reporting date
using a provision matrix to measure expected credit losses.
The provision rates for the measurement of the expected credit
losses for the contract assets are based on those for the trade
receivables as the contract assets and the trade receivables
are from the same customer bases. The provision rates for
contract assets are based on days past due of trade receivables
for groupings of various customer segments with similar loss
patterns (i.e., by geographical region, product type, customer
type and rating, and coverage by letters of credit or other forms
of credit insurance). The calculation reflects the probability-
weighted outcome, the time value of money and reasonable and
supportable information that is available at the reporting date
about past events, current conditions and forecasts of future
economic conditions.

Set out below is the information about the credit risk exposure on
the Group’s contract assets using a provision matrix:

i —

2020 2019

FBT FAT

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

(&%)

(Restated)

TEEEEBEE(%) Expected credit loss rate (%) 0.61 0.37
HEREE (TET) Gross carrying amount (HK$' 000) 3,556,008 3,398,978
TEREEERE (T&1T) Expected credit losses (HK$’ 000) 21,536 12,554

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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FHREERIERENRARMERHD
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

25. PLEDGED BANK DEPOSITS

At 31st December, 2020, bank deposits are pledged as security
for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and franchise
performance to the government. The pledged bank deposits are
denominated in RMB and carry interest at market rates ranging
from 0.30% to 1.55% (2019: 0.35% to 4.80%) per annum.

26. BANK BALANCES AND CASH

The bank balances carry interest at market rates ranging from 0%
to 3% (2019: 0% to 3%) per annum.

B E SRR HE MRS 27. TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
—EEF —ZE-NF
2020 2019
FBT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
e B SRR Trade payables 7,418,545 6,869,470
EAEEARZRE (Hita) Amounts due to joint ventures (Note a) 316,168 558,322
FEASH A Bl 5k (FisEb) Amounts due to associates (Note b) 97,231 6,799
FERTIEIERR AR R 308 (KisEc)  Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders
(Note ¢) 590,997 231,874
FEA R M8 2 A E0E (KMisEd) Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries (Note d) 323,089 273,929
FE o R B A B350 (FisEe) Amounts due to an intermediate
holding company (Note €e) 2,510,837 5,027,140
TEWGK Receipts in advance 5,160,503 4,874,126
Hib R R ESTEA Other payables and accruals 3,775,905 4,257,762
20,193,275 22,099,422

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR
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—EFE+-RA=+—HILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

27. BRHE SRR R H MBS 27.TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES
(4) (CONTINUED)
B E Notes:
a. BRENEEQRIFHIE304,448,0008 a.  Except for the amounts due to joint ventures of HK$304,448,000

L (=ZZ— L% : 558,209,000/8 7T )
BEEE  R115EE165E (=%
—NF : 1.15EZE1.65/F) KZEF
MR ERBER—FRNEEN - e
BEERF 2B RANERIEEE -

b. ENBEQRFRLAEER RER b.
AN ERIGEE -

c. ENFERBRFEAR/EER 28 c
RANBERIEE o

d. ENRRMNBRARER/EER £ d.
BRENEREEE -

e.  FEfTAPREIEARA RIFRIE2,500,000,000 e.

It (ZZ—4F : 5,000,000,0007
TL) BEEIR R AR 12 A REE
2RI $E1,500,000,0008 TTIRE B
RITRIZEHF B X (HIBOR)MNFZ0.55
E(ZZ—NF :060E):E ' &
1,000,000,0004 CiZHIBOR NG &
0.58[E5H 8. °

ENEZRERFINBERRERERER
HIHRE AN 25T

(2019: HK$558,209,000) which are unsecured, bear variable interest
at rates ranging from 1.15% to 1.65% (2019: from 1.15% to 1.65%)
per annum and are repayable within one year, the balances are
unsecured, interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to associates are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Amounts due to non-controlling shareholders are unsecured,
interest-free and repayable on demand.

Amounts due to fellow subsidiaries are unsecured, interest-free and
repayable on demand.

Amounts due to an intermediate holding company of
HK$2,500,000,000 (2019: HK$5,000,000,000) are unsecured and
repayable within 12 months, including HK$1,500,000,000 bearing an
interest of Hong Kong Interbank Offered Rate (HIBOR) plus 0.55%
(2019: 0.60%) per annum and HK$1,000,000,000 bearing an interest
of HIBOR plus 0.58% per annum respectively.

The ageing analysis of trade payables is presented based on the
invoice date at the end of the reporting period as follows:

e —FNF

2020 2019

FHERT FET

HK$’000 HK$ 000

(&31))

(Restated)

0-90X 0 - 90 days 5,537,878 4,744,096
91-180K 91 — 180 days 583,813 641,630
181-365X 181 — 365 days 750,457 926,853
365K E Over 365 days 546,397 556,891
7,418,545 6,869,470

BENTHEEHRRTRE180K -

The average credit periods on purchases of goods range from 7

to 180 days.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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28. SEAE 28. CONTRACT LIABILITIES
—s-%F —E-hE
+=B=+-8 +-A=+—8H

31st December, 31st December,

2020 2019

FBT FAT

HK$000 HK$000

(&%)

(Restated)

ERAE Contract liabilities 15,174,058 13,235,923

RZF_FF+_A=FT—"HR=F Details of contract liabilities as at 31st December, 2020 and 31st
—hE+ZA=1T—ANERAEEN December, 2019 are as follows:

E3-pCNE
—E-EF —E-NF

+=A=+-8 +=A=t-~

31st December, 31st December,

2020 2019
FERT FHET
HK$000 HK$000
(&%)
(Restated)
B &P YR 895G BRTE A R Short-term advances received from customers

MRERBOES Gas connection activities 15,174,058 13,235,923
ERAEEBEARERREREDM Contract liabilities include short-term advances received to
WENEHENR R FESH provide gas connection activities. The increase in contract
RBENENIEITEENERNEEH liabilities in 2020 was mainly due to the increase in short-term
REMIEREBNEEMKEMNE advances received from customers in relation to the provision of

HATE FRIB NPT ER - gas connection activities during the year.
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29. BFEI€
RZEZ_TF+=_A=+—H

RHEES -

30. RITRHMEE

© BT
B4 327,144,000 T (ZE— N
1 345,330,000 7T) FEIEF R
NEBERRENED - AERKE
ME BMERIEARESKRAEE

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

29. GOVERNMENT GRANTS

At 31st December, 2020, government grants of HK$327,144,000
(2019: HK$345,330,000) mainly represent subsidies granted by
the PRC government authorities for the purpose of financing the

of gas pipelines.

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

acquisition of property, plant and equipment and the construction

—EIEF —ET-NF
2020 2019
FET FAT
HK$000 HK$000
(&F5)
(Restated)
IRITER — EER Bank loans — unsecured 2,757,183 2,271,029
RITER — BEA Bank loans - secured 29,179 43,346
HihBER — i Other loans — unsecured 60,571 2,233
2,846,933 2,316,608
AEBRRITREMMEEZE  The Group’s bank and other borrowings are
RATHIR(EE repayable as follows*:
—FR Within one year 2,548,358 2,031,347
ZR—FETBBME More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 14,786 9,114
ENTEERS RS More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 38,485 70,687
ZRAEE More than five years 245,304 205,460
2,846,933 2,316,608
W MEBAERMTRRN—FA Less: Amount due within one year shown
B B FRIE under current liabilities** (2,548,358) (2,031,347)
IEREBBEMRAR—FEEH  Amount due after one year shown as non-
Y FRIE current liabilities 298,575 285,261

o
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Hib & 2,548,358,000/8 7T (=
T— N4 2,031,347,000/87C) &
FEHE—%$2,230,000,000% T (=
T —AF : 2,020,000,0007 7T ) HY
HIE - BEBEERBEANTENETE
HBHAR—FERNEE  BZERD
FHAEREREEENGER

o

The amounts due are based on the scheduled repayment dates set

out in the loan agreements.

As at 31st December, 2020, bank and other borrowings of
HK$2,548,358,000 (2019: HK$2,031,347,000) include an amount of
HK$2,230,000,000 (2019: HK$2,020,000,000) that was repayable
within one year pursuant to the scheduled repayment dates set out
in the loan agreements which contained a repayable on demand

clause.
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RZEBE-_EF+_-_A=+—8 " &
7A&E 118,816,000 L (=ZF— N
1 111,635,000/ 70) M5 Em e
MR FTIS RIB B IER - BER&
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

30. BANK AND OTHER BORROWINGS

(CONTINUED)

As at 31st December, 2020, the banking facility of
HK$118,816,000 (2019: HK$111,635,000) is secured by the
pledge of the proceeds from the sale of gas fuel. The loan
balance is HK$9,812,000 (2019: HK$43,346,000), and the
available banking facility balance is HK$109,004,000 (2019:
HK$69,289,000).

The effective annual interest rates on the Group’s bank and other
borrowings range from 0.65% to 6.90% (2019: 0.65% to 4.75%)
per annum.

Details of the terms of the Group’s bank and other borrowings
are set out below:

BB ERE “ECEF —T-NEF
Effective
interest rates
per annum 2020 2019
FTHER FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(&51)
(Restated)
EEEE: Fixed rate borrowings:
BERARERITER Secured RMB bank loans 4.75%-6.90% 16,822 43,346
EEMARKRITER Unsecured RMB bank loans 2.05%-4.60% 269,713 =
EFRHAE (AR BITER Unsecured Japanese Yen (“JPY”)
bank loan 0.65% 257,470 251,029
EHRRAREEMER Unsecured RMB other loans 2.95%-4.00% 58,195 -
TEEELRE Total fixed rate borrowings 602,200 294,375
EEEE Floating rate borrowings:
BEMAREEBITER REZ  Secured RMB bank loans at
MPBEARRITERAE R margin plus the People's Bank
of China Base Rate 5.49%-5.54% 12,357 -
EIRBTRITE  IRBZEM  Unsecured HK$ bank loans at
HIBOR:t&. margin plus HIBOR 0.65%-3.34% 2,230,000 2,020,000
ERAAREEMER  EZ  Unsecured RMB other loan at
WP EARRITERFIEG A margin minus the People’s
Bank of China Base Rate 4.35% 2,376 2,233
FREEBE Total floating rate borrowings 2,244,733 2,022,233
BB Total borrowings 2,846,933 2,316,608
ZHMRERERAT —ZE=ZFFH
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31. BEEE

R-ZZE——FWARAB ' KARAIRE
BHEMEI7.95%MBEEEEITASE
£750,000,000% 5T ([ET]) (HE
75,818,890,000/8 7T ) K18 fc 2%

(MMBERE] - BERBRRERXE
FA45EE  URAAEBFFXN

—X WERZZTE=Z=—FMAMAZ
Ho BAZRABIKN  WIRERF
MEL48EHE - ARFR=ZZT— N
FEDEEE®MESI3,605000ET
(#%7261,830,000/87T) B ELE
& mMEEEE716,395,0003% 7T (48
%1 5,553,924,0008 7T ) WELE
BHETHESN - T -4 ANA
e NEBEEZZEZEF+=-A=+
—BLEE  BBSINBROFNESHEY
%260,971,000%8 7T (ZT—NF :
274,039,000/ 7T) °

BERBRMMEESRZMER
RALET - BERBRRBEAR
MAFE(RE-RIFEFER

) fhstB744,442, 0005 T (48
£5,771,360,000/87L) (ZE—
FLE : 745,180,000 7T (MZER

5,803,348,000 7)) * Jitkax B
WMEET -
A& E R A E E B B AT A B R i

BRELSZBEASEN100%MNET
RARMAE - BEWMEBLOBERAE
BRI -

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

31. SENIOR NOTES

On 5th April, 2012, the Company issued senior notes with a
principal amount of United States dollars (“US$”) 750,000,000
(equivalent to HK$5,818,890,000) at an offer price of 97.95% of
the face value of the notes (“Senior Notes”). The Senior Notes
which bear coupon interest at a rate of 4.5% per annum payable
2022. The
Senior Notes are unsecured and carry interest at an effective

semi-annually in arrears and are due on 4th April,

interest rate of 4.8% per annum. The Company repurchased the
Senior Notes with a face value of US$33,605,000 (equivalent
to HK$261,830,000) during the year of 2019 and the remaining
balance of the Senior Notes with a face value of US$716,395,000
(equivalent to HK$5,553,924,000) is due on 4th April, 2022.
Interest expenses of HK$260,971,000 (2019: HK$274,039,000)
were charged to profit or loss during the year ended 31st
December, 2020.

The Senior Notes are listed on the Singapore Exchange
Securities Trading Limited. The fair value of the Senior Notes
at the end of the reporting period, which was measured at
fair value on Level 1 fair value measurement, was estimated
at US$744,442,000 (equivalent to HK$5,771,360,000) (2019:
US$745,180,000 (equivalent to HK$5,803,348,000)), which was
determined based on the closing market price at that date.

The Group has the option to redeem all of the Senior Notes,
in full but not in part, at 100% of their principal amount plus
accrued and unpaid interest at any time up to the maturity date.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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32. OTHER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES

The other long term liabilities mainly consist of payables for
acquisition of operating rights for city pipeline network and
defined benefit obligations, and are payable as follows:

3 —E-NF
2020 2019
FHT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
—FR Within one year 30,691 24,374
LR —FATHBAME More than one year, but not exceeding two
years 30,749 15,852
ZRMEBTHBBRF More than two years, but not exceeding five
years 60,464 30,309
ZHRAF More than five years 386,400 197,684
508,304 268,219
B R AERTNET AR Less: Amount due within one year included
B 5 8R0S Ho A AT K in trade and other payables shown
R—F A F B FIE under current liabilities (30,691) (24,374)
FERBBEMTIN—F Amount due after one year shown as non-
B BAR) SR8 current liabilities 477,613 243,845

ZEBREDNERTRRERE - FHH
BN T10E50FNERFEFE3.50
EZE395E (=T —hF : 3.95E)5
=)

RZZT_ZTF  A5EEEZHEEHR
ERERAGE  ERKEFRFEH
BREEREEBELENT143BLE
14,473 LRI 3R o & et B &2 F
K& KRR A BRI TERIF S LR
% o REBMEHH(E225,133,000
77T » JyEWills Towers Watson A —
T-TE+-_A=-+—BEBABHE
MEERBEHERET -

The present values were based on cash flows discounted using
an effective interest rate of 3.50%-3.95% (2019: 3.95%) per
annum for terms ranging from 10 to 50 years.

In 2020, the Group operates several unfunded defined benefit
plans which require payments ranging from HK$143 to
HK$14,473 per year to be made to each qualifying employee in
the PRC. The plan is exposed to interest rate risk and the risk
of changes in the life expectancy for pensioners. The defined
benefit obligations with a present value of HK$225,133,000 were
carried out on 31st December, 2020 by Wills Towers Watson
using the projected unit credit actuarial valuation method.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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32. HttRMEE (&) 32.0THER LONG-TERM LIABILITIES
(CONTINUED)

RBEARFEANEIERERRD The principal actuarial assumptions used as at the end of the

T ¢ reporting period are as follows:
—ECEH
2020
ARIR (%) Discount rate (%) 3.50
g Mortality rate PEASRBIETER

(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6
China Life Insurance

Mortality Table
(2010-2013)-CL5/CL6

fMBEIRE EF  TRRO5EES - W If the discount rate had been 25 basis points higher/lower
FIBEHEMESRFAE  RAIBE=T and all other variables were held constant, the defined benefit
ZTEF+ZA=+—HILEFENRTE obligations for the year ended 31st December, 2020 would
BREH KR £ 7,628,000 decrease/increase by HK$7,628,000/HK$8,068,000.

J€,/'8,068,00078 7T °
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33. DEFERRED TAXATION

NTARFEXFECHRBRETIEE The following are the major deferred tax assets/(liabilities)
E/(aff) REEZ recognised and the movements thereon during the year:
ROERFN
MEHIFHE Keg BB HUEREE &t
Withholding
Accelerated tax on Other
tax Operating  undistributed temporary
depreciation rights profits differences Total
TR FTHT THL TR THT
HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000
R=Z—N%F—F—H At 1st January, 2019 (Restated)

(&31) (417 561) (179,412) (655,037) 289,798 (962,212)
X R Exchange adjustments 10,414 4,475 16,337 (5,554) 25,672
EREE /() Credit/(charge) for the year

(Ki3E10) (note 10) 25,212 (2,282) 80,571 (3,465) 100,036
R-Z—A%+-H At 31st December, 2019

=+-R(&7) (Restated) (381,935) (177,219) (558,129) 280,779 (836,504)
B AR Exchange adjustments (25,946) (12,726) (40,079) 20,163 (58,588)
ENER /(XH) Credit/(charge) for the year

(HzE10) (note 10) 37,663 6,136 34,063 (763) 77,099
lhG1hEUNG Acquisition of subsidiaries

(Fi7E37) (note 37) (41,457) (782) = 9,976 (32,263)
R-ZE-TF+-F At 31st December, 2020

=+-8 (411,675) (184,591) (564,145) 310,155 (850,256)

PEREMHSTAOT ¢ Analysed for reporting purposes as:
—EEH —E-NF
2020 2019
FERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%)
(Restated)
IRIETRIE & B Deferred tax assets 345,422 278,090
RIEFIBAE Deferred tax liabilities (1,195,678) (1,114,594)
(850,256) (836,504)
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33. FERERLE (&)
RZBE-_TEF+-_A=+—H K&

33. DEFERRED TAXATION (CONTINUED)

At 31st December, 2020, the Group had unused tax losses of

EAAREARIEEIES51,404,838%
JL(ZZ—N%F : 440,353,000/87T)
AR S R AR T o B A SR 2R s F) 2RO
HUARETE - ML ERBEEERERE
EBTEEE - BRTiIEE1E69,551,000
BT (ZZ—N4F : 69,551,000/87T)
AEREAEEI - BIESEHRFE
BAFAEIE -

R-ZZT-_TF+=-A=+—8
MABRECHEABHMRBEAR
AORBINBEBNYG R EEEE
7,388,559,000%8 L (=T — 15 :
6,053,672,000/%7T) - AR NS E AL
TR AN DRSNS EE
R RS R g B - B B
ZEEZRWERAAE -

\|

S

]l

Iy

34. R

HK$551,404,838 (2019: HK$440,353,000) available to offset
against future profits. No deferred tax asset has been recognised
in respect of such losses due to the unpredictability of future
profit streams. Except for the tax loss of HK$69,551,000 (2019:
HK$69,551,000) which may be carried forward indefinitely, the
losses will expire within 5 years from the year of origination.

At 31st December, 2020, the aggregate amount of temporary
differences associated with undistributed earnings of subsidiaries
for which deferred tax liabilities have not been recognised was
HK$7,388,559,000 (2019: HK$6,053,672,000). No liability has
been recognised in respect of these differences because the
Group is in a position to control the timing of the reversal of the
temporary differences and it is probable that such differences
will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

34. SHARE CAPITAL

RHEE RO EE
Number of Nominal value
shares of shares
FHET

HK$' 000

BREE0. 108 THIRR D

Shares of HK$0.10 each

JRTE Authorised:
RZZE—hE—H—H At 1st January, 2019,

—E-NE+ZA=+—8HEK 31st December, 2019 and

—ECRFE+-A=+—H 31st December, 2020 10,000,000,000 1,000,000
BEITRHR Issued and fully paid:
RZZE-—hF—HA—HK At 1st January, 2019 and

—E-AFFTZA=+—H 31st December, 2019 2,224,012,871 222,401
RZZEZZEF+=-A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 2,314,012,871 231,401
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34. SHARE CAPITAL (CONTINUED)

A summary of movements in the Company’s share capital is as

follows:

ERITROEE ;&S
Number of Share
shares in issue capital
FET
HK$' 000

RZZE—hF—A—HBEZZT—NF At istJanuary, 2019 and 31st
+=—A=+—8H December, 2019 2,224,012,871 222,401
BT D (BIRE) Issue of shares (Note) 90,000,000 9,000
RZZEZEF+-_A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 2,314,012,871 231,401

fisE B R FRIE S ££90,000,000 A i 19
HEBEIBIHBRARGAR T =F
FRA+-BR-_ZBE-_TFERA-+
AEMAE - B ASTIRAR%H40.81
BT BRARSREMEHRE G
KBS 1%) 3,668,945,0007 T °

35. REASE B2
R-ZZNFE+-A—H  KAQAEIEK
MR BRI S EE TS ([ 2R
2 EEBBYSEE THER -
NERAEEFEELEREE -

RIFERTE - ARFBEERMDBH
SZHEAFNBAEEMEANBESHT
HEE  WAEEIRAAREEER
B EERNDEBRETCEB AL -
fisi 51 8 8 35 HA A P 5% L PR 6 ME PR 1 48
HRBBA DB R EIRMAB R
BAZ5% + B TNEHBE R H MR
o BIRRETEIETHREEED
REIMERDHZAEE TEEABARA
AITRE BITIRA,20.5% °

RZFB—FF=ZFA+7H  ARAAH
HEEEELERT - SRARSIMKR
PR IR0 (E R 28R - R RN RIFR
Bt EEE RS REE - SBHALE
X FEARE ORI EENAR

1S58 -

Note: Details of the placing and subscription of a total of 90,000,000
shares are disclosed in the announcements of the Company on 12th
May, 2020 and 25th May, 2020, respectively, at a price of HK$40.81
per share, resulting in proceeds of a total cash consideration, after
expenses, of HK$3,668,945,000.

35. LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME

On 1st December, 2008, the Company adopted the share
repurchased cash award scheme (“Incentive Award Scheme”)
as an incentive to retain and encourage the employees for the
continual operation and development of the Group.

Pursuant to the Incentive Award Scheme, existing shares of
the Company will be purchased by the trustee from the market
out of cash contributed by the Group and be held in trust for
the selected employees until such shares are vested with the
selected employees. No restricted shares will be granted if the
aggregate number of restricted shares awarded throughout
the duration of the scheme is to be in excess of 5% of the
issued share capital of the Company at the adoption date of the
scheme. The maximum number of restricted shares which may
be awarded to a selected employee under the Incentive Award
Scheme shall not exceed 0.5% of the issued share capital of the
Company from time to time.

On 16th March, 2010, the Company amended the Incentive
Award Scheme such that cash instead of restricted shares will be
awarded. The Company will utilise the proceeds generated from
disposal of the restricted shares held by the trustee for making
cash awards under the Incentive Award Scheme.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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35.

36.

REARBETE (&)
RBEE-T—"F+=-A=+—H1t
FE @ XL AUFEHEFR23.08%
TAMSEE2 266,000 M - 1
EZERM B FTE A A52,302,000
BT IBRBEZBWAIEAERE
TEEREEMNHCEE - HEARE
Rz BRRREMEERERERR
Y (EREBE-_ZT—XAF+=-A=
+T—BLFENEBREH) - BRMHK
NPT 1S 30E 2 R = 5844,095,000
BILEFARBEF - REE=ZT—N
ER_T_TF+_A=F+—HILHF
B AN ER TS DERD

AR BEHREH 45,797,384
—ZE— N : 45,797,384) ARAZD ©

BEREEBAENSERERRN
BRI ERR )

RKEREE

58

RE BRI 2RI ER KRB
BRHI B R ERERE R ([BER
RREEE]) - ARBEBEEER ST
NI BIRPIK IR S IE B
AEl([RESFE ) - ZFFIH
BEEASENEEDFIFA - LA
RTEAEHNESIHA o MHIEEN®E
EERETEIKIZAIE KRB ERAR
EEBMARE - AT R REEERR
FRNRIEFT B E M2 NRES
g MR-FTTEF+_A—HAxZ
BRIMBEAREBEH B FIEEHAZN
BESRE -

BERAREAZBAFHES KKK
BzEEEAFeONBER L (1R
FEHRBERASENRSEFHMM
E) B HEHER - fHEBAEREE
HARATR BB R IRR R R &) - RI3R
SR RS B FR A 5 B FE T Y
TR - RMEFERN - HERIET N
BRI -

35.

36.

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

LONG TERM AWARD SCHEME (CONTINUED)

During the year ended 31st December, 2016, 2,266,000 shares
were disposed of by the trustee to the market at an average
price of HK$23.08 per share. The proceeds from disposal of
those shares amounted to HK$52,302,000. The whole amount
of the proceeds was awarded in cash to certain directors and
employees of the Group, with an equivalent expense recognised
in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income as employee benefits during the year
ended 31st December, 2016. The difference of HK$44,095,000
between the cost of the shares and the proceeds were credited
to retained profits. No disposal of shares by the trustee to the
market was noted during the years ended 31st December, 2019
and 2020.

There are 45,797,384 (2019: 45,797,384) shares held by the
trustee at the end of the reporting period.

No restricted shares were granted to eligible employees pursuant
to the Incentive Award Scheme.

RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

Hong Kong

The Group participates in both a defined contribution scheme
which is registered under the Occupational Retirement Scheme
Ordinance (the “ORSO Scheme”) and a Mandatory Provident
Fund Scheme (the “MPF Scheme”) established under the Hong
Kong Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance. The
assets of the schemes are held separately from those of the
Group, in funds under the control of trustees. Employees who
were members of the ORSO Scheme prior to the establishment
of the MPF Scheme were offered a choice of staying within the
ORSO Scheme or switching to the MPF Scheme, whereas all new
employees joining the Group on or after 1st December, 2000 are
required to join the MPF Scheme.

The ORSO Scheme is funded by monthly contributions from both
employees and the Group based on a specified percentage of
the employee’s basic salary, depending on the length of service
with the Group. Where there are employees who leave the ORSO
Scheme prior to vesting, the contributions payable by the Group
are reduced by the amount of forfeited contributions. No forfeited
contributions were utilised in this manner for both years.
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T -_TE+_A=1+—HItFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

36. RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEMES

(CONTINUED)

Hong Kong (Continued)

For members of the MPF Scheme, the Group contributes 5% of
relevant payroll costs or at a monthly maximum cap of HK$1,500
for each person to the scheme, where contribution is matched by
the employees.

At 31st December, 2020 and 2019,
contributions available to reduce contributions payable in the

the amount of forfeited

future years was insignificant.

PRC

The employees of the Group in the PRC are members of state-
managed retirement benefit schemes operated by the local
government in the PRC. The Group is required to contribute a
specified percentage of the payroll costs to the retirement benefit
schemes to fund the benefits. The only obligation of the Group
with respect to the retirement benefit schemes is to make the
specified contributions.

The Group operates several unfunded defined benefit plans
which require payments ranging from HK$143 to HK$14,473 per
year to be made to each qualifying employee in the PRC.
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37. ¥ 56t

(a) RZZEZTF=RA=H " ~5H

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS

(a) On 3rd March, 2020, the Group acquired 51% interests in

ERBEAKBRESBRERR
BRAT ([EEMR]) HI51%
o NEEDEIBIRIEERE
I A5 (h B LR RA AT 3% 31
BEFEFTENEEMROIEE
gz - BERRXERER
HRABEEROEERSHE - R
RER - BRBEHEERFEM
RUGMREBMAEE - 1EHZK
BEEEASEERERN T
TRRATHE T IS BB ) — 3P
Do ZWEFENEEREUR
X Hip ARH13,027,600
7T (FAE R 21,815,000 7T) B
RZEZZTFWPA=-+—AXM
e T AR¥19,541,5007T (4
114,544,000 70) ER=F
—EEXRNAZTNABXN -

o

RS B - B R AT E
ENBENRFEDRT

REEFEMITBRAR(EEMK”) from 2 individuals. The
Group has elected to measure the non-controlling interest in
FREMAR at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share
BEEMRR is engaged in
the sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products,
gas connection, the sale of gas appliances and the sale of

of BREEMRR's identifiable net assets.

gas fuel in automobile refilling stations. The acquisition is
made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its market
share in the downstream city gas industry. The purchase
consideration for the acquisition was in the form of cash,
with RMB13,027,600 equivalent of HK$21,815,000 paid

on 21st April, 2020 and the remaining RMB19,541,500

equivalent of HK$14,544,000 paid

on 28th June, 2020.

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

REMASR as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

TR B T 2R Y
AF(E

Fair values
recognised on

acquisition

e FAET

Notes HK$' 000

W - BERHK Property, plant and equipment 14 55,950
FREEE Right-of-use assets 16 6,934
Y BERZELRS Deposit for property, plant and equipment 177
RITHEBRIRE Bank balances and cash 2,968
FEUE 5 BR 3K B E At B MR Trade and other receivables 13,820
758 Inventories 578
aRAaE Contract liabilities (3,595)
FEA B 5 R 3k B L PR A 3R Trade and other payables (9,560)
ERTEIE Tax payables (498)
Al BB EFELTE (R A FER) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 66,774
TS Non-controlling interests (32,718)
I E E R P2 Goodwill on acquisition 20 2,303
R & Satisfied by cash 36,359
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining operations of BEEMAR
and the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
BEEAR is as follows:

FHET

HK$' 000

ReRE Cash consideration (36,359)

BB & RIRITHEH Cash and bank balances acquired 2,968
FAREREBABREEREN Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents

Re kRS EEYRLIFE included in cash flows from investing activities (33,391)

AHRENET BRKRES
HUR  HEZZ_ZFF +
—A=T—HLEE  BeEMK
REAEBREMBERE TR
WA 125,596,000 T K i
4,734,000/ 7T °

RZE-ZTFNPA=—F+N\RH " &
EEE—BBLE=F KB
MEERETRERAA ([E
TR ]) RBWTHMRREE
BRAT ([EHMRRE]) #9100%
Wz o BRRERERARAKIE
B 5KEE - RABREERE K
RA—8{EE  mEMRE
NEREBRHRBEEROHEE
RotH MREK - MREEHE
& ROTE DN R Uk B9 7B MR 8E
& o EHZWESER AL EIE
RER TS MRRITETSN
BEEEEM—I 5 - ZWIEEEN
BEREURSIMN  RZT=
SENA+ABNBIENERR
KR HEMMRARE4,311,900
JL (FHE 14,722,000 7L) &
AR#1,290,5007T (BER
1,413,000/ 7T) °

(b)

The combination was taken place at the beginning of the
year. Since the acquisition, ZXEEFAR contributed revenue of
HK$125,596,000 and profit of HK$4,734,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st

December, 2020.

On 28th April, 2020, the Group acquired 100% interests in
BETHLRRIIEARAF(ELLRE") and BWAEHR
REREAR AR (EFMR") from an independent third-party.
HZ%ZHE is engaged in civil highway projects, wastewater
treatment, civil bridge project and civil integration projects,
and H#HM R is engaged in the sale and distribution of gas
fuel and related products, gas connection, the sale of gas
appliances and the sale of gas fuel in automobile refilling
stations. The acquisition is made as part of the Group'’s
strategy to expand its market share in the downstream
city gas industry. The purchase consideration for the
acquisition was in the form of cash, with RMB4,311,900
equivalent of HK$4,722,000 and RMB1,290,500 equivalent
of HK$1,413,000 paid for HEZZ%E and BE#H S on 15th
April, 2020, respectively.
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
2% and JEHIAR as at the date of acquisition were as

TS 8 follows:
RUBRERN AT E
Fair values recognised
on acquisition
BRRH# HHRER
L FAT FAT
Notes HK$' 000 HK$' 000
M - BB RE Property, plant and equipment 14 319 38
WRITHEBRIRS Bank balances and cash 2,046 1,327
FEWE SR & Trade and other receivables
E A IR 1,237 =
FE Inventories 27,057 59
ARARE Contract liabilities (17,564) -
FERE R Trade and other payables
H At FEH X (9,351) (11)
AR EEFERE Total identifiable net assets at fair
(HRATFER) value 3,744 1,413
U BE B A Ry Goodwill on acquisition 20 978 =
MR &2 Satisfied by cash 4,722 1,413

EXHERNEEIEREAIE
ZRR OB R AR X
TRHAE £ A0 1 R RUE -

EHRZSRENRSRENTN

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the

expected synergies from combining the operations of JH%&
ZH#and BFE R with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these

T 8 acquisitions is as follows:
HRRE MR
FAT FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
ReERE Cash consideration (4,722) (1,413)
BB & MIRTTH & Cash and bank balances acquired 2,046 1,327

FTAREEBIBIRESRER  Net outflow of cash and cash
RekBeEBYRLFE equivalents included in cash flows

from investing activities (2,676) (86)
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BRBESEUR  BHEZZT=
TFE+-_A=+—HLEFE B
ZREREBHRRAEAEBRE
B SRR ERIULA 7,730,000
JC K5 R 171,000 7T °

HEMFRENET  BIFAR
SEM AL INS,931,000%
TC ¢ i R S [ R ) 5 n
99,000/ 7T °

RZZE-ZTFNA=H =—ZT=
TEANA-HE-Z-_ZTFH
ARB A&EBHRBENEHE
ABEEGE =R AARERE
FReE((mE=8])  %HEH
—RRXARBREFEAR([5
E-RDRERREH=-8XAR
BREARAR(TRE=ZS1)H
100%H#Em - B =R RGE=
SRERERERBEERRH
ERDH  MRER  MRER
HEREEMHEE  MRE=
SREBERIER MEEEHEE
RBEMBHHE - (EEZRBS
18R AN R OR E R T TR
RITEMHBNEEBEN—I 5 o
ZUWBEEHNBEERENARS
St HRER-ZE-_TEH
A+-HBSAIRAESE =R KHE
HE=RY N AR®94,800,000
7t (FE M 107,884,000/ 7T)
K AR®51,600,0007T (FBE
758,722,000 L) * MA
B8 BHE-SEKE¥E=
SHHBTARE®63,200,000
T (HEMR71,923,000%
L)~ AR¥34,400,0007T
($%EM39,149,000/8 L) &
AR#29,000,0007T (HER
33,002,000 70) ER =T =F
F+—A=+—Ast A= MpEA

o
N
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Since the acquisition, HZ %% and BE# MR contributed
revenue of HK$7,730,000 and profit of HK$171,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December, 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$8,931,000 and the profit of the Group for
the year would have been increased by HK$99,000.

On 3rd September, 2020, 2nd September, 2020 and 9
September, 2020, the Group acquired 100% interests in =&
B=RAARBREMERAR (‘BB =R"), LBEZ=[RAR
EREFERAI(BHE=R") and REZ -SXRAK[BRET
ARl (“RE=H") from 8 individuals respectively. m&=
£ and %E=% are engaged in the sale and distribution
of gas fuel and related products, gas connection, the sale
of gas appliances and the sale of building material, and
K= =%is engaged in gas connection, the sale of gas
appliances and the sale of building material. The acquisition
is made as part of the Group’s strategy to expand its
market share in the downstream city gas industry. The
purchase consideration for the acquisition was in the form
of cash, with RMB94,800,000 equivalent of HK$107,884,000
and RMB51,600,000 equivalent of HK$58,722,000
paid for m& =% and #%E=% respectively on 15th
September, 2020, and the remaining RMB63,200,000
equivalent of HK$71,923,000, RMB34,400,000 equivalent
of HK$39,149,000 and RMB29,000,000 equivalent of
HK$33,002,000 for m% =& 6 %E=5, and KE=5 were
included in other payables as at 31st December, 2020.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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37. £%a 0t (&)
RIKEBR  2%=5 - BHE=
RERRE=-[UBINEERERE

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &
B=/, HE=F and RE=F as at the date of acquisition

220

HAFET were as follows:
REERZANATFE
Fair values recognised on acquisition
BHR=R HE=82 RE=82
{ogs3 FAET FTHAT FTHAT
Notes HK$’000 HK$’'000 HK$'000
ME - BERR Property, plant and equipment 14 106,668 88,118 29,087
FRESE Right-of-use assets 16 = 690 =
REE Operating rights 21 37,590 23,561 5,065
BERETIEEE Deferred tax assets 33 7,155 32 7
RITEHRR S Bank balances and cash 7,511 8,435 2,797
FEWE SRR R E A Trade and other receivables
[ YR 10,000 13,531 3,807
=& Inventories 713 7,886 703
SRAE Contract liabilities (7,221) (24,331) (3,610)
B8 SRR EA Trade and other payables
AR (22,399) (7,328) (1,295)
e IR Tax payables (2,268) (2,227) (874)
EEHIEEE Deferred tax liabilities 33 (5,360) (4,415) (1,251)
RITREMEE Bank and other borrowings = (11,608) =
AHAEEFEERE Total identifiable net assets at fair
(BRT{ER) value 132,389 92,344 35,336
Lo B E A P Goodwill on acquisition 20 47,418 5,527 =
RizEBmREM Gain on bargain purchase
2EREEZEAM recognised in other income
WA T o s TR and gains in the consolidated
BB Y statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income - - (2,334)
HwRE Total consideration 179,807 97,871 33,002
—ARE - Satisfied by cash 107,884 58,722 =
—-RZZ_TF ~ Included in other payables as
+=A=+—~H at 31st December, 2020
ST AE A T 3K 71,923 39,149 33,002
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
expected synergies from combining operations of =% =&,
#E =8 and KE=F with the Group.

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of these
acquisitions is as follows:

BH=2 BE=2 RE=2

FHAT FHAT FTAT

HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000

ReRE Cash consideration (107,884) (58,722) =

BUIEIE € RIRTTAE%  Cash and bank balances acquired 7,511 8,435 2,797

SFAREEBFSIRE  Net outflow of cash and cash

FREMBRENMREE  equivalents included in cash

B flows from investing activities (100,373) (50,287) 2,797

BB ESEUR  HE-Z=
TFE+_A=+—HLEEFEE"
aE%=-R BE-SERRE=
SRAEENKREMBREE
BAUY A 103,965,000 7t & ik F)
25,952,000/ 7T ©

WA HREPET - AIFARSE
B 79 U A 8 38 11 239,389,000 7%
TC i R SR [ A R n
41,270,00078 7T °

PILEMRRBRAR ([HILE
B HARBEAEERS —BR
BEEHE55% R45% S - 1tE
RERE REBRERNHEE RS
i MEER  MARBAEER
VTE MR ) REBMEHHE - B
—ZE-FTFLHA—H  BREBET
BT ARAMAI - IRE AT BRI
IS AR BRSSP ILER
FHEFSHEMBE - AKX
ZHEFTHASERS - BtA
SEAEHIFAEEALE - 8E
REEES - Bt - PILEREK
AAREBERMB AR -

(d)

Since the acquisition, ®% =&, $%E=5F and RE=F
contributed revenue of HK$103,965,000 and profit of
HK$25,952,000 to the Group’s consolidated financial
statements for the year ended 31st December, 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$239,389,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been increased by HK$41,270,000.

FILEBMEARAG(PILEE"), which engaged in the
sale and distribution of gas fuel and related products,
gas connection, the sale of gas appliances and the sale
of gas fuel in automobile refilling stations, is 55% held by
the Group and 45% by another shareholder. On 1st July,
2020, the shareholders modified the articles of association
that all of the strategic financial and operating decisions
must be approved by half of the members of the board
of the directors in FIL#EE. As the majority directors are
nominated by the Group, the Group takes the control over
all significant operating, investing and financing activities,
at which time, # 11# 8 became a subsidiary of the Group.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of

ERBENATFEET : IIZ8 as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
RS TR
NEE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
B3 FAT
Notes HK$’ 000

M - BB RE Property, plant and equipment 14 536,623

FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 16 5,405

IRAETIE & Deferred tax assets 33 3,046

M BERZEERS Deposit for property, plant and equipment 451

RITHARRIA S Bank balances and cash 69,023

FEWE 5 BR 30 & E At FE MR Trade and other receivables 290,970

TE Inventories 7,444

ERIEHEBEE Assets related to contract works 263,270
FEAT B 5 BR Sk B B R A 3R Trade and other payables (140,550)
aRAE Contract liabilities (425,815)
FERFRIE Tax payables (28,350)
RIEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 33 (20,157)
A5 E EFEEE (R AFEST) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 561,360
FEFE IR Non-controlling interests (258,823)
ARAERRMER KR RABEFRT Previously held interests, represented by

Pz (RAFER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value 302,537

ARKBETLERNRERESD

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

T : F1LZEH is as follows:
FHET
HK$ 000
RENRE Cash consideration -
BUEEIR & RIRITA# Cash and bank balances acquired 69,023
FFAREEBHBESREN Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
RekBeEBYURANEE included in cash flows from investing activities 69,023

BZBESEUR  HE-Z=
TFE+_A=+—HLEFE F
IWEHRAEESEHBEREE
BAdZA1,223,537,0007% 7T & jit
#136,427,0003 7T -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

Since the acquisition, #ZEE contributed revenue of
HK$1,223,537,000 and profit of HK$136,427,000 to the
Group’s consolidated financial statements for the year
ended 31st December, 2020.
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HEHRENET - AIFALE
B MU AL I01,779,851,000
PETT 0 T AF AR SR B A ) G 1
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—BBUF=T1FKH49% 2%
K49% s - EEE B ERE
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MRER « MRREHERAE
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For the year ended 31st December, 2020

37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

(e)

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have
been increased by HK$1,779,851,000 and the profit of
the Group for the year would have been increased by
HK$239,071,000.

BEEEHMRRERAF(EEEE") is 49% held by the Group,
2% by JEKIRE and 49% by an independent third-party.
HE#EH is engaged in the sale and distribution of gas
fuel and related products, gas connection, the sale of gas
appliances and the sale of gas fuel in automobile refilling
stations.

On 1st August, 2020, the independent third-party with 49%
interests in E& 8 and the Group signed a memorandum
in which the shareholder would agree with the Group’s
decisions on operating, investing and financing activities
of EE %4, and would also agree the appointment of all
senior management of HE % H nominated by the Group.
Accordingly, the Group takes the control over all significant
operating, investing and financing activities, at which time,

P

HE#H became a subsidiary of the Group.
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of &

ERBENATFEET : E Y as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
BB RN
ATME
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
Notes FHET
(i HK$’ 000
M - BB RE Property, plant and equipment 14 482,482
FRAEEE Right-of-use assets 16 29,681
REE QAR Interests in joint ventures 17 2,197
e Operating rights 21 15,850
Y BERZEERS Deposit for property, plant and equipment 821
RITHEHB MRS Bank balances and cash 51,277
FEUE 5 BR 3K B E At B UK Trade and other receivables 305,161
eS| Inventories 5,638
AaRTIEEBEE Assets related to contract works 44,250
FEA B 5 B 3k B EL A FE A 3R Trade and other payables (146,695)
aRAE Contract liabilities (116,177)
RIEFIEAE Deferred tax liabilities 33 (11,320)
HibhREABE Other long-term liabilities (118,356)
Al BB EFELTE (R A FERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 544,809
SEFE R A ER Non-controlling interests (291,424)

LREERARIMES KX RABA  Previously held interests, represented by

Fiis s (IR A FER) interests in joint ventures, at fair value 253,385

FANBEEEEENRHERED An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of

e : EE#H is as follows:
FAT
HK$ 000
RENRE Cash consideration -
BUEER ¢ RIRITHAS Cash and bank balances acquired 51,277
FAKREEBAGERSREN Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents
HekBeEEBYRAFE included in cash flows from investing activities 51,277
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

®

Since the acquisition, E&Z)E contributed revenue of
HK$544,820,000 and profit of HK$44,510,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$812,213,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been increased by HK$75,856,000.

On 11th November, 2020, the Group acquired the
business of the sale and distribution of gas fuel and
related products and gas connection and related asset
group from ZHEZIERXARBRET AR (“ZHIEE"), an
independent third-party. The acquisition is part of the on-
going expansion strategy of the Group with the aim of
becoming the market leader in the downstream city gas
industry. The purchase consideration for the acquisition
was in the form of cash, with RMB237,250,000 equivalent
of HK$273,575,000 paid on 30th November, 2020 and the
remaining RMB127,750,000 equivalent of HK$147,309,000
was included in other payables as at 31st December, 2020.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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37. EB S 6 (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
R - RRRIEZE A ERE The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of %
ERBENATFEET : #tIEZ as at the date of acquisition were as follows:

RN
ATE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
k=3 FHET
Notes HK$’ 000
M - BB RE Property, plant and equipment 14 159,873
EREEE Right-of-use assets 16 561
e Operating rights 21 137,988
FEWE 5 B 30 K EL At FE R Trade and other receivables 2,498
FE Inventories 1,084
ERAE Contract liabilities 28 (9,946)
A %5 & EFEEE (R AFELT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 292,058
WHEE AR Goodwill on acquisition 20 128,826
BRE Total consideration 420,884
— UBR&Z — Satisfied by cash 273,575
—RZZF=ZFTF+=-A=+—H - Included in other payables as at
T AR AR 31st December, 2020 147,309
EX@ROEE T ZREMKE The goodwill recognised above consists largely of the
B EE A R B A B TE AR 155 R AR o expected synergies from the asset group purchased.
KRBT RIEENRERES An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of
T : Z#IBE is as follows:
FHT
HK$' 000
ReRE Cash consideration (273,575)
BUIEIR & RIRITHEE Cash and bank balances acquired =
AARBEEBFBRESREN Net outflow of cash and cash equivalents
Re kRS EERLIFE included in cash flows from investing activities (273,575)
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37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)

Since the acquisition, Z#/EZ contributed revenue of
HK$19,904,000 and profit of HK$1,359,000 to the Group’s
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31st
December, 2020.

Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
year, the revenue of the Group for the year would have been
increased by HK$113,286,000 and the profit of the Group
for the year would have been increased by HK$18,727,000.

(g) On 30th November, 2020, the Group acquired 83.33%
interests in JUBEM MBS TMRBR AR (‘FEET”) from S
SEITRMRR AR AT

The fair values of the identifiable assets and liabilities of #T

ERBENATENT : 5T as at the date of acquisition were as follows:
R RERN
AFE
Fair values
recognised
on acquisition
b FAET
Notes HK$’ 000
VI - S MR Property, plant and equipment 14 4,497
RITHEBRIA S Bank balances and cash 757
FEUE 5 BR 3% I E At FEURGR Trade and other receivables 20,190
TE Inventories L
FEA B 5 BR 3k B EL M PR A 3R Trade and other payables (666)
Al BB EFELTE (R A FERT) Total identifiable net assets at fair value 24,788
BRE Total consideration 24,788

BRERBHREINHTRED
AT -

An analysis of the cash flows in respect of the acquisition of $T£
5L is as follows:

FHET

HK$' 000

ReRE Cash consideration =

BB & RIRITHERR Cash and bank balances acquired 757
FFAREEBAGHRSREN Net inflow of cash and cash equivalents

ReRBReEEMRNFE included in cash flows from investing activities 757

EEMRAERBERAFA —B-ZTFFH
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37. EB S 6 (&) 37. BUSINESS COMBINATIONS (CONTINUED)
BzWEEIEMANR - FTRRTEH Since the acquisition, ¥785)T caused a loss of HK$34,000
HE-_ZT-_ZFTF+-_A=+—H to the consolidated profit for the year ended 31st
IEFE MRS % F3E K 34,000 December, 2020.

PETTHEIE ©
e R EYET - AIFARE Had the combination taken place at the beginning of the
B &9 5% AR 2> 719,000 7T © year, the profit of the Group for the year would have been

decreased by HK$719,000.

38. EiE 38. COMMITMENTS
REBERBREHRER AT ERE The Group had the following capital commitments at the end of
5 ¢ the reporting period:
—g-%F —T-NF
2020 2019
FTHERT FHET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&31)
(Restated)
BATSBEEFTHER Capital expenditure contracted for but not
RAL B HRE+ provided in the Group’s financial statements
BENERHAE : in respect of:
BEME - WE KRB R Acquisition of property, plant and equipment
FREEE and right-of use assets 212,316 76,298
RE (M) Investments (Note) 95,053 2,836,646
307,369 2,912,944
Misr  AREBEB T S = Hi T E TS Note: The Group entered into several agreements with independent third
AERBRKTETRAPSLDE o parties to establish certain Sino-foreign joint venture enterprises in
the PRC.
39. BEE M 39. PLEDGE OF ASSETS
R-—E—TFE+—-A=+—18 A& At 31st December, 2020, the Group pledged the following assets
BB TN EEEAENTRAR as security for trade payables to suppliers of natural gas and
HERHRENE SEZ R Y RFHES franchise performance to the government:
S ERBIREIR
ZEIEF —ZT-NF
2020 2019
FHR T
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
(&%)
(Restated)
EHERRITER Pledged bank deposits 12,193 5,208
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES

Transactions/balances with related parties

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

In addition to the related party transactions set out in the
respective notes, the Group entered into the following material

RS : transactions with related parties during the year:
—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
FER FAT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%)
(Restated)
HELNANRS Transactions with associates:
HEE M Sale of goods 208,774 182,974
BEER Purchase of goods 102,404 13,722
W AEEE Acquisition of right-of-use assets - 19,962
BRA B WA Interest income from loans 2,790 299
HAELNANRS Transactions with joint ventures:
HEEM Sale of goods 601,307 151,461
HBEER Purchase of goods 109,425 110,343
F B U A Interest income 1,568 1,326
B Interest expenses 3,584 6,619
HERMBARMNKS ©  Transactions with fellow subsidiaries:
FERF A Interest income from deposits 13,006 8,670
ERFEMRA Interest income from a loan 57,794 39,205
BRI AR 5 Transactions with non-controlling
shareholders:
HEEM Sale of goods 199,515 379,893
BEEM Purchase of goods 707,941 742,777
e Rental expenses 450 392
HREERARIMNRS © Transactions with intermediate holding
companies:
FEWA Interest income - 16,739
B Interest expenses 51,666 89,364

EERRERBERAF

—E-TEEH
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BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

40. BBEALTIKE (&) 40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

BREBEATHNRE #(E) Transactions/balances with related parties (Continued)

B et Notes:

a. MAEERTE - 5ERERIFERIREK a. The sales to the associates, the joint ventures, and the non-
EITHHERBERAAEEXZEFIR controlling shareholders were made according to the published
HEE BB RAIKEEL - prices and conditions offered to the major customers of the Group.

b. MEEAR - A& Q7 REERRR b.  The purchases from the associates, the joint ventures and the non-
EITHBEREKRENA 58 QF controlling shareholders were made according to the published
FOEFERBRRmMEFERTFIRHOE prices and conditions offered by the associates, the joint ventures
BB RIGHIED - and the non-controlling shareholders to their major customers.

c. MEERARNKEFEREEENEBERERR c.  The price of acquisition of right-of-use assets from the associates
BEmSHESEL - were made according to the market rents.

d  RIFTF+-A=+—RH &K d. At 31st December, 2020, the Group placed bank and other deposits
BERAR AR RZK B A RKEEBHER of HK$1,477,077,314.95 (2019: HK$1,093,504,679.68) with China
TRHERARFARITREAMT Resources Bank of Zhuhai Co., Ltd., a fellow subsidiary of the
1,477,077,314.958 T (ZE—h Company, and these deposits were included in bank balances and
4 :1,093,504,679.68% L) * % F cash.

FHRETARTHEHBEIRS

e. RERRWEBARRFEZERARL e.  The interest income and expenses from loans from the fellow
B F B WA K F X ThiR & R # B subsidiaries, and the intermediate holding companies were made
/\Efﬁﬁ M ARBEEREER X according to the benchmark interest rate for RMB loans over the
fEH © same period announced by the People’s bank of China.
f. XA FRIZRKER AR S L TR f. The rental expenses to fellow subsidiaries were made according to
BmiSHASED - the market rents.
ARE B 5 R EIE TG 0 B2 The Group itself is part of a larger group of companies under
BETBRAKRERAN 5D - A CRCL which is controlled by the government of the PRC and
M B ATE A BEBUR S - KR the Group operates in an economic environment currently
BISEMEAZENNEBREMNK predominated by entities controlled, jointly controlled or
EIRFEE - significantly influenced by the PRC government.
RESGARREMBARNR S (B Apart from the transactions with the parent company and its
PR & 75 R R O A Y E R ) subsidiaries which have been disclosed in other notes to the
SN+ ASER R R R B IR AT B B Bk TR consolidated financial statements, the Group also conducts
Tg%” AR B R MERNT BN businesses with entities directly or indirectly controlled, jointly
EREARXGBETETRS 8 controlled or significantly influenced by the PRC government in the
%ﬁj{% SRAT 17 7K AR FE A 8 ordinary course of business, including businesses regarding the
HTRITREAMEE LA RARRER majority of its bank deposits and the corresponding interest income,
fkﬁxz’g REBDERIE REBD IR & certain bank and other borrowings and the corresponding finance
MR - RAREFRREZZRT costs, a large portion of purchases and part of the sales of gas.
HEEEBETRS  BREFAXE The directors of the Company consider the transactions with these
& WARRT S IRFETT - ARETR government-related entities are within normal business operations
BT EERE - xS REL A and are carried out on market terms. The Group has established its
RAREFHIRE RBATEAEE pricing strategies and these strategies do not depend on whether

or not the counterparties are government-related entities.
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40. RELATED PARTY DISCLOSURES (CONTINUED)

TEBETEEEAEMS Compensation of key management personnel of the Group
—ECEF —E-NF
2020 2019
FHERT FAET
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000
52 HR A Short-term benefits 39,952 59,928
& BRI A Post-employment benefits 822 1,235
40,774 61,163

BEARERERE 41. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT

REEEEHERAERFLE X
SRERENFEERRITRERE
MEEEEE 2HNFE - REBTT
EHEARBRERRDEST R R
HEERRmw  URRABRANE
BESRFEMNBEREBURRER

BE2HER AEERFBEFREZE

AEENEARBRFEARE (BER
TREMER) REERE T8
RITHERRARREE ABERAR
(AEHTER  REEMNRHEARERE
MR

ARBERETHRTEARM - B
2 ERAAAKAREBAR YRS
A~ - LRBEE TR
AR BN EARRE - BIDEARE -
BTHAR - BT EREERAES -

The Group manages its capital to maintain a balance between
continuity of cash flows from operating activities and the flexibility
through the use of bank and other borrowings. The Group also
monitors the current and expected liquidity requirements and
its compliance with lending covenants regularly to ensure that
sufficient working capital and adequate committed lines of
funding are maintained to meet its liquidity requirements. The
Group’s overall strategy remains unchanged from prior years.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
include bank and other borrowings, senior notes, net of bank
balances and equity attributable to owners of the Company,
comprising issued capital, retained profits and other reserves.

The management of the Group reviews the capital structure on a
regular basis. As part of this review, management considers the
cost of capital and the associated risks, and takes appropriate
actions to adjust the Group’s capital structure through the
payment of dividends, new share issues as well as the issue of
new debts or the redemption of existing debts.

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS

(a) £WMIAEEH (a) Categories of financial instruments
—ECEF 2020
THEE Financial assets
BAFEAHM
2EKEHNEMEE
Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income
R ARSI R
BEBRE BRERE HemEE g
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments investments cost Total
TER TER TER FTER
HKS$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
BEAFERA Equity investments at
Hih 2 HE = fair value through other
B AR E comprehensive income - 153,100 - 153,100
eI E 5 R Trade receivables 107,516 - 4,788,065 4,895,581
FHE i FE IR Financial assets included
REMEE in other receivables and
NEemEE other assets - - 3,813,708 3,813,708
BHERRITER Pledged bank deposits - - 12,193 12,193
RITEBEAS Bank balances and cash - - 13,442,206 13,442,206
107,516 153,100 22,056,172 22,316,788
DEE Financial liabilities
RS A1 BR
Hemas
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FHER
HK$’ 000
EE SRR Trade payables 7,418,545
R1T R EABE K Bank and other borrowings 2,846,933
BEER Senior notes 5,535,664
HEAE Lease liabilities 318,476
FTAHMEN R REM B ER Financial liabilities included in other payables
EA =N and other liabilities 4,711,959
20,831,577

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2020
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

SWMIEER (&) (a) Categories of financial instruments (Continued)
—E-NEF(FF) 2019 (Restated)
THEE Financial assets
BRATFEAHM
ZEBGEHEREEE
Financial assets at
fair value through other
comprehensive income
TR S P AT R
BBIRE R E HEmEE B
Financial
assets at
Debt Equity amortised
investments investments cost Total
FHT FHET FHT THT
HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
BEAFERA Equity investments at
Hipz2mEME fair value through other
R A& E comprehensive income = 146,258 = 146,258
EAE 2 R 5K Trade receivables 42,630 - 4,887,370 4,930,000
FHE i FE IR Financial assets included
REMERE in other receivables and
NEemEE other assets = = 3,256,606 3,256,606
BIEMRITER Pledged bank deposits = = 5,208 5,208
RITEHRRA S Bank balances and cash - - 13,502,481 13,502,481
42,630 146,258 21,651,665 21,840,553
THEE Financial liabilities
RS AN S AR
HeRaE
Financial
liabilities at
amortised cost
FAET
HK$ 000
ERB SRR Trade payables 6,869,470
RITREAERK Bank and other borrowings 2,316,608
BRER Senior notes 5,545,404
HEAE Lease liabilities 361,167
FPAEMENREEMEENSREBME  Financial liabilities included in other payables and
other liabilities 6,861,219
21,953,868
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(b) HKEREEBZRBUR

AEENTEZERTABRERR
FEF A s 2 U s H AR
B RERE REEBEZIERR
Hip R - B HEMRITER
RITEHRRRE - BT B
NEZRFREMRER - RIT
REMER BEEBRREME
HaE ZEERTANFER
BREZENME - BZEER
T AR E R &R ZE
FERRH BN TX - NREEE
BRERZERR - BRERE
KB BEREVEE i o

(b)

S

VAT 851 78 6% B 70 3% 35 HA R A
SN (IR KB ERZ IR
N E ) SIER B EE R
ERAR(EBRAVITESRLK
Ae RORHEBEEREEER
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include equity
investments at fair value through other comprehensive
income, deposits for an investment, trade and other
receivables, pledged bank deposits, bank balances
and cash, other deposits, trade and other payables,
bank and other borrowings, senior notes and other long-
term liabilities. Details of these financial instruments are
disclosed in the respective notes. The risks associated
with these financial instruments and the policies on how to
mitigate these risks are set out below. The Group manages
and monitors these exposures to ensure that appropriate
measures are implemented in a timely and effective manner.

Foreign currency risk

The carrying amounts of the Group’s monetary assets and
monetary liabilities denominated in foreign currencies,
i.e. currencies other than the functional currency of the
respective group entities, which are mainly bank balances
and cash, bank and other borrowings and senior notes, at

%) HBRME(E - the end of the reporting period are as follows:
—E-EF —E-NF
2020 2019
FBT FHT
HK$000 HK$000
(E31))
(Restated)
EE Assets
ETHARKE US$ against RMB 57,750 73,460
ETLHABT US$ against HK$ 1,011 2,659
BILHARE HK$ against RMB 1,463 9,110
AR AT RMB against HK$ 113,267 66,044
aE Liabilities
ETLHRBTT US$ against HK$ 5,535,664 5,545,404
AEH AR JPY against RMB 257,470 251,029

REEFE BT )BT IMNEE 2R
AR HIHINE R - REER
B AT A AINE IR A R
TN R o BT FE IR 6 RS
ZEEHINER R o

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

The Group manages its foreign currency risk by closely
monitoring the movements of foreign currency exchange
rates. The Group currently has not entered into any foreign
currency forward contracts to hedge against foreign
currency risk. Management will consider hedging foreign
currency exposure should the need arise.
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(b)

BREBEEBEREE (&)

S ERE ()
SRR E DT

TREIAEEHREEEEOE
BINEEE I H IR TIIINE £
RT#%5% (ZZF—NF :5%)
RBRRE - 5% (ZF— H4F -
5%) BBRER - BEEEEIN

£ RENITE B ARRE
HASNE SEMMERIRR @ I
RERIBINEERE% (ZF— N
F5%) B LRHBEEN - A
METEBITHE - R GURE
DM EHE—KEE (ABTTIE
REDEEE) UETAREMD
iR - MEE BRI
HEAREINE ET5% (ZF—h
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AL 5 B AR AR RETh
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis

The following table details the Group’s sensitivity to a 5%
(2019: 5%) increase and decrease in the relevant functional
currencies of the group entities, against the following
foreign currencies. 5% (2019: 5%) is the sensitivity rate
which represents management’s assessment of the possible
change in foreign currency rates. The sensitivity analysis
includes only outstanding monetary items denominated in
foreign currencies and adjusts their translation at the year
end for the 5% (2019: 5%) change in foreign currency
rates. The sensitivity analysis excludes balances which are
denominated in US$ for an entity with HK$ as its functional
currency since US$ is pegged to HK$. A positive number
indicates an increase in pre-tax profit for the year when
the relevant functional currencies of the group entities
strengthen by 5% (2019: 5%) against the relevant foreign
currencies. For a 5% (2019: 5%) weakening of the relevant
functional currencies of the group entities against the
relevant foreign currencies, there would be an equal but
opposite impact on the pre-tax profit for the year and the
balances below would be negative.

i s

2020 2019

FHER FET

HK$’ 000 HK$' 000

(&31))

(Restated)
Ex (VESES

F AL AT Pre-tax profit for the year 2,888 3,673
BT HK$

T AL AT Pre-tax profit for the year 73 456
A JPY

T AL AT Pre-tax profit for the year (12,874) (12,551)
AR RMB

F AL AT Pre-tax profit for the year 5,663 3,302

EERRERBERAF

—E-TEEH
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42. €RT H (&)

(b) HBEBREEBEREE(Z) (b)

S ERE ()
INEBHIRRZ DT (4B

ERERS  AREFREEN
BRI RER 2 F AR - F
GURE DT T 8L R BB B SNE
[

FIE

AEBEWIRITABRREEPRT
GR(EREBRNFIEE2HN
26 K25) S EREW ENE
ENEIRIE - AP EERA A
HRERRITREMES (B@EZ
EERENFBERZL2EMFE2TR
30) AX BTSN EEEN
REeERENERR - EEERFE
ERFEREFRLNTEERFE
B — SRR RER o

AEBETEREHERRITRE
fofE & - U ] AR A B R
T MR R B A B RUR R B
FRE (A IEFE2MME23
K31) MR FEFERR - TR
EeEnRN=aR -

HRESMERN G BRITH
#% o BtfER  AEMRTE
HoEe S ERAEREK
B AP REERA B REAR
RITREMEENFXER - 5
IR NS I E RZER
EEESRNEFNHRER -
PR 102k 50 {8 5 2 19 42 H0 2R
Lo RREBEYHFENEER
BEE B EHAORT(S -
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Foreign currency risk (Continued)
Foreign currency sensitivity analysis (Continued)

In management’s opinion, the sensitivity analysis is
unrepresentative of the inherent foreign exchange risk as
the year end exposure does not reflect the exposure during
the year.

Interest rate risk

The Group is exposed to cash flow interest rate risk in
relation to prevailing market interest rates on bank balances
and pledged bank deposits (see notes 26 and 25 for details
of these balances) and floating-rate amounts due from/
to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate holding
companies and bank and other borrowings (see notes
27 and 30 for details of these borrowings). Management
continuously monitors interest rate fluctuation and will
consider further hedging interest rate risk should the need
arise.

The Group is also exposed to fair value interest rate risk in
relation to fixed-rate bank and other borrowings, amounts
due from intermediate holding companies, amounts due
from fellow subsidiaries and senior notes (see notes 23 and
31 for details). Management continuously monitors interest
rate exposure.

Interest rate sensitivity analysis

The sensitivity analysis has been determined based on
the exposure to interest rates for interest-bearing bank
balances, other deposits, pledged bank deposits, amounts
due from/to joint ventures, amounts due to intermediate
holding companies and bank and other borrowings.
The analysis is prepared assuming that those balances
outstanding at the end of each reporting period were
outstanding for the whole year. A 10 or 50 basis points
increase or decrease which represents management’s
assessment of the reasonably possible change in interest
rates is used.
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(b)

(&)
MERREEEBREE ()

FIE RSz ()
FIEGRES T (E)
W2 BRHEMBITAS - i
G EERBBITERRER
EREE A RZIENFE LR
TEI0EESEMBEMBES
HEBETE  ABE-_T_ZF
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)
Interest rate sensitivity analysis (Continued)

If the interest rate on bank balances, other deposits,
pledged bank deposits and amounts due from/to joint
ventures carried at variable rates had been 10 basis points
higher/lower and all other variables were held constant,
the pre-tax profit for the year ended 31st December,
2020 would increase/decrease by HK$13,186,000 (2019:
HK$12,990,000).
and other borrowings and amounts due to intermediate

If the interest rate on floating-rate bank

holding companies had been 50 basis points higher/lower
and all other variables were held constant, the pre-tax profit
for the year ended 31st December, 2020 would decrease/
increase by HK$23,724,000 (2019: HK$35,111,000). This
is mainly attributable to the Group’s exposure to interest
rates benchmarked to HIBOR on its floating-rate bank and
other borrowings and amounts due to intermediate holding
companies.

The Group’s exposure to cash flow interest rate risk is
mainly concentrated on the fluctuation of the HIBOR and the
People’s Bank of China Base Rate.

Credit risk

The Group's maximum exposure to credit risk in the event
of the counterparties’ failure to perform their obligations
in relation to each class of recognised financial assets
is the carrying amount of those assets as stated in the
consolidated statement of financial position. In order to
minimise the credit risk, the Group has policies in place for
determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other
monitoring procedures to ensure that follow-up action is
taken to recover overdue debts.

Before accepting any new customer, the Group carries
out searches on the creditability of the new customer and
assesses the potential customer’s credit quality and defines
credit limits by customer. Limits attributed to customers are
reviewed once a year.

ERRRERERAT —ZF-ZFFR
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(b) BBEBEEEEREE(Z) (b)
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

In addition, the Group reviews the recoverability of each
individual trade debt on a regular basis to ensure that
adequate impairment losses are made for irrecoverable
amounts. In this regard, the Group considers that the credit
risk is significantly reduced.

The credit risk on bank deposits is limited because the
counterparties are financial institutions with high credit
standing.

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2020

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31st December, 2020.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.



HE_Z-_ZF+_A=1+—HILEFE

42. €T A (&)

EEERE (&)
R-FE-_FF+-—_A=+—HE
BE i 5% KB 8 R F K B B > 48

R BB IRRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)
(b) HBEAREEAERBEK(Z) (b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2020 (Continued)

(%)
12{8RBH
EEEE 2HRNEERR
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
Ba1 Kg2 K83 143 @t
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
Tan TR TiEn TER AR
HK$’000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000
ERAERRFE Amounts due from joint ventures 383,409 - - - 383,409
[ NG Amounts due from associates 125,931 - - - 125,931
U RRR R Amounts due from non-controlling
shareholders 88,324 - - - 88,324
ERRZRBARRE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 2,519,914 - - - 2,519,914
BHESE Trade receivables* - - - 5,251,785 5,251,785
i el Other receivables™ 738,221 - - - 738,221
BEMRAIER Pledged bank deposits 12,193 - - - 12,193
BEBRERS Bank balances and cash 13,442,206 - - - 13,442,206
17,310,198 - - 5,251,785 22,561,983

* RAEBEHEABAELRE
MEKZEZERME @ BE%K
R M B AL R BRI
R MIEE23 o

> BERARMEEROSRAE
Ao BEEHBETERE
ENFERRE VT HEIEH
RBEREN  BEEEEER
BRIER]-

For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified

approach for impairment, information based on the provision

matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.

The credit quality of the financial assets included in other

receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the

financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since

initial recognition.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

BREBEEBEREE (&)

EEERE (&)
R-FE—NFF+-_A=+—HE
BE i 5% KB 8 R F K B B > 48
(E31)

TREFNER-_Z-NF+=A
=t BRAKEEERR (X2
ENBEBMEN  BRIFEME
HAfs - BRANEIUERAK
HB ) A RERERDEIIR
MEREEZREEBRNRAERR
o R2FINESRAESREERN
#ERHE -

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

Maximum exposure and year-end staging as at 31st
December, 2019 (Restated)

The table below shows the credit quality and the maximum
exposure to credit risk based on the Group’s credit policy,
which is mainly based on past due information unless other
information is available without undue cost or effort, and
year-end staging classification as at 31st December, 2019.
The amounts presented are gross carrying amounts for
financial assets.

12(EAEH
EEFE L HRBEERS
12-month ECLs Lifetime ECLs
B&1 v L E it &%
Simplified
Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 approach Total
AL TAR TAL TAL TAL
HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000
EREENTZE Amounts due from joint ventures 308,534 = = = 308,534
YN Amounts due from associates 78,861 = = = 78,861
U RIR R 5108 Amounts due from non-controling
shareholders 82,946 - - - 82,946
ERRAZRBARTE Amounts due from fellow
subsidiaries 2,023,154 - - - 2,023,154
EWE 5B Trade receivables” - - - 5,195,412 5,195,412
Aol Other receivables™ 812,305 - - - 812,305
BERRIER Pledged bank deposits 5,208 = - - 5,208
BB RAS Bank balances and cash 13,502,481 = = = 13,502,481
16,813,489 - - 5,195,412 22,008,901
* PAE B A LA ELRE * For trade receivables to which the Group applies the simplified
MEKRESERMS @ BE%R approach for impairment, information based on the provision
B A AR A R BRI matrix is disclosed in note 23 to the financial statements.
HERMEE23 o
> Bt AHEMERFNCREE **  The credit quality of the financial assets included in other

Aaf - BEEARBETERE
ENEERRE ML #REL
REXEN  AEERERK
BRIER]-
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receivables is considered to be “normal” when they are
not past due and there is no information indicating that the
financial assets had a significant increase in credit risk since

initial recognition.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(b)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk

In the management of liquidity risk, the Group monitors
and maintains a level of cash and cash equivalents
deemed adequate by management to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows. Management also monitors the utilisation of bank
borrowings and ensures compliance with loan covenants, if
any.

At 31st December, 2020, the Group had net current
liabilities of HK$8,381,292,000. Taking into account of the
unutilised banking facilities of HK$12,108,971,000 and
internally generated funds of the Group and the other
factors described in note 2, the Group has sufficient
working capital for its present requirements for the next
twelve months from 31st December, 2020.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Financial risk management objectives and policies
(Continued)

Liquidity risk (Continued)

The following table details the Group’s remaining
contractual maturity for its financial liabilities. The table
has been drawn up based on the undiscounted cash flows
of financial liabilities based on the earliest date on which
the Group can be required to pay. The table includes both
interest and principal cash flows.

REXS, BBR-58 AERES
MEFIHE FE-%  TEBIE BBLE REAR REE
Weighted ~ Ondemand  Over 1 year Total
average  or less than  but not more undiscounted Carrying
interest rate 1year than5years Over5years  cash flows amounts
% ThL TAL AL Tibn Tibn
% HK$'000 HK$'000 HK$' 000 HK$' 000 HK$'000
RZB-RE+-A=1-H At 31st December, 2020
ERESERRAERR Trade and other payables
=535 - interest-free - 9,032,048 - - 9,032,048 9,032,048
—iB - interest-bearing 1.40 308,710 - - 308,710 304,448
—iE - interest-bearing 0.74 2,520,127 - - 2,520,127 2,510,837
ROREMEE Bank and other borrowings 1.79 2,617,128 107,715 249,536 2,974,379 2,846,933
BEZE Senior notes 4.80 249,927 5,678,886 - 5,928,813 5,535,664
HEaE Lease liabilities 4.22 102,346 172,482 84,146 358,974 318,476
B RAEE Other long-term liabilities 3.95 20,750 55,954 223,401 300,105 283,171
14,851,036 6,015,037 557,083 21,423,156 20,831,577
RZB-NE+=A=t-H At 31st December, 2019
(E51) (Restated)
ENBAENREMERR Trade and other payables
-%8 - interest-free - 7,877,121 - - 7,877,121 7,877,121
—iE - interest-bearing 140 566,024 = = 566,024 558,209
-8 - interest-bearing 2.90 5,027,140 - = 5,027,140 5,027,140
BOREMEE Bank and other borrowings 2.80 2,091,514 99,770 254,920 2,446,204 2,316,608
BXEE Senior notes 480 251,063 5,955,771 - 6,206,834 5,545,404
HEER Lease liabilities 422 121,277 235,433 121,544 478,254 361,167
B RAEE Other long-term liabilities 395 25,337 53916 205,813 285,066 268,219
15,959,476 6,344,890 582277 22,886,643 21953868

T ELE DS EES
B R EFIR AR - B3
FTESRARNTETASEN
SHERD -

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020

The amounts included above for variable interest rate
instruments for non-derivative financial liabilities are subject
to change if changes in variable interest rates differ to those
estimates of interest rates determined at the end of the
reporting period.
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

This note provides information about how the Group
determines fair values of various financial assets and
financial liabilities.

Some of the Group’s assets are measured at fair value for
financial reporting purposes.

In estimating the fair value of an asset, the Group uses
market-observable data to the extent that it is available.
Where Level 1
establishes the appropriate valuation techniques and inputs

inputs are not available, the Group

to perform the valuation.

The Group uses valuation techniques that include inputs
that are not based on observable market data to estimate
the fair value of certain types of financial instruments. The
valuation techniques, inputs and key assumptions used in
the determination of the fair value of various assets and
liabilities are stated below.
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(c)
(Continued)

42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments

Fair value of the Group'’s financial assets that are measured

at fair value on a recurring basis

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured at fair

value at the end of each reporting period. The following

table gives information about how the fair values of these

financial assets are determined (in particular, the valuation

technique(s) and inputs used).

HEFERTE EATTEE TUREBAHE
SREE RTISIBBHATE ATEZR BB DN ¢4 BATENEE  HEE
Valuation Significant Relationship of
Fairvalue technique(sjand  unobservable unobservable
Financial assets Fair value as at hierarchy  key input(s) input(s) inputs to fair value ~Sensitivity
ZBoEf “TNE
2020 2019
(E3)
(Restated)
RERATESAA  LoRAR%-  LOREES- F=H() ERTHTREAE MR R NER
2ENGEHRARE 3,748,000 4,64 0007
Equity investments Listed equity Listed equity Level ()  Quoted bid pricesin  N/A N/A N/A
designated at fair securities - securities - an active market
value through other HKS$3,748,000 HK$4,264,000
comprehensive income
BERATEALL  FLaRARE-  FEORAEE- EZRG)  RERE AETHTRE. AR ATED GREEN/HH5%T
2EYENRARE 149,352,008 141,994,000 PS-HREP B BYATEEN/
B) £%EE/R 010,028 508%
MEMS - B T
ERBER
(EVIEBITA)RIEE
Equity investments Non-listed equity ~ Non-listed equity ~ Level 3 (iii) ~ Valuation multiples ~ Average P/E * PIS~  The higher the 5% increase/
designated at fair securities - securities - P/B ~ EV/EBITA multiples, the decrease in
value through other HK$149,352,000  HKS141,994,000 muttiples of peers  higher the fair multiples would
comprehensive income value result in increase/
decrease in
fair value by
HK$10,028,508
BN WgE - ATER /R s
g BANTERD/
113,229 4567 T
Discount for lack of - The higher the 5% increase/
marketability discount, the decrease in
lower the fair discount would
value result in decrease/
increase in
fair value by
HK$3,229,456
BAVESARGEENE ERESRN-  EUESER- FoR0)  EXUERBAEE  TER NER TR
HERRE 107,516,000 42,630,000/
Debt investments at fair ~ Trade receivables - Trade receivables - Level 2 (i) Significant N/A N/A N/A
value through other HK$107,516,000  HK$42,630,000 observation inputs

comprehensive income

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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42. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (CONTINUED)

(c)

Fair value measurements of financial instruments
(Continued)

Fair value of the Group’s financial assets that are measured
at fair value on a recurring basis (Continued)

Fair value measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2, or
3 based on the degree to which the inputs to the fair value
measurements are observable and the significance of the
inputs to the fair value measurement in its entirety, which
are described as follows:

(i) Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

(i) Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the

asset or liability, either directly or indirectly;

(iii) Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

There were no transfers among Level 1, 2 and 3 in the

current and prior years.

The directors of the Company consider that the carrying
amounts of other financial assets and financial liabilities
(except for senior notes as disclosed in note 31) recorded
at amortised cost in the consolidated financial statements
approximate to their fair values.

The fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
have been determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on the discounted cash
flow analysis.
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BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

44, 72 B 1 B ISR 3R 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF

THE COMPANY

—EB-EF —T-NF —ZT-NF
+=B=+—-H +=ZA=1+—H —H—H
31st December, 31st December, 1st January,
2020 2019 2019
FHExT FHT THT
HK$’ 000 HK$ 000 HK$ 000
IEmENE E Non-current assets
L/E S Property, plant and
equipment 667 826 986
MR RAIIE ETIRE Unlisted investments in
subsidiaries 13,850,031 13,850,031 183,850,031
JiE Uk B BB A R 3R IE Amounts due from
subsidiaries 10,953,197 11,801,474 11,955,425
FREEE Right-of-use assets 7,247 3,247 =
24,811,142 25,655,578 25,806,442
MENEE Current assets
o IR Other receivables 1,987,430 244,914 215,994
FEUSH B A Rl FRIE Amounts due from
subsidiaries 1,162,510 2,126,962 602,976
RITHEBRRIA S Bank balances and cash 411,017 250,442 142,739
3,560,957 2,622,318 961,709
mEEE Current liabilities
HEMENRRESER Other payables and
accrued charges 362,400 351,653 297,426
FERTH B A A5k Amounts due to
subsidiaries 333,552 385,674 387,788
i8R RHIR B E R Loan from a subsidiary 576,348 1,182,934 934,269
& AR AR A R SR IE Amounts due to an
intermediate holding
company 2,510,837 5,027,087 3,501,781
HEBE Lease liabilities 4,237 3,305 =
RITEE Bank borrowings 2,230,000 2,020,000 2,610,000
6,017,374 8,970,653 7,731,264
B EFE Net current liabilities (2,456,417) (6,348,335) (6,769,555)
22,354,725 19,307,243 19,036,887
BN R Capital and reserves
%N Share capital 231,401 222,401 222,401
i Reserves 16,584,370 13,539,438 12,990,978
16,815,771 13,761,839 13,213,379
ERBAE Non-current liabilities
BAERE Senior notes 5,535,664 5,545,404 5,823,508
HEBE Lease liabilities 3,290 = =
5,538,954 5,545,404 5,823,508
22,354,725 19,307,243 19,036,887
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44. XA TN BMRR TR (&) 44. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF
THE COMPANY (CONTINUED)
AARRERE : Movements in the Company’s reserves:
ARBE
RGEE BABB  HEZRH ERRE REEH A
Shares
held for
incentive
Share  Contributed award  Translation Retained
premium surplus scheme reserve profits Total
R-Z-h&-A-R At 1st January, 2019 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 81,847 12,990,978
FREHRZERGES Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 2,225,694 2,225,694
RANE) Dividends paid = = = - (1,677,234)  (1,677,234)
R-Z-nE+-A=+—H At31st December, 2019 6,378,643 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 630,307 13,539,438
FREHRZARGES Profit and total comprehensive
income for the year - - - - 1,358,334 1,358,334
HRET Rights issue 3,659,945 - - - - 3,659,945
BERRE Dividends paid = = = - (1,973347)  (1,973,347)
WZZ-FF+-A=+—H At 31st December, 2020 10,038,588 7,388,600 (166,250) (691,862) 15,294 16,584,370
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BE_ZE-_ZFE+_-_A=+—HILFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. TENMBE QAT EHR 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
FEMB LR —RER General information of principal subsidiaries
RIBEER - XEBEEZHBE QRN Details of the Group’s principal subsidiaries at the end of the
BRETAT o reporting period are set out below.
BRTREZREK/
EMAL R TEMEX AEBEGRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
ARERE incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEEK
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—g-8F “TAF
2020 2019
% %
(23))
(Restated)
ERMRERAA RBRIEE ERR4ET 100 100 #®EER
China Resources Gas Limited  British Virgin Islands Ordinary US$4 Investment holding
AEI China Gas Limited HeHS LiBik1,000ET 100 100 REER
Cayman Islands Ordinary US$1,000 Investment holding
REBERRRAERAR HE AR 785,000,000 66.43 3745 HWERICAREBBRREE
PRC RMB785,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
RIEERRAERAA" HE AR #129,068,8007T 51 51 WERCERESREESD
PRC RMB129,068,800 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
HRERRRERAR HE ARH50,000,0007C 80.4 804 HERCAREBGRESE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
FMEEREARAA HE 15,000,000% 75 70 70 HERCAREEAREE
PRC US$15,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EREBRRARAR HE 16,000,000% 7T 50 50 HERCERESRRES
PRC US$16,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. TEMB AT ER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FTEMBLATN—RER () General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBEREK,/
EMAL BRI HEMER EEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TRER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“EIEF _ZNF
2020 2019
% %
(&E71)
(Restated)
EEEBNRARAR’ HE 4,000,000% 7T 100 100 HEREEREEGATE
PRC US$4,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
ELERRRARAR hE 11,000,000% T 57.11 5711 HERCARESREER
PRC US$11,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
AREBRRERAF hE AR 94,000,0007 75 75 HERAREEBREE
PRC RMB94,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
GREBREARAR HE AR ¥50,000,0007C 75 75 HERCAREERRER
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
ELEERRARAF HE AR ¥70,000,00070 71.43 7143 HERCAREEGREE
PRC RMB70,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
HERERRRERAR? HE AR¥10,000,00070 100 100 WHERELEIERBRES
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR

251



252

e B RRMEE

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z_ZF+_A=1+—HILEFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. TENMBE QR EHR (F&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBERK,/
ER AR L HEMER AEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“EIERFE _ZNF
2020 2019
% %
(E7)
(Restated)
BIEBRRAERAR? HE AR #10,000,0007T 100 100 HEREEREEGATE
PRC RMB10,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
REEBREARRA FE AR¥51,300,0007T 51 51 HERICERERBRES
PRC RMB51,300,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
MREERRERAR? HE 7,788,900% T 100 100 WHERELEREEGRESD
PRC US$7,788,900 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
REERRAERAF HE AR 29,890,600 51 51 WHERILAREBHRESE
PRC RMB29,890,600 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BMNEBRRERAR HE AR #80,000,0007 70 70 HERCAREERRER
PRC RMB80,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
AHEBRRERAR HE AR#5,000,0007 100 100 HERCARERHRER
PRC RMB5,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED
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BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. TEMB AT ER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
TEMBLARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBEREK,/
EMAL BRI HEMER EEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TRER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“EIEF _ZNF
2020 2019
°/° %
(E7)
(Restated)
ERMMEEERREB AR hE ARH50,000,0007C 51 100 HEREEREEGALE
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
ENERRRAERAR hE AE#950,000,0007C 80 80 HERICERERBRES
PRC RMB950,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EREEREARAF FE AR #665,700,0007T 70 70 HERCAREERREE
PRC RMB665,700,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EHERRRARAR HE 29,980,000% 7T 50 50 WHERILRREBHRESE
PRC US$29,980,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
EEEERRARAF HE AR5286,582,858 T 51 51 WHERILRREBHRESR
PRC RMB286,582,858 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
IMEBRRARAF HE AR ¥50,000,00070 95.95 95.95 HERICARERBRES
PRC RMB50,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines

ERMAERERAT —T-TFFH 253



254

RE IS IRRMEE
Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BEZ-_TF+_A=1+—HILEE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. T ERBATIER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)

TEMBLARN—RER (&) General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

BERTREBERK,/
EMAL BRI HEMER rEEELRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
—BCBE “TNHF
2020 2019
°/° %
(&E7)
(Restated)
REEERRARAF HE ARH55,000,0007C 70 70 HERCARREBRRESE
PRC RMB55,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
RAERRRARAR hE AE#300,190,0007T 55 55 HERICERERBRES
PRC RMB300,190,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BHEERE (R BRAA? S AR #300,000,0007T 50 50 HERCERERRRES
PRC RMB300,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
ZEEBRRERLR HE AR258,686,1007 65 65 WHERILAREBHRESE
PRC RMB258,686,100 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
SEAEEIRRERRR HE AR252,000,0007 65 65 WHERILAREBHRESR
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
HIEBRRRARAR HE AR150,000,0007 51 51 WHERCRRERBRES
PRC RMB 150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED

Annual Report 2020
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45. TEMB AT ER (&) 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)
FTEMBLATN—RER () General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)
BERTREBEREK,/
EMAL BRI HEMER EEEESRE
Place of Issued and Attributable
AR BB incorporation/ fully paid share/ equity interest TRER
Name of company establishment registered capital of the Group Principal activities
“EIEF _ZNF
2020 2019
% %
(E7)
(Restated)
EEERRRARAR HE 6,250,000% 7 29 80 HERICERESBREESD
PRC US$6,250,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
REERHRRARARS hE AR#31,015,4007T 51.91 65.91 HERCAREZEEER
PRC RMB31,015,400 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
BEEEREARAA hE AR150,000,0007 49 - WHERILEREBHEES
PRC RMB150,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines
RILEBRRARAR2 HE AR252,000,0007 55 - WERLRREBHRESE
PRC RMB252,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas
and connection of gas
pipelines

EEMFRERBRAT —E-ZFFR
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BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. T EMB A RIEFR (& 45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

TENBARN-—RER (&)

! ZERAEFBRARIEERENTY

2 MR AREE AR E50% A EHIEE A
B HAKERBEREEZWEA
AIHIAAREEE) - It - RARRES
AEERHBRF

¢ ZERRETBENINEBEDENTY

‘ BN EREBRINESHT S8
BRER R B A E LM E A R AL
B RERBEEBMENRE B
AEBEREBRABREBA KBRS
MENERERE  WAKEE®EE
BZMBARMARMEE - Bt - %
RANRIMEAEERHB AR

° ZERRAR_ZE_ZFRHHET—
BBUFE=TT °

BREERRERARAARFEEE
a5 ERMERTERBARY
BMARBMERFA - L BAEEMK
g avai T S

RZEZTEFR-_T-—NF+=-A=
+—BHEREAER - ZSHBAR
BT AREEES -

ARBEZERR - LRMIIOAEER
MERAREAEENEEREESRR
BEEARFE - ARAESZRS &
FIEAMKE R RNFBHSRRESB
It e

(CONTINUED)

General information of principal subsidiaries (Continued)

L These companies were established in the PRC in the form of Sino-
foreign equity joint venture enterprise.

2 The Group has existing rights that give it the current ability to
direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary as the Group is able
to nominate over 50% of the board of directors. Accordingly, the
company is regarded a subsidiary of the Group.

s These companies were established in the PRC in the form of wholly-
foreign-owned enterprises.

4 The Group has rights to direct the relevant activities of the subsidiary
as the Group signed a memorandum in which the other shareholder
would agree with the Group’s decisions on operating, investment
and financing activities of the subsidiary, and the other shareholder
would agree the appointment of the entire senior management
nominated by the Group. Accordingly, the company is accounted for
as a subsidiary of the Group.

5 These companies were partly disposed to an independent third
party in 2020.

Except for China Resources Gas Limited which is directly held by
the Company, all the above principal subsidiaries are indirectly
held by the Company and operate principally in their places of
incorporation/establishment.

None of the subsidiaries had any debt securities outstanding at
31st December, 2020 and 2019 or at any time during the year.

The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, in the
opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details of
other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors of the
Company, result in particulars of excessive length.

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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BHE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES
(CONTINUED)

Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material

T EEE non-controlling interests
TRINTEBEEREZERERHARE The table below shows details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries
EIF2EM B ARE - of the Group that have material non-controlling interests:
HEMAEIRE
EEXNE
Place of FERERFEREEERLD IRFEERERNET R FERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
AR ERB and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
ZBC®f  “TNF  CZBIBE  “T-NF  CZBIEE  —TNF
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
% % TER TEL TER TET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&71) (&51) (&Z31))
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
REEERREERAA H 33.57 62.55 10,896 30,224 277,068 465,432
PRC
HNERRRAERAR H 30 30 36,552 35,519 113,149 133,671
PRC
EHEBRAERAT H 50 50 26,228 23,157 153,080 150,751
PRC
EGHEBRRAERLA H 28.57 28.57 17,236 23,654 117,037 110,160
PRC
REEBERRERDA H 49 49 33,253 67,030 320,095 212,074
PRC
MREBRABRATF H 30 30 26,238 22,498 370,876 334,211
PRC
EHERRRERAR i 50 50 228,551 220,185 1,478,391 1,381,587
PRC
ELEBRRERAA H 42.89 42.89 33,504 38,202 186,461 172,356
PRC
RAEBRRERDA H 45 45 9,362 18,145 187,232 178,566
PRC

EEMRAERBERAFA —B-ZTFFH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_T_FTFE+_A=+—HLFE

45. TEMBLREHR (F)

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

45. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES

(CONTINUED)
BEERERERNIEZEMREL Details of non-wholly-owned subsidiaries that have material
RIS (&) non-controlling interests (Continued)
HEMRIRE
EERME
Place of FEREGFEREEERLE IRFFEREZNET R FERER
incorporation Proportion of ownership Profit allocated Accumulated
AR BB and principal interests held by to non-controlling non-controlling
Name of company place of business non-controlling interests interests interests
B2 —T-NF BB —T-NF ZBIBE I NF
2020 2019 2020 2019 2020 2019
% % TERT TET TER TET
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000
(&%) (&51) (E31))
(Restated) (Restated) (Restated)
REZERE (E)BRAR  HE 50 50 18,462 13,734 218,838 196,479
PRC
BMERRAERAR H 20 20 233,226 222,987 1,040,135 1,180,608
PRC
ZHEBRAER HE 35 35 31,644 36,264 351,360 297,844
PRC
SEAEERRER i 35 35 4,038 1,307 147,476 134,912
PRC
EEERERAER HE 49 49 34,524 61,761 332,816 408,370
PRC
HIZEHREARAR H 49 49 136,196 166,011 720,411 590,415
PRC
HEEBEMEER HE 51 - 31,338 - 296,982 -
PRC
RILEBRREBR AR M 45 - 107,582 = 318,616 =
PRC
BER JERRE R R
EXMBAA
Individually immaterial 3,964,049 3,079,342
subsidiaries with non-
controlling interests
10,594,072 9,026,778

CHINA RESOURCES GAS GROUP LIMITED Annual Report 2020
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

HE_Z_TF+_A=+—RHILFE

For the year ended 31st December, 2020

46. TESE N FER 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES
REBELRE
RO 2 Attributable
NEER Place of aMER equity interest TEER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZBIEE —TNF
2020 2019
% %
(231)
(Restated)
BREHEERREBR DR HE AER#2 800,000,0007C 49 - HERELEREEBRER
PRC RMB2,800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BEMNEBEERRERAF el AR117,939,5007T 40 40 HERCRIERBREE
PRC RMB117,939,500 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERAERERRRERAR & AR717,578,6007T 49 49 HERCRREBRBRESR
PRC RMB717,578,600 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
HEERRRBRAA e AR#194,541,0007T 51 51 HERCRRERGRESR
PRC RMB194,541,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
EMERRRERAR FE AR%1,000,000,0007 49 49 HERCRLERBREE
PRC RMB1,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BILEFRTRRERAR & AE#148,000,0007T 50 50 SHERCARERBRES
PRC RMB148,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
mIEREBRAROERAT  FE AR#122,423,3727C 50 50 SHERICRREBRGRESR
PRC RMB122,423,372 Sale of liquefied gas and

EERRERBERAF

connection of gas
pipelines

—E-TEEH
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

46. TEGE N TRER (&) 46. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL JOINT
VENTURES (CONTINUED)
REEESLRE
BR L 2 Attributable
NEER Place of HMER equity interest TBRER
Name of company establishment Registered capital of the Group Principal activities
ZBIEE —TNF
2020 2019
% %
(&51)
(Restated)
HETMREREERRAF I AR#100,000,0007T 49 49 HERICREERBREE
PRC RMB100,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
BHEBRRARAF FE AEK488,376,0007T 49 49 HERCRIERBREE
PRC RMB488,376,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
ERERREARR I AR5,000,000,0007T 49 49 HERCRREBGRESR
PRC RMB5,000,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas
pipelines
& ZRARN_E_TFHRKL ° * The company was newly set up in 2020.
HREEESRAREEERER R The Group is able to exercise joint control over these companies
SENTIN—HAE  HANEBE R Y of which the decisions about the relevant activities require
ZENTITE LR IEEIRE o B - 3% the unanimous consent of the Group and the joint ventures.
ZNRWEARERBNESL AT © Accordingly, these companies are regarded as joint ventures of
the Group.
RATEERE  ERAVOEKER The above table lists the joint ventures of the Group which, in the
SEENTERNEBRFANEEBEEAKX opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected the
EEYERNAEBREEEEEAD results of the year or form a substantial portion of the net assets
Do NAREETRE  HIHMWES of the Group. To give details of other joint ventures would, in the
RAMFBRLSAREBNITK © opinion of the directors of the Company, result in particulars of

excessive length.
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements

BHE_Z-_ZF+_A=+—HLFE For the year ended 31st December, 2020

47. T EHE N RIER 47. PARTICULARS OF PRINCIPAL ASSOCIATES
RENF/HEAR
BEORE TEEEERE
R Equity interest Attributable
CEL: Place of TMER held by the joint interest equity TEEER
Name of company  establishment Registered capital ~ ventures/subsidiaries of the Group Principal activities
ZBIRE “T-NE ZBZEE CTNF
2020 2019 2020 2019
% % % %
RBPMREERD T AR #800,000,0007C 32.40 3240 32.40 3240  HERIRRERBREE
BRAR" PRC RMB800,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
TREUREER el AE#95,590,0007C 27.00 27.00 23.77 2371 HERRR  REARARME
EARH PRC RMB95,590,000 TRRERERES

Sale of natural gas, LPG and gas
appliances and connection
of gas pipelines

EEMREERRA  PE AR1,556,000,0007C 22.49 22.49 22.49 249 HERCAREEEBREE
BRAR" PRC RMB1,556,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EHRLTRRER  F AR40,000,0007 49.00 49.00 2450 450 HERCAREEBREE
MEERARA PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
EETRERER A AR40,000,0007T 36.00 36.00 36.00 36.00 HERCERENBAEE
BERERERAR  PRC RMB40,000,000 Sale of liquefied gas and
connection of gas pipelines
IRARREE il AR 30,000,007 49.00 49.00 49.00 4900 WERARRERBAEE
BRAR PRC RMB30,000,000 Sale of natural gas and

connection of gas pipelines

* ZERRZBRNELBESFR ST L * These companies have listed their shares on the Shanghai Stock
e Exchange.

RAREERA  LRAIOAER The above table lists the associates of the Group which, in the

BENAHARERNEENEERS opinion of the directors of the Company, principally affected

BEEARYE - KARFAIEERA & the results or assets and liabilities of the Group. To give details

Y| H Ath B = A R F IR L AR E B of other associates would, in the opinion of the directors of the

RITEK ° Company, result in particulars of excessive length.
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Financial Summary

- RESULTS
BE+-A=1t—BIEE
Year ended 31st December,
—T—RF T+t =N\ ZIT-hF ZEBE-EF
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
FET FHT FET FHT FExT
HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
(271) (271)
(Restated) (Restated)
WA REVENUE 32,916,149 39,837,597 52,288,103 56,976,290 55,864,169
F R F PROFIT FOR THE YEAR 4,437,808 4,910,867 5,861,417 6,499,743 6,711,888
FEfG ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
RABHERA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 3,289,399 3,653,994 4,450,101 5,043,477 5,151,292
R = NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 1,148,409 1,256,873 1,411,316 1,456,266 1,560,596
4,437,808 4,910,867 5,861,417 6,499,743 6,711,888
EERBE ASSETS AND LIABILITIES
+-A=+—H8
31st December,
—ERF —Z—+tF —Z-)N\F —ZT-NF ZBE-EF
2016 2017 2018 2019 2020
FET FHT FAHL FEx FExT
HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$’ 000 HK$' 000 HK$’ 000
(2%1) (251)
(Restated) (Restated)
AEMBE TOTAL ASSETS 59,675,118 68,763,804 74,903,377 81,824,020 93,870,809
BERE TOTAL LIABILITIES (35,970,325) (39,594,479) (42,853,810) (46,001,805) (47,002,450)
BA%E TOTAL EQUITY 23,704,793 29,169,325 32,049,567 35,822,215 46,868,359
FEAERRA - EQUITY ATTRIBUTABLE TO:
AARERA OWNERS OF THE COMPANY 17,768,243 21,992,648 24,081,120 26,795,437 36,274,287
RS NON-CONTROLLING INTERESTS 5,936,550 7,176,677 7,968,447 9,026,778 10,594,072
A aE TOTAL EQUITY 23,704,793 29,169,325 32,049,567 35,822,215 46,868,359
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Corporate Information

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

Executive Directors

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chief Executive Officer)
Mr. GE Bin (Vice Chairman)

Non-executive Directors

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. CHEN Ying

Mr. WANG Yan

Madam WAN Suet Fei

Mr. JING Shiging

Independent Non-executive Directors

Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YU Hon To, David
Mr. YANG Yuchuan
Mr. HU Xiaoyong

AUDIT AND RISK MANAGEMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. YU Hon To, David (Chairman)
Mr. WANG Yan

Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Madam WAN Suet Fei

Mr. YANG Yuchuan

REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WONG Tak Shing (Chairman)
Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. JING Shiging

Mr. HU Xiaoyong

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

Mr. YU Hon To, David

Mr. JING Shiging

Mr. YANG Yuchuan
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Corporate Information
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Victoria place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10
Bermuda
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FERDBFETE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited

The Belvedere Building
69 Pitts Bay Road
Pembroke HM08
Bermuda

BEERODBFETTE

PEWERBERAA
B8

EERNBHE183%
AT LNE41E

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

Mr. WANG Chuandong (Chairman)
Mr. CHEN Ying
Mr. WONG Tak Shing

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE COMMITTEE

Mr. SHI Baofeng (Chairman)
Mr. WONG Tak Shing
Mr. YANG Yuchuan

COMPANY SECRETARY
Mr. LO Chi Lik Peter

REGISTERED OFFICE

Victoria place, 5th Floor
31 Victoria Street
Hamilton HM10
Bermuda

PRINCIPAL PLACE OF BUSINESS

Room 1901-02

China Resources Building
26 Harbour Road
Wanchai

Hong Kong

LEGAL ADVISOR
Reed Smith Richards Butler

AUDITOR

Messrs. Ernst & Young

PRINCIPAL SHARE REGISTRAR AND
TRANSFER OFFICE

MUFG Fund Services (Bermuda) Limited
The Belvedere Building

69 Pitts Bay Road

Pembroke HMO08

Bermuda

HONG KONG BRANCH SHARE REGISTRAR AND

TRANSFER OFFICE

Tricor Secretaries Limited
Level 54, Hopewell Centre
183 Queen’s Road East
Hong Kong
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China Resources Gas Group Limited

BB EEE265 Room 1901-02, China Resources Building,
#FEFAE1901-02% 26 Harbour Road, Wanchai, Hong Kong.

&5 Telephone : 2593 8200
EE Facsimile : 2598 8228
44 Website : WWW.Crcgas.com

EH Email : investor-relations@crgas.com.hk




	Cover

	Corporate Profile
	Contents
	Chairman’s Statement
	Report from the Chief Executive Officer
	Financial & Operational Highlights
	Management Discussion and Analysis
	Biographical Details of Directors and Senior Management
	Corporate Governance Report
	Directors’ Report
	Independent Auditor’s Report
	Consolidated Statement of Profit or Loss and Other Comprehensive Income
	Consolidated Statement of Financial Position
	Consolidated Statement of Changes in Equity
	Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows
	Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements
	Financial Summary
	Corporate Information
	Back Cover




